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Chairman’s Statement

ERHES

i-CABLE is ready to embark on its new journey. We are
optimistic about our long-term growth prospects, at
the same time balancing that optimism against the
challenges we are facing with keen awareness.
BRRHECERIFE EHORE - RMERRES
RASASYLBREE  BEELBBEEEERE
M BURE 2 VS F T -

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman
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Dear Shareholders,

Since early 2020, the world has been, and continues to be, impacted by
the novel coronavirus pandemic (the “COVID-19") and its variants. Like
other media companies and telecommunications businesses in
general, we have experienced significant volatility in our marketplace
over the past 2 years; but we are navigating, and staying the course.
2021 was a year of profound change for i-CABLE Communications
Limited (the "Company” or "i-CABLE"), its subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities (collectively the “Group”) on several fronts. Having
recently assumed the role as chairman of the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) of the Company after serving as the vice-
chairman of the Board (the “Vice-chairman”) since September 2017, |
am excited to continue working closely with my fellow Board
members, our chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief
Executive Officer” or “CEQ"), Mr. Wong See Yuen, and our talented
management team. We are proud of the dedication of the entire
i-CABLE team as we continue to navigate the uncertainties of the
COVID-19 in the past year, while driving shareholder value through
effective cost-saving and proactive development. The results are
encouraging: we delivered an outstanding broadcast of the Olympic
Games Tokyo 2020 which brought viewership of our free-to-air
channel, Hong Kong Open TV (‘Hong Kong Open TV"), to new heights;
we recorded a growth in both the number of broadband subscribers
and advertising revenue as compared to that in 2020.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHES

As an integrated communications services provider commanding a
large and influential television viewer and communication service user
base in Hong Kong, the Group currently owns and operates a territory-
wide telecommunications network covering more than 2 million
households. i-CABLE will continue to invest and expand its core
network of fiber coverage to actively provide customers with the best
quality services and to explore new business opportunities. We will
work towards the goal of becoming one of the leading
telecommunications network operators in Hong Kong.

Although we are experiencing one of the most difficult operating
environments in our history, the Group sees opportunities for an
unprecedented transformation and is continuously taking proactive
steps to adapt our positioning. We are sparing no effort in improving
our businesses. Leveraging on the Group's well-established network
coverage and technological capabilities, the Group plans to extend its
fiber network connectivity to meet the surging demand in the market.

The Group continued to generate revenue from various collaborations
with China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited (“CMHK") under the
network development agreement entered into in December 2018.
Tapping on this strategic collaboration, together with our network
development expertise and execution capabilities, the Group remains
a valuable partner of CMHK.

The “Father of Advertising” David Ogilvy once noted: “If you always hire
people who are smaller than you are, we shall become a company of
dwarfs. If, on the other hand, you always hire people who are bigger
than you are, we shall become a company of giants.” At i-CABLE, our
goal is to build, develop, and retain a diverse talent pipeline while
fostering a culture where everyone feels seen, heard and empowered
to thrive. The Board focuses on putting in the Company’s efforts to
attract talents to cater for the development needs of the Group and to
maintain a workplace where all employees feel welcomed and
supported.
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ERHES

Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu (“David”) stepped down from his role as
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) at the end of 2021. The impact
David made during his tenure as the Chairman at the Group was hard
to overstate. During his tenure as the Chairman, David had undertaken
aggressive cost reduction exercises to sustain the Group’s businesses
so that we can start anew today and take on new challenges. Some say
that traditional television is dying, falling victim to technology and
changing consumer habits. To continue surviving and to allow us to
grow, we must review our purpose and strategy. | believe success will
be a result not of reengineering the television business but of
reinventing it. This reinvention requires i-CABLE to adopt the culture
and mindset of a startup, which typically values passion, collaboration,
and constant innovation. As i-CABLE strives to be a company to
entertain, inform and inspire people, we also need to enhance our
storytelling capabilities and explore new ways of promoting our shared
narratives.

i-CABLE is ready to embark on its new journey. We are optimistic about
our long-term growth prospects, at the same time balancing that
optimism against the challenges we are facing with keen awareness.
On behalf of everyone at i-CABLE, | thank you for your continued
support and assure you that we are committed to challenging
ourselves to set new standard of excellence and to create value for
every shareholder of the Company, in all respects.

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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Business Review

R¥ERR

WHO WE ARE

The Group is an integrated communications services provider in Hong
Kong, commanding one of the largest and most influential television
audience and communications service user base in town.

It owns and operates one of the near-universal wireline
telecommunications network in Hong Kong to provide media and
telecommunications services to over 2 million households.

[t is also one of the producers of television and multimedia content for
distribution over conventional and new media based in Hong Kong,
with a particular focus on news and information, sports and
entertainment.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

The Group endeavours to sharpen its services to attain higher customer
satisfaction, which in turn drives business and revenue performance.
Specifically, the Group pursues the following:

(@)  toacquire, produce and distribute quality content meeting local
tastes and needs;

(b)  to invest in infrastructure, network and delivery platforms to
enhance service level and customer convenience;

() tounlock the value of our infrastructure as well as programming
assets for cross-platform and international distribution; and

(d)  to continuously better our processes and procedures to always
stay cost-effective.
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R¥ERR

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

2021 was a challenging year, the COVID-19 continued its spread across
the globe and has worsened the business environment. During this
challenging year, the Group pressed ahead to attain higher customer
satisfaction. The Group delivered an outstanding broadcast of the
Olympic Games Tokyo 2020 which brought the public awareness of
the media platforms of the Group and recorded a growth in both the
number of broadband customers and advertising revenue as
compared to that in 2020. The Group also continued to generate
revenue from various collaborations with CMHK during the financial
year under review. However, the Group's pay television (the “Pay TV")
business remained weak in light of the intensified competition among
various multimedia platforms.
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The Pay TV business landscape in Hong Kong has been crowded. In
addition to local competitors, the launch of subscription-based video
streaming service providers from around the world is redefining home
entertainment and inflicting stiffer than ever competition for fee-
paying customers. The rise of premium-based video sharing channels
on the Internet is also giving customers a legitimate alternative and
draining the Group's customer base.

With the reduction of exclusive content offered by the Pay TV, the
Group experienced a reduction in the audience size and average
revenue per user ("ARPU") of the Pay TV in year 2021. This also
unavoidably affected the advertising opportunities on that platform.
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Business Review

¥ E R

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media (Continued)

The Olympic Games Tokyo 2020 was postponed due to the worldwide
COVID-19 and took place in 2021 from 23 July 2021 to 8 August 2021.
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
announced in mid-May 2021 that it has purchased the broadcasting
rights to the Olympic Games Tokyo 2020 and allowed the Group to
broadcast the event to the audience. Significant programming
resources of the Group had been allocated and a team of dedicated
staff and contractors and invited professional sports commentators
and speakers had been deployed for the preparation of such major
sports event. Although it was the first time that the Group broadcast
the Olympic Games on its free television (“Free TV") channels, the
Group received positive comments from the audience. The Group also

introduced a series of ancillary programmes, including "Tokyo Olympiad”

(BRE8K[E), "Olympic Loving Sports 2021”
2020 Olympic Filler” (Fun 7>
2020.

(BRIBE - B85)and Tokyo
§8 18 22) before the Olympic Games Tokyo
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media (Continued)

During the Olympic Games Tokyo 2020, the Group strategically
rearranged the Free TV's fringe time and prime time programme line
up and provided live telecast on an average of 15 hours per day, while
5 Pay TV channels were designated as Olympic platforms and were
opened for free to audiences to ensure wider audience coverage. The
Pay TV channels carried full coverage of live matches and covered over
2,000 hours during the Olympic Games Tokyo 2020. Daily highlights of
the Olympic Games Tokyo 2020 were scheduled throughout the day
via both Free TV and Pay TV to provide viewers with the latest news
and medal statistics. The Group delivered round-the-clock coverage of
the events and successfully brought the audience’s interest to a fever
pitch.

O e O8  Ooun
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The Group has utilised all of its digital platforms, including the mobile
applications such as i-CABLE Mobile App, Hong Kong Open TV Mobile
App and i-CABLE News App, and rallied all of the Group's allocated
resources to produce quality programmes in order to bring and deliver
this important and world-focused event to the audience in Hong Kong.
Video-on-demand was also available on the Group's digital platforms,
almost 400 hours and 11 genres of the Olympic Games Tokyo 2020
were put to ensure this major sports event was brought to Hong Kong
audience. The enhanced and versatile network offers audience a
brand-new experience of enjoyment and convenience of multimedia
platform viewing, as well as meeting the change in audience viewing
habits.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media (Continued)

Furthermore, riding on the good relationship with shopping malls,
owners of commercial building and MTR Corporation Limited ("MTR"),
as well as the aim of provision of good quality programmes to support
Hong Kong athletes, over 7,000 outdoor screens such as those in
shopping malls, commercial buildings, Government sports centre, and
MTR In-train and MTR stations simulcasted or broadcast the Group's
programmes so that the Group's audience and other Hong Kong
citizens could watch the Olympic Games Tokyo 2020 while they were
not at home. The Group has been continuously utilising its resources
and creating synergies by delivering content on different platforms
and upgrading its customer experience on the new digital platform.
The digital platforms recorded significant increment in viewership. The
page views and users of i-cable.com had increased by 194% and 133%,
respectively. The page views and users of hkopentv.com had increased
by 282% and 286%, respectively. The screenviews of “i-CABLE News
App” and "“i-CABLE Mobile App” had increased by 94% and 404%,
respectively. The Olympic Games Tokyo 2020 had also brought the
Free TV's viewership to new heights. AlImost 7 rating points had been
recorded.

The Olympic Games Tokyo 2020 production was a great success, the
programmes were highly praised by the public. It represented the
Group's another milestone in bringing major sports events to Hong
Kong viewers and has developed a positive image to the Group's
viewers. The Group will continue to bring in high quality and
professional sports programmes to its audience.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media (Continued)
Programming

As an established and popular betting channel in the Pay TV market,
Channel 18 maintains enormous popularity in the horse-racing circle
due to its professional production and commentaries. Immense vibrant
programmes are produced to widen the customer base. The mobile
application “Racing GPS” (B GPS), which provides access to the racing
channel on the new media, professional racing information and
analysis, as well as the membership scheme with exclusive events and
online interaction, has been very popular in the horse-racing circle.

The COVID-19 continued to hit in 2021, travelogue programmes
production was substantially halted, Free TV channel, Hong Kong Open
TV (Channel 77) endeavoured to produce new variety programmes
within Hong Kong. Programme highlights include “Where Does She Go
"(EEIAEBE5E), “Parents Prop Guide” (E2FEEH1EE]), "Welcome to My
House" (£ AR ), “All About Breakfast” (B EEH) —LLE), “Say
Yes to the New Adventures” (B 8¢ Bt 1), “Be a Good Chef in 1 sec” (—
¥ EFA®), “Smooth Sailing” (BK )R 50), “"Happy Healthy Pets"(ZFit
Pet Petz®2 BIFT) as well as the Group’s new season signature
programme “Unbelievable” (R#4).
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media (Continued)
Programming (Continued)

On the sports front, the Group continued to deliver exclusive sports
events to viewers, such as Copa America 2021 (2021 MBI R &), FIFA
Club World Cup 2020 (20201t @ B ER & 7R), ISU World Figure Skating
Championships 2021 (20211 FIEEOE K EBIZER), EFL Championship
(FEIRES B E), Carabao Cup (FEI&EEEER), German Soccer
League (1280 FF 48 2 BRESER), AFF Suzuki Cup 2020 (SR 35 @ BREBIE
), FINA World Swimming Championships (1t 552 4055 ik SR IZ ),
Russian Premier League (ff Z& H7 8 4 B IKHEE ), FIVB Women's
Volleyball Nations League 2021 (20211 5 2z BEE§ ), Chinese Basketball
League (7R B0 3 EE TR 2R) as well as FIBA Competitions (FIBAEEEK
E§#Z). The Group was committed to producing and delivering local
sports competitions and news to audience, including “Loving Sports”
(E.885) which focuses on local sports and local athletes, and
"Interschool Sports STEM Challenge” (Z2fE 82 B & i A LL H) which
focuses on academic circle and collaborated with Volleyball Association
of Hong Kong, China (B HEERA®) for the broadcasting of Hong
Kong Volleyball League (B /&S BEERE ).

The Group also continued to pile up new contents to its customers. 16
new channels were launched in year 2021, including TechStorm, HITS,
HITS MOVIES, Eurosport, Travel Channel, France 24 English and France
24 French, DW English and Sky News. The Group aims to build a
sustainable gateway to its Pay TV subscribers by offering highly
recognised and award-winning news, creative local production
programmes, and a range of new international genres.

The Free TV channel, Hong Kong Open TV observed a recovery amid
severe impact from the COVID-19 in year 2021. It maintained revenue
growth with a demand of airtime sales from real estates and fast
moving consumer goods and Government categories.

The advertising revenue from digital and social media platforms also
recorded a growth in year 2021. With the newly revamped digital
platforms, continuous growth in revenue from digital and social media
platforms is one of the targets of the Group this year. The Group will
continue to offer more value-added services including integrated
marketing solutions, creative content sponsorship, product placement
and multi-platform media bundling in order to capture more business
opportunities and expand revenue sources in year 2022 and beyond.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media (Continued)
Programming (Continued)

As the exclusive commercial airtime sales distributor and content
provider for the MTR In-train TV, the Group continued to provide
various contents, including instant local and international news,
financial news, sports news, entertainment news and infotainment, to
passengers throughout the day. The Group continued to face business
challenges in year 2021 from the closures of cross borders at Lo Wu
and Lok Ma Chau which directly affected passenger flow from
Mainland China. Some of the Group’s customers adopted a
conservative approach in advertising spending on MTR In-train TV. The
bundled selling of MTR Mobile with MTR In-train TV continued to
generate new revenue stream from offline to online media platforms
with significant growth in year 2021.

The Group succeeded in reaching audience across multiple platforms
and markets. The number of downloads of “i-CABLE News App”
increased during the financial year under review while the Group
simultaneously extended its reach on social media. The Group has
always been dedicated to delivering the finest news, financial
information, sports news as well as lifestyle content. The Group created
two new social media channels " B &R 4 E " and " B AR R " that had
2 million video views in year 2021.

The Group has always set its sight on delivering first-hand news,
financial information, sports news as well as lifestyle content. In view of
this goal, the Group self-produced over 100 online videos with various
contents, including “Shopping with Pretty” (8 %037 &), "Patrick’s
Kitchen” GElI BRZ B F{EE), "Listen to the Doctor” (FEIT & A 58),
"Good Morning Principle” ({2 K!IR &), "Chit-Chat with Mum” (815
belibala), "King of Postnatal Care Helper” (55 A £ 24 A %), "HK
Special Career” (/&% T), “Talking Ethnicity HK” (F& &),
“Interviewing Venerable Sik Chang Lin" (4520 A 4 BB T AR 4%) and
"Calligraphy with Chua Lam” ( [8] SiBBEBWIEE L) in year
2021.

The Group had implemented several ways to achieve resource
optimisation throughout the year 2021, including reinforcing
collaboration with various strategic partners, enriching its content and
refining channel line-up to highlight its unique strength of genres. The
Group will continue to unlock greater synergistic value by introducing
premium content for multiple platforms, especially mobile application,
and expanding revenue streams in oversea markets.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Telecommunications

For the broadband services, the Group recorded an increase in
customer base as at 31 December 2021 as compared to that as at 31
December 2020. The growth was mainly attributable to the timely
adoption of effective sales and marketing strategies, recognition from
the market for the Group's quality of network services, as well as the
continuous network upgrade to high speed Gigabit-capable Passive
Optical Network ("GPON") services. Diverse service subscription
packages with new contents, combination and smart home solutions
were also launched to increase customer retention of broadband
services.

The Group currently owns and operates a territory-wide
telecommunications network which covers over two million
households in Hong Kong. In year 2021, the Group continued to
expand its core network of fibre coverage and increase core network
capacity to cater for both residential and commercial markets to drive
for business growth. The Group also invested in the network expansion
of GPON in order to provide fibre to the home (“FTTH") high-speed
internet services to more subscribers. The Group also started running
data centre connectivity business and developed commercial
broadband and provided enterprise solutions for its data centre
customers, which created a new source of income.

The Group continued to generate one of the major sources of revenue
through its strategic collaboration with CMHK spanning across different
areas, including network consultation and rollout, and mobile business.
With the Group’s network development expertise and execution
capabilities, the Group will remain to be a valuable partner of CMHK.

To strengthen the Group's competitiveness in the market, iMobile was
introduced as a new mobile service brand of the Group in December
2020. Strong initial demand was observed which uplifted the Group's
subscription revenue as part of its service bundles.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Group

The following principal risks and uncertainties are considered to be of
significance and have the potential to affect the Group’s businesses,
results of operations and financial conditions. However, they are non-
exhaustive as there may be other risks and uncertainties arising,
resulting from changes in the economy and other conditions over
time.

The media segment is experiencing intense competition in a crowded
marketplace with a super dominant operator and changing user
behavior. A wider range of contents is available on new platforms and
various mobile devices for users to select and view anytime and
anywhere. An abundant supply of contents intensified competition,
which further weakened the demand for our subscription content. At
the same time, competition is getting keener as a result of the fast
development of new media in the market. They combine to weaken
the Group's operating results. Nevertheless, the Group will enhance its
competitiveness which is one of the essential elements to keep in pace
with the media market. The Group will make prudent and necessary
investment in its programmes and infrastructure to strengthen our
competitiveness.

The telecommunications segment is faced with fast-changing
technology and customers are constantly demanding for better quality
and higher-speed Internet service. The Group's operations depend on
its ability to innovate and upgrade its services and the successful
deployment of new technologies. The Group will continue to enhance
its network and bring better quality service to the customers. The
enhancement would strengthen our competitiveness and bring in
revenue growth potential.

Recurrent losses have weakened the Group's financial position and
increased its dependency on external financing.

The Group is also exposed to certain financial risks which are set out in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R MERERWE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to
responding to the challenges of climate change by adopting
environmental protocols for its operations. The Group is also dedicated
to creating a favourable environment for its staff members; providing
resources to support their growth and development; as well as
promoting staff engagement in social undertakings and volunteer
work.

Reporting Scope

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report summarises
the efforts made and accomplishments of the Group in Corporate
Social Responsibilities (“CSR”) during the period from 1 January 2021 to
31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”) in accordance with the
“comply or explain” provisions of Appendix 27 Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). With in-depth
consideration on various areas such as source of income and scale of
businesses which reflects the significance of ESG impact, the ESG
working group reckoned that scope of this ESG report covers the
Group's key business operations in the provision of media and
telecommunications activities in Hong Kong. Details of the
establishment and duties of the ESG working group are set out in the
section headed "ESG Governance”.

Reporting Principles

The preparation of this report adheres to four reporting principles
below, in order to provide an unbiased picture of the Group's ESG
performance:

1. Materiality: Material ESG factors were being identified by the ESG
working group regularly during the Reporting Period through
annual stakeholder engagement. The final disclosures on ESG
issues have been reviewed and approved by the board (the
“Board") of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company.

2. Quantitative: The Group monitored various Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs") during the Reporting Period with comparison
of the measurable historical data. In this way, the effectiveness of
ESG policies and management system can be evaluated and
validated. For all standards and methods adopted for calculating
the KPIs (if applicable), please refer to the relevant sections in the
ESG Report.

3. Balance: The ESG report provides an unbiased picture of the ESG
performance of the Group.

4. Consistency: The Group adopted consistent methodologies in
the data calculation by comparing historical ESG data over time.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
ESG Governance

The Group is committed to fulfilling stakeholders” expectations on its
ESG practices. The Board has the overall responsibility for the Group's
ESG strategy and reporting and is responsible for ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal controls
systems are in place.

The Board assumes the full responsibility of the Group's sustainable
development and oversees key ESG issues, including formulating and
evaluating the risks and opportunities of the key ESG issues, reviewing
and ensuring the effectiveness of the relevant risk management and
internal control systems and endorsing the ESG report. The Group has
established an ESG working group, which reports to the management
of the Group and the Board, with representatives from different
functions, including the finance, human resources and administrative
departments of the Group, to collect the ESG data and facilitate the
ESG reporting process. The ESG working group monitors issues that are
material to the Group's operations, sets and reviews progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets, and schedules meetings in
updating new policies and mechanisms in improving the management
of the Group's strategic goals in sustainable development. In addition,
the ESG working group evaluates the impact, efficiency and
effectiveness of policies that are already in place, and takes remedial
actions if the ESG policies are not properly implemented. The
management executes the ESG strategies determined by the Board
and performs ongoing monitoring of the ESG-related risks. The Board
oversees the ESG strategies and goals and monitors the progress made
on the execution. As part of the Group's internal control systems, a
professional consultant has been engaged for ongoing assessment of
the internal control and risk management systems so as to identify any
deficiencies and provide recommendations for improvement
accordingly.

During the year 2021, the Group established several environmental
targets in order to drive further improvement on its sustainability
performance:

1. Replace all Euro IV diesel vehicles by year 2027;

2. Impose a policy of reducing paper usage in year 2022;

3. Reduce the consumption of diesel by 3% by year 2027 as
compared with that in year 2021; and

4. Maintain water consumption intensity at year 2021's level in year
2022.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Stakeholder Engagement

With the aim to align the Group's long term sustainability goals with its
current vision and mission, the Group recognises the importance of
integrating its stakeholders’ expectations and requests and of truly
understanding their concerns.

The Group actively engages its stakeholders and provide updates on its
recent developments through diverse engagement channels. The table

BN AR E @)
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REGRF B AEERBIBEEFNHENED
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AEEBRREBECNSEREZBERNE  XiR
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below highlights the Group's key stakeholders and its communication ¥ & R HB @RS ¢
channels:
Stakeholder Group Engagement Channels
FoEER SHERE
ployee - Internal emails and publications
= MBEBE I N kR

Meetings and briefings

G K W

Training and workshops

BRI R

Employee activities

=)

Performance appraisal

RETHE

NG

EERH

Client meetings

Corporate website

Investors and Shareholders + Annual general meeting and general meeting

REERKRR BRAFAGMERAE

Annual and interim report
FERF RS

Press release and announcements
FEREAS
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Stakeholder Engagement (Continued)
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BN AR E (@)
BEnESHE@

Stakeholder Group
BHEER

Engagement Channels

SHRE

Business meetings
ESVA

Site visits
Bt E R

Government and Regulators

BAREERE

Email, phone and written communications

T SEREELRE

Social Groups and Public
HEERBRRARAL

Email and phone communications
BEHNREFBR

Volunteer activities

HREEE

Sponsorships and donations

BB

Press release
FER
Public events

NV

Materiality Assessment

EEMRIE

Through the Group's established engagement channels, the Group has
identified relevant ESG issues and assessed their materiality to its

BECDEYMBERE  ARECBEMABNRE
HEREREE  UETEUEBEFNENER
o

businesses as well as to its stakeholders.

The materiality assessment process is set out as follows:

BEEMHEREFHEINNT

Identification of potential issues: Screening of initial reference
issues with reference to the ESG Guide, and peer benchmarking
ideas against suitable peer companies to pinpoint material ESG
issues performed.

Stakeholder evaluation: Internal and external stakeholders, who
possess significant dependency of influence on the Group, are
invited to rank the importance of each ESG issue via established
engagement channels and interviews.

Prioritisation: The results from issues identification and
stakeholder evaluation are combined to generate ESG materiality
ranking.

Validation: The ESG working group of the Group validates and
confirms the key material ESG issues, and how they link to the
respective Aspects (as defined in the Listing Rules) and KPIs of
the ESG Guide.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued) AR E &)
Materiality Assessment (Continued) BEMFTMG @

In accordance with the results from the stakeholder engagement  RERZFHELXRXMFEHMER  AEB D ENSHEE
exercises, the Group has placed greater emphasis on ESG issues @B  BEI1% %2 HEESIENMIRBERBHEBNR
relating to product responsibility, employee safety, supply chain &« @ REEZE - TR EUMAERBIE  1te
management and environmental protection. The table below REARBEPWEE LAY AEEMEBEEANIRE -
highlights the ESG issues which were determined to be material to the & M B A A WHETELLF  WIKBEYWE
Group covered and arranged them in order of their relative importance 2 E BN AHEEH REBH T e BREsE
to the business continuity of the business and their overall importance  ME#E7THESI

to the society in this ESG report:

Material ESG Issues Aspects in the ESG Guide
# | EARIR  HERELREE (RE - HERERMEES) S &S
1 . Service Commitment B6: Product Responsibility
PR 7% A EmEE
Intellectual Property Rights
FIBENE
Personal Data Policy
18 AERER
2 . Employee Health and Safety B2: Health and Safety
BTREHRZ S fRREEZ S
3 . Supply Chain Management B5: Supply Chain Management
HrEEER IR E 2
4 . Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions AT: Emissions
ZERMBRERBHM HERL
Waste Management
RERIE IR
5 . Energy Management A2: Use of Resources
BEIRE IR BIRER
Water Management
FKE R
6 . Environmental Impact Management A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
RIEPEEHE REFBARER
7 . Climate Change Impact Management A4: Climate Change
RES YRR R
8 . Labour Practices B1: Employment
BITER &%
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Materiality Assessment (Continued)

B AR & ()
EEMRTME @)

Material ESG Issues

Aspects in the ESG Guide

# | EARIR  HERELREE (RE - HERERWMEES) LS
9 Employee Development and Training B3: Development and Training
8 TR Mgl R NI
10 Prevention of Child and Forced Labour B4: Labour Standards
Br1bE T K45 T & T AR
11 Anti-corruption B7: Anti-Corruption
R&S R&3
Whistle Blowing
2R e )
12 Community Support B8: Community Investment
XFritm R HERE
Community Engagement
FE
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to develop its CSR work in line R * AEB BB 2B S RRBEUB RS

with its business plans and strategies. This will not be possible without

the Group's colleagues’ efforts and dedication in upholding CSR values.

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES
1.

Product Responsibility

The Group observes the codes and guidelines for television
programme service and telecommunications service licensees,
along with various legislations including:

Broadcasting Ordinance (Chapter 562 of the Laws of Hong
Kong);

Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 391 of the Laws of Hong Kong);
Telecommunications Ordinance (Chapter 106 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong); and

Competition Ordinance (Chapter 619 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

The Group also has established various internal guidelines or
codes of practices for different functions and divisions, and
provided different trainings for staff development.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

1.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Service Commitment

The Group was awarded I1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management
System certification & ISO 10002:2018 Quality Management —
Customer Satisfaction certification, covering after-sales services
and customer cases management, by SGS Hong Kong Limited in
March 2022 which continues to be well-maintained in 2024.

The Group places customer experience as its priority. A quality
management system in line with the requirements of the 1SO
standards is implemented to improve its hotline and customer
care services, and to uplift installation and maintenance
standards. The Group addresses customer complaints in a timely,
fair and unbiased manner. Customer views are regularly
collected and analysed through customer satisfaction surveys.
During the Reporting Period, 221 written complaints (2020: 160
written complaints) were received in relation to the television
services. The increase in complaints was mainly due to the
withdrawal of certain Pay TV channels and the problem with
Free TV channels tuning.

Engagement of provision of media and telecommunications
activities is not subject to any recall for safety and health reasons.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has the Corporate General IT Control Policies and
Procedures in place to manage, protect and monitor information
technology (“IT") systems and data. The use of unauthorised
software or copying of copyrights works is not allowed under
the Group's policy.

Personal Data Policy

The Group respects individuals’ legal rights to privacy, and strictly
abide by the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) in collecting, holding, processing and
using customers’ personal data. In addition to establishing
policies and operation guidelines, the Group issues periodic
reminders and deliver regular briefings to frontline staff to
remind them of the importance of protecting personal data.

The Group protects the confidentiality of its customer data by
implementing layers of security (IT controls) to prevent loss or
leakage of customer data. The Group's Corporate General IT
Control Policies and Procedures also ensure data security and IT
system user access control.

There was no incident of non-compliance with the
aforementioned laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

2.

Employee Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing and maintaining a healthy,
safe, and hygienic workplace for all employees and related
parties that are likely to be affected by its operations and
activities. The following four policies on health and safety have
been established and posted on the intranet:

1. The Safety Handbook & Company Policy which sets out
the requirements on work place safety;

2. Typhoon & Rainstorm Policy which sets out the working
arrangement under special weather;

3. Display Screen Equipment Assessment Policy which
provides safety guidelines for using equipment; and

4. Policy on Arrangement for Infectious Diseases Outbreak
which lays out guidance and measures in handling of
infectious diseases.

To enhance employees’ awareness of the importance of safe
working practices, the Group has adopted the following key
occupational health and safety measures:

Annual practice of mass fire drill in collaboration with the
Fire Department;

Periodic occupational safety and health training courses;
Demo video of physical exercise in department workplace
as reminder; and

Establishment of the Department Operational Guideline
on safety measures for working-at-height and lifting of
heavy tools and objects.

Any occurrence of incident would be timely reported to the
management and follow up actions will be taken. There was no
incident of non-compliance with the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
during the Reporting Period.
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Occupational Health and Safety Data BERERZZEIE
Year Fatality number | Fatalityrate™ | Injuryrate?® Lost days Lost days rate® | Absentee rate”
FE BIXTAH FTEM® IigthxE BLXEY BREgLER® gtk E®
2021 =EB=—fF - - 0.077 137 0.0005 0.0217
2020 —E-FF - - 0.0093 503 0.0016 0.0215
2019 =F—N%F - - 00126 658 00019 00279
Notes: Bt
(1) Fatality rate = Total fatality number/Total number of employees (1) TE= f@EI%tAﬁ/@%IAﬁ
©2) Injury rate = Total staff affected/Total number of employees @) TEHR=FEETHE HETAH

3) Lost days rate = Total number of lost days/Total days worked
(4) Absentee rate = Total number of absentee days/Total days worked

3)
@)

AXEH %?tb E-RAEAH BRI FAH
BB FE=BEAY AT EAE
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

3.

Supply Chain Management

The Group sources from trustworthy suppliers and contractors
for quality and sustainable products and services, under well-
defined procurement policy. The Group offers equal opportunity
to all potential business partners. Supplier selections and
procurement decisions would be made based on assessment
over certain criteria such as reputation, image, social and
environmental protection responsibilities of the suppliers, quality
and sustainable reliability of the products and services,
compliance with user requirements and/or specifications,
conformance to technical evaluation instituted by requisitioning
department, compatibility with/conformance to existing
operating systems, service level commitment etc. The Group
encourages suppliers and contractors to take green measures
and products that fulfill the 4Rs Rule: “Reduce, Recycle, Reuse
and Replace” in order to minimise environmental and social risks
along the supply chain. The Group also continues to monitor the
product and service quality of the suppliers to ensure the
suppliers’ compliance with the requirements of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
material environmental and social risks along the supply chain.

The Group sources from around the world with over 86% of
suppliers and contractors based in Hong Kong to reduce carbon
footprint in its supply chain, while supporting the local economy.
The number of suppliers from Hong Kong and other countries
during the year ended 31 December 2021 was 931 and 124,
respectively.

Emissions

The Group recognised the importance of maintaining good
environmental protection behavior across the Group by
integrating environmental considerations into the business
processes of the Group. The Board believes that the Group is
responsible for the protection of the environment and adheres
to create a sustainable future for the stakeholders as well as the
community in which the Group operates by the continuous
contributions from its experienced management and employees.
To this end, the Group focuses on three main areas which
include emissions', use of resources, and the environment and
natural resources.

"' The Group did not generate significant sewage discharge during the Reporting Period.

I B 5 B A 4 E A KB )T IK AL ©
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

4.

Emissions (Continued)
Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group works strategically and collaboratively to identify
solutions for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, reducing
waste production as well as reducing energy consumption by
identifying rooms for improvement. The Group strictly follows
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, there was no
incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions and waste
management that have a significant impact on the business
operations of the Group.

The Group promotes the minimisation of greenhouse gas
emissions generated by the Group and encourages the
environmental care in its working environment. The Group
continuously takes the following measures to reduce the air and
greenhouse gas emissions:

Fuel consumption

Reduce the number of vehicles and optimise vehicle
utilisation;

Phase out pre-euro IV diesel vehicles;

Regular maintenance to reduce carbon emission;

Get annual vehicle examination for vehicles to ensure
compliance with emission standards set by the
Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong;

Provide guidelines on good driving practice; and
Green driving workshops conducted for the Group's
drivers.

AR ¥
-'.-ll'i!i-i-

EARRE  HEgRERBE®

4.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
4. Emissions (Continued)

Air Emissions

NO, emissions REWEERE
SO, emissions AL E
PM emissions R HE =

EAXRE HEREAREE®@
4. BERum)

RN
2021 2020
S - 2’2 — T E'E
(in tonne) (in tonne)
(g ) (&)
0.49 0.55
0.002 0.002
0.046 0.052

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

BEREIER

2021 2020

—E-—fF —E-TF

(in tonne) (in tonne)

(g ) (mg)

CO, emissions — scope 1 (Note 1) —E xR E — E@E (faET) 295 366

CO, emissions — scope 2 (Note 2) —E xR E — E@E 2 (ffaE2) 5,110 7,514

Total #HE 5,405 7,880
As compared to that in 2020, the Group recorded lower amount B =Z =T FiFL - AFEER - —FHERIA
of NO, SO, PM and greenhouse gas emissions in 2021. Such ~ &/E¥) - ALY - MR LB EREHFNE - HH

reduction was mainly due to less frequent use, shorter travel
distance and decrease in the number of the Group's vehicles.

Notes:

1. Direct emissions (scope 1) includes greenhouse gas emissions from combustion
of fuels in company vehicle fleet. CO, emissions — scope 1 intensity was
approximately 0.25 (tonne/employee) during the Reporting Period (2020: 0.28
(tonne/employee)).

2. Energy indirectly emissions (scope 2) includes greenhouse gas emissions from
consumption of electricity purchased from power companies. CO, emissions —
scope 2 intensity was approximately 4.35 (tonne/employee) during the
Reporting Period (2020: 5.85 (tonne/employee)).

3. The calculation of air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions was based on
the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

WMOTIEBERBARNAKENERERARRE - BT
EIRREAERE A R EMBER A
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EARE HERERRE®
Emissions (Continued) 4., BERum)
Waste Management BEREE
The Group has devoted substantial efforts to waste management AREBRAKXESRIEITENEIE  FBERR
by minimising solid waste to landfills through waste reducing, D BERIER R R EERE] SR A a3 A (R 8 K [E]
waste reusing and waste recycling. One of the essential BEEERl c H—IEX B BIEIIRHE R
measurements is through promoting the importance of waste AREFBETETEENFINERN - REFMAAK
reduction among the employees of the Group through training EEETEEERPHAETNEENE - WEE
and education. Going paperless is always the Group's key ETIFEREFHNIFREMERLBUWAFTED » LA
message passed to the employees of the Group and they are PIRE o KEBRADARETANEBIZEHE
encouraged to use electronic copies for filing purpose and use FNHEFHRBEETFIEELERR
recycle papers for printing in order to reduce waste. The Group's
efforts to reduce paper usage include implementing paperless
e-Leave and e-Payroll systems.
The Group is not aware of any significant generation of REBWTABEMERNNBEER - WIREH
hazardous waste and adopted suitable waste handling and TR EREMNEE R RIE R A EE -
reduction measures in accordance with local laws and $’$IE/\$& HWEE,H:.PT?H%@;&?T hill
regulations. The total amount and intensity of non-hazardous WESSHER 0047 BB (ZZE_2F : HAlA
waste produced during the Reporting Period have increased to 20ME K 001608 BB ) « EAHIFTE EE J%ﬂi’]
55 tonnes and 0.047 tonnes/employee, respectively (2020: 20 ERAEYEETERENE  AREZAFRNFK
tonnes and 0.016 tonnes/employee, respectively). All non- £ o
hazardous wastes generated are collected by the property
management of the office buildings and will then be transported
to public refuse collection points.
Types and amount of waste recycled ERENEREREE
Production
Equipment,
Office
Equipment and Batteries and
Paper and Plastics Computers Charger
Paper Product (Video Tape) (piece) Accessories
(tonne) (piece) Cartridge BERE - (piece)
HRR B (piece) MAERME Bt R
Year HEm (8#5%%) M REMR ZERM
FE (m#) (&) (&) (&) (%0

2021 —EB=—F 13 63,796 174 1,309 125

20200 —E_FF 12 - 415 1,246 307
There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant ¥R 2 Hf VWE% A ERAEBERBAERERMER
environmental laws and regulations that have a significant SEEZEFEEENERNFZENEMF -

impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

5.

Use of Resources

Being a responsible corporation to the environment and the
society, the Group focuses on exploring opportunities to
minimise the use of energy or natural resources among the
Group and with the new technologies and by improving the
efficiency of operating procedures that provide the best use of
production and office equipment. The management of the
Group believes that the efficiency of the use of energy and
natural resources can be improved from time to time.

Energy Management

The Group endeavours to make use of energy efficiently and to
encourage employees of the Group to use energy smartly. The
consumption of energy is monitored regularly and measures
were taken to identify any rooms for improvement. Another key
focus by the Group on how to minimise the use of resources and
how to use wisely is through education and training:

reduce operation hours of public lighting, escalators and
lifts;

automated switching off air-conditioning and lighting;
retrofit lighting system using energy efficient T5
fluorescent tubes and LED lights;

adjust indoor temperature settings;

purchase energy efficient office equipment with electron
energy loss spectroscopy; and

provide staff with tips for green office.

Water Management

There was no water sourcing issue with the Group as the Group
mainly consumes municipal water. The majority of the water
consumption of the Group is for water-cooled air conditioning
system, basic cleaning and sanitation. The Group promotes the
use of water smartly by training and education. The
management of the Group continuously monitors the
consumption of water and explores ways to further reduce the
Group's water consumption. Owing to the Group's ongoing
education and efforts, the Group’s water consumption for the
year ended 2021 has maintained similar level as compared to the
consumption for the year ended 2020.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EXRRER #HERkEFE@®
5. Use of Resources (Continued) 5. EREAG@®

Water Management (Continued) FAKEE ()

Energy and Resources Consumption BERMEERERHEEE

Electricity (kilowatt-hour) B (FRANK) 13,810,209 15,028,430
Water consumption (cubic meter) AKE (2 FXK) 2,306 2413
Diesel (litre) gem (A7) 56,094 55,483
Unleaded petrol (litre) me i (AT 51,692 78,257
Electricity intensity (kilowatt-hour/employee) BHRE(TR/EETI) 11,753 11,695
Water consumption intensity (cubic meter/employee) F7K& (375K, 8 T) 2 2
Diesel per vehicle (litre/vehicle) LSl (AT ) 1,650 1,632
Unleaded petrol per vehicle (litre/vehicle) M (AT EHEH) 2,068 2,699
Note:  Use of packaging material for finished product is not a material aspect of the Hiat : BB (& Y 6 R R0 T R B R & B EAE
business operations of the Group. 7 e

As compared to that in 2020, the Group consumed BT -TFEL - NEBRDKRO%NENHE
approximately 9% less electricity because the Group had oM TTER RSB RAE AR R IERE
adopted the use of more energy-saving appliances and more in- BENERRER - MR AHERER KFE
house green initiatives such as reduced operation hours of R B & ER AR B B R 2 8 R BREA o

public lighting, escalators and lifts as well as automated
switching off air-conditioning and lighting.

With the Group's reduction of the size of the vehicle fleet and BEE AR EE AR EBRE - WD E 48Tty
fuel consumption initiatives mentioned in section 4 as well as JRFE - N ETTHERGEE  QE-ZZS-TFH
shorter distance travelled, the Group consumed 1% more diesel HAARLL - NEEE T Z —F I I01% 8 5h08
and 34% less unleaded petrol in 2021 when compared to the FERNIRL > 349 B9 B 11 /T HDBERE

same period in 2020.



ERRBBNERAA

—Eo—EER m

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B EREARE

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

6.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group explores the possibility of the usage of clean energy
or reusable resources and the opportunities to minimise the use
of energy or natural resources in every department in different
business operations of the Group. The Group continuously
adheres to the principle of minimising the impact on the
environment and natural resources. During the Reporting Period,
the Group is not aware of any significant impacts of activities
arising from the business operations of the Group on the
environment and natural resources.

The Group’s Environmental Friendly Programme was
implemented in the Group throughout these years to bring the
employees together with the management of the Group to
contribute to its society. The Group takes great emphasis in the
future development of its environment. In order to enhance the
awareness of environmental conservation, the Group
encouraged its staff to participate in various environmental
programmes. Through the participation in a programme called
Earth Hour 2021 which was organised by the World Wide Fund
Hong Kong, the programme aims to show our commitment
towards addressing the environment and natural resources crisis
to the planet by switching off non-essential lights for one hour,
the Group believes its commitment will contribute to the
betterment of its community.

Climate Change Impact Management

The management of the Group will take adequate steps to build
its resilience to climate change by identifying and managing
climate change risks and opportunities and by developing
strategies, which are in line with global best practices to adapt to
and mitigate the impact of climate change on its operations.

In order to mitigate the impact of climate change, the Group
considers climate change issues into consideration during its
annual enterprise risk management process to evaluate if the
significant climate-related risks would impact its business
operations. Contingency business plans regarding the possible
scenarios under various extreme weather conditions are
established, such as installing uninterruptible power supply
(“UPS") in order to provide emergency power when the input
power source or mains power including hub sites, Digital News
System (“DNS”) centre, Management Information System (“MIS")
server, broadcasting equipment, Multichannel Multipoint
Distribution Service ("MMDS") station, etc. fails. The Group also
encourages employees, suppliers and customers to reduce
carbon emissions in their operations in order to mitigate its
supply chain’s environmental impact as much as possible.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

8.

Employment

The Group recognises employees as important assets to us. The
Group is committed to developing a positive and respectable
working environment that encourages collaboration between
employees and across departments. The Group strives to attract
and retain talents and aim to promote workforce diversity, in
terms of age, gender and nationality, as well as a culture of equal
opportunity.

The Group has developed the Employee Handbook & Company
Policy which has been posted on intranet, governing
compensation, dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare in accordance to
respective laws and regulations.

The following Hong Kong laws in relation to the Group's
employment and labour practices are relevant to the Group:

Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong);

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (‘MPFSQO")
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the
Laws of Hong Kong);

Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of

BERRE -
8.
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(HETEEDN(EREHF608E) :

Hong Kong);
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of R RSB Y (BB LB B 480 ) ¢
Hong Kong);

Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the
Laws of Hong Kong);

Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

Race Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the Laws
of Hong Kong); and

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

Working hours, leaves, remuneration and other employment
practices are reviewed regularly to ensure the compliance with
latest labour laws and regulations.

There was no incident of non-compliance with employment
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business operations of the Group during the Reporting Period.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EARE - HEREGEE®
8. Employment (Continued) 8. EEw@Wm
Employee Statistics EE#TEIE
The majority of our employees in both year 2020 and year 2021 BRI DEEE S _EFR_T_—FHE
were employed and worked in Hong Kong. ERERARIE-
Total Workforce HWETAH
Employment Types
Alltypes of employee ERER Employee category Geographical region
fraREEN Permanent contract Temporary contract EEAE HE
REAH BREH
Management|  Senior General
Year Male Female Total Male Female Male Female Staff Staff Staff HongKong | Others
£E L g LN B g Bt g EEE | BfBI | -MEI ) At
2021 28=-F 784 391 1175 778 377 6 14 33 253 889 1,103 n
00-F-FF 847 438 1,285 843 428 4 10 46 254 985 1,194 91
Total Workforce by Age Group HETAE(RFRARED)
Below 30 30-50 Above 50
Year 30m AT 30 3% -50 5% 505 A £ Total
FE Male | Female | Male | Female | Male | Female | A%
B keg i3 B e 3 B z
2021
Total Workforce —E-—& 348 226 373 147 63 18 1,175
BETAH 2020
—EEF 200 173 531 246 116 19 1,285




m i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2021

Enviropmental,’ Social and Governance Report
RE - IgREIERS

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) ERARE HERERZE®@
8. Employment (Continued) 8. EEw@Wm
Employee Statistics (Continued) EE# 5T 8IE (&)
New Hires and Employee Turnover FABBIREERAE
Below 30 30-50 Above 50
Year 30m AT 30 5% -50 5% 505 M £ Total Rate
FE Male Female Male Female Male Female | B A tb =
B feg 3 B feg B i
2021
New Hires —E-—F 66 89 89 45 28 9 326 | 0.2777
FABET 2020
—E-FEF 69 56 86 51 29 5 296 0.230"
2021
Employee —E- 74 98 114 79 56 15 436 | 0.371?
Turnover
EaHRKAE 2020
—E-TF 81 56 138 73 82 14 444 0.3462
Employee Turnover Rate BERALL=
By geographical
By gender By age group region
Year Rl BERAE R BihE Total
EpE Hong M=
Male Female | Below 30 30-50 Above 50 Kong Others
B 7 30T |30E505% | 50 5% £ BE Hith
2021
—E-—F 0.311 0.491 0.300 0.371 0.877 0.360 0.542 0.371@
2020
—EEF 0.356 0.326 0.203 0.389 1.391 0.349 0.297 0.346?
Notes: Kfet -
(1) New hire rate = Total number of new hires/Total number of employees (1) FABETH E=3TABE T1E 1ES#HE

©2) Turnover rate = Total number of employee turnover/Total number of employees ) RALFR=-BBESHEE ITESHEE
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) BEARE HEXEREE@E
9. Employee Development and Training 9. EERRKIEI

The Group acknowledges the importance of training for AEERBIFIHEETEERNEEZTE - K
professional development of its employees. The Group places SEEBINEIERRE T ANERATEEE
adequate and appropriate resources on training and staff MER ANEBEFRBIRHEEBHENE2BEENE
development opportunities. The Group encourages vocational FJIETE - EEZMBERE RIFINES -

education and training activities by providing tuition subsidies
and full funding training programmes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted around 50 RERE RN - AREE IR L) 50 E S EHFFRE
corporate training events (2020: 49 corporate training events) (ZEZFF 1 49 1.&%% HIFRIR) F1068% B
involving 1,068 participants (2020: 1,410 participants) with a total T2HE(ZE-TF 141088 TL2H) » @E1F7
of 38,184 training hours (2020: 36,2 training hours) to enhance E%%U?BS 184/ N (Z B T4 1 36211 /NI
working knowledge, safety compliance, service quality as well as BEE) - Bl X EEIRATIENG 281K -

compliance of anti-corruption. HE%E% INEEER -
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

9. Employee Development and Training (Continued) 9.
Employee Training and Development Data

Percentage of employees trained

BEARERE HEREARAZE®@

EEEENEI @
BEEIRBEREE
EEIEEEAL

By gender By employment category Overall
be:qEdall ZERER percentage
Male Female Management | Senior Staff | General Staff | of employees
(%) (%) Staff (%) (%) (%) (%)

Year B e 3 EEfE ERET —RET EREEFSL

FE (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%)

2021 67 33 3 15 82 58
—E-—F

2020 73 27 4 15 81 87
—T_EF

Remark:  Overall percentage of employees calculation — Total participate of

employees divide by total number of employees

Average hours of training

5935 S B B

it - BEESASILAE 2 HESEEG L ESEE

By gender By employment category Overall
B RIERER average
training
hours
per
employee
(hour)
Management
Male Female Staff Senior Staff | General Staff TR {ES IR
(hour) (hour) (hour) (hour) (hour) F 1955 1 5 2
Year B peg i3 EEE BRET —RET
FE (/M) (/M) (/M) (/M) (/) (/M)
2021 31 37 20 18 37 33
—E-—F
2020 31 22 16 10 33 28
—T_EF

Remark: ~ Overall average training hours per employee calculation — Total training

hours divide by total number of employees

it -

By

B E 18R A B R8T 115 |5 B at H —15 A8 05 20 fr LA 18
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) BEARRE  #HEREREE®R

10. Prevention of Child and Forced Labour 10. BFLLEIR@&IZT
The Employment and Compensation & Benefits Policies are RNREBZT IR ERELRFNEGBHRE)Y - —HE
established to meet or exceed the requirements of the BEEENBBEEEI(ESEMNES7TEZ) B
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) M ANTELETERTIY BN E Sk o KREEIRELELA
and the MPFSO. The Group has adopted the following measures THERE ALY IFE T R oRH| 58 T HyFREE -

to prevent recruitment of child and forced labour:

Except for child entertainers and summer interns, the . BKREEENZHEE LN KEEER

Group shall hold against hiring any candidate who is i BERIARW 18 BRI EEE

under 18 years old;

For child entertainers, the Group renews permission to . BHERERE  AEETFEMS ITERH

employ child entertainers yearly from the Labour BB EEH &

Department; and

For summer interns, strict collection of sworn declaration . ZERERETLE  BMEABRRMWKETE

forms and school endorsement are required to prevent BENRERAEREUBILERET -

child labour.
Any occurrence of incident would be timely reported to BAEAMEREERRETERBRES  WISHRIR
management and follow up action will be taken. The Group has EITE - AEBEERFITEAREESHEITIERET
received the "Good MPF Employer 5 Years+", “e-Contribution B2020/ 2V FEIERTREST+] » [EFHEE]
Award” and “MPF Support Award” in 2020/21 from The NIREeHEE]| URBEAEE2EETETE
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority for our full BEAMREHREBEENE TRIKER -

compliance with employers’ statutory obligations and provision
of better retirement for employees.

There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and REE A ER L ER AEL TEAMBER .
regulations relating to labour standards during the Reporting BROEIREY -

Period.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

11.

Anti-corruption

The Group prohibits bribery and corruption practices. The Group
has established the Employee Handbook and the Company
Policy posted on intranet web link regarding standard code of
ethics, which states the prevention of bribery, gambling,
collections and insider dealing, as well as the policy on reporting
potential non-compliance and conflict of interest.

Under the Group’s Code of Conduct, all staff are required to
abide by the laws on anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Group strives to promote business ethics and raise awareness
during the Reporting Period, the Group provided trainings and
regular communications to the Directors and the new
employees as part of their orientation programme of the Group.

There were no incident of non-compliance with anti-corruption
laws and regulations and no concluded legal cases regarding
corruption practices brought against the Group or its employees
during the Reporting Period.

Whistleblowing

The Group operates a whistleblowing policy, which establishes
whistleblowing procedures for staff to report alleged material
non-compliance to the Company to investigate. Any possible
criminal offence cases will be referred to the audit committee of
the Company to decide further action with consultation from
the legal advisers of the Group. The whistleblowing channel is
set up in an anonymous manner for staff to report non-
compliance without the concern of retaliation. Any form of
retaliation against the whistleblower is prohibited. Staff is
obliged to report alleged material non-compliance to the
Company, which will be investigated.

BEARERE HEREARAZE®@

11.

RES

AEEBREEAESHRTR - AKECHIEA
FBEERETAN(ETFM M(RRBE) - I
R - K580 L HEA - 1S - IR
BIRAER S - DANERIREE S KPR &
REMFHBR

RBAEENGRTER) - rE 8 THLAET
BREREROVED - <P B IED) (BB
%201 F) - RBERR - ARER N RERBE
BREERESES - AKRERES MRS
I MEHAE  (FRAKBABG BN D -

RBERAAREZLERRETEARLERNE
o TEHHAKEXHEEEESTANE TE
ERRM

BRI

ARECHERRBE  ETCORIBHREF
NEETRAARRRIREWIEENERERITAN
EITRE - AR BEEENHERFBEIAR
AIEREZE S KEALAEEERBMERER
HE— 178 - NER T ARBEERBBHET
BHRIAREMN CHEFBELEIWE - Z1E
HEBALETEAEANRE - ETAEERAA
AIEREMSREREROTR - ARAEKE
HBRAEEMF -
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) BEARRE HEREREZE @

i

4R E

12. Community 12. &
Community Investment HERE

The Group attaches great importance to staff participation in
community activities, by motivating and encouraging colleagues
to extend a helping hand to the elderly, children and youths as
well as families in need of social support.

Volunteer Services

Established in 2003, the Group's staff volunteering team
continues to grow. Leading charitable organisations that the
Group worked with include The Community Chest of Hong Kong
and Youth Outreach. During year 2021, the Group held activities
and events such as Skip Lunch Day, Dress Casual Day and Love
Teeth Day with a total of 54 participants.

AEE-BRNHESHLREEE TIRAZEZIAL
SRBIIE RERE RERTIF  ULF
EHEENRE

FLIRH
AREEBR-_TTEZFRINETHKE AZTE
B AEEEGENEZTERGBEATE R GS
EHEL RZZE—F  AEBERBRNER
MEEMAZTEINIRA - BRARATE
FH - HBs54F28E -

Community Support

The Group offers support to the community since the Group is
concerned about its development. For example, the Group took
part in a friendly basketball match with the Youth Outreach
basketball team and the Earth Hour 2021 organised by World
Wide Fund Hong Kong.

Community Engagement

The Group is dedicated to producing quality programmes which
enhance the connection with local communities and inspire
people to care for the society. The Group hopes to bring positive
energy to Hong Kong and raise public awareness for the minority
groups and people in need. The programmes present to viewers
with the genuine life of the living of the disadvantaged and
minority groups in Hong Kong as well as the challenges they are
facing, hoping to encourage the public to show more
understanding and care to those in need.

S HFL R R
AEBEBFErEER  AHEREZEIIE -2
BlImE - NEBEZ 2 MNERSHERBHEITHE
BKREERMABAES SR B S RMANDIK
—/]NEF 2021 ©

I

AEBEBRNNEUEEENE - ML iR
BE HEAMEOLE AEEFEHEHER
BETRERE  YREMRUVUHELET
ZATHRET - SHEABRRRIEBHBLER
DHEENEELENREMEEORE - A
HETREAFBZATRETSNERLERE -
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(A) REVIEW OF 2021 RESULTS

(A) ——FEXERE

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
decreased by approximately HK$80 million or 7% to
approximately HK$989 million (2020: HK$ 1,069 million).

The total operating expenses of the Group decreased to
approximately HK$1,298 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 from approximately HK$1,303 million for the year ended 31
December 2020. In which, cost of services of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021, including programming costs,
network expenses and cost of sales, increased by approximately
HKS14 million to approximately HKS$1,026 million (2020:
HKS$1,012 million). Programming costs and network expenses
both decreased by approximately 1%, respectively, while cost of
sales increased by approximately 20% as compared to the year
ended 31 December 2020, which was mainly due to the increase
in revenue derived from the telecommunications segment and
the increase in advertising revenue under the media segment.
Selling, general and administrative and other operating expenses
of the Group decreased by approximately 6% as compared to
the year ended 31 December 2020.

Loss from operations of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$309 million, representing
an increase in loss from operations of approximately 32%, as
compared with the loss from operations of approximately
HKS$234 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 increased by approximately HKS5 million or 12% to
approximately HK$46 million (2020: HK$41 million), of which
approximately HKS$36 million (2020: HK$28 million) was the total
interest expense on unlisted long-term convertible bonds issued

in June 2019 (the “2019 LCS") and March 2021 (the “2021 LCS").

After the recognition of interest income, finance costs, non-
operating income, net and income tax, the Group recorded a net
loss of approximately HK$364 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: HKS275 million). Basic and diluted loss
per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
approximately HK5.1 cents (2020: HK3.9 cents).

$Elﬁif;:—¢+—H:+—E¢¢Fm
W AR 2> 49.80,000,000 7% 7T 3% 7% 2= % 989,000,000
BIL(ZZE T4 1,069,000,000/87C) °

AEENEEERBEEREE T -ZF+=8
=+ —HIEFE#1,303,000000BTRHEEHZ =
T —F+=-A=+—8 1 FE491,298000,000
BLe B AEBEEHE-_ZTE-_—F+=A
=+ —HIEFERBREEA (B IEE B RUER A -
%%%%&%EW¢WWM%MWWW%E %9
1,026,0000008 L (ZE = F 012,000,000 78
5ﬂoﬁﬁ%¢&$&%ﬁ§%ﬁ %ﬁ)%%'
HENTARBEE-_Z-_FTF+-_A=+—HI
FEEINAI20%  EZ2HRKREEMDBHLWA
EINREE D BHESWALN - AERZH
— % THREHEMKEERREE_T-F
F+ZRA=1+—HIFETEL6% -

AEEHEE - F+-_A=+—HILFEHN
4B BB 4 309,0000008 T * BB E T - TF
TZ A=+ —H 1L FE R4S & E5 8 4 234,000,000
FETTIEANAY 32% o

AEEHE-_E - F+-_A=+—HILFEHN
& & F B0 4950000008 JT S 12%E 4
46,000,000/ 7T ( = ZF = Z 4F : 41,000,000/ 7T )
H A14936,000,000 87T (ZF ZF 4 : 28,000,000%
iﬂﬁ%—%—niﬂﬂ% THIE LT RERAI 2
EEH(ZE-NFRETRBES]) R 2T
——F= H% TR EEMRBARTBERES (=

T RHATMEES ) N BT B -

KRERFIBIMA - BEER - IECBWAFER
ABMIER AEBHEE_T-_—F+=A4
=+—HIEFEHSFEE 4 364,0000008 (=
T ZFHF 12750000008 TC) c HLE_TZ—F
TZA=T—HIEFENEREARREEBED
SIABIW(ZZZFF  3981L) -
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(B) SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (B) o EPER

The principal activities of the Group comprise media and
telecommunications operations.

Media

The media segment includes operations related to the television
subscription business, domestic free television programme
service, advertising, channel carriage, television relay service,
programme licensing, theatrical release and other related
businesses.

Revenue derived from the media segment for the year ended 31
December 2021 decreased by approximately 13% to
approximately HK$572 million (2020: HK$656 million) on lower
subscription revenue.

Operating expenses before depreciation and amortisation of
other intangible assets incurred by the media segment for the
year ended 31 December 2021 decreased by approximately 3%
to approximately HK$760 million (2020: HK$781 million). As
disclosed in “Segment Information” in Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report, the loss before
depreciation and amortisation of other intangible assets of the
media segment for the year ended 31 December 2021 increased
to approximately HK$188 million (2020: HK$125 million), which
was mainly due to net effect of the decrease in revenue, the
decrease in programming costs and the decrease in selling,
general and administrative and other operating expenses.

AEENEZEBERRBREMES -

e

BRI HMERELEWECAPRBFMRIE - K
WwREERMHBRY  EE - ABEEE  EHE
HEARTS -« B B AFRTHE - BB DR M EL A ARRE RS o

BHE_Z-_—F+ZA=+—HLFE  BRE]
FUWATRE  REHEEBSHBHBRAF DL 13002
#9572,000,00078 7T ( = F = & F : 656,000,000 7
JL) °

HE-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HILFE EBH
HEEEMARNBRITE REMEFLEERHEATN
B TR 493% 2 #9 760,000,000 T (ZFE =
T4 1 781,000,000 70) o SANARF M LRE B
HEMF7DHER] FTEE 2T _—F
TZA=TBLEFE  BESBROBITE R
b 4 2 & B 8 A &9 S 1B 1 0N = 49 188,000,000
%ELS_EE-ﬁmmm%E)I%mM
AR A~ 81 B RUER AR D RS~ — /% - 17
B EAb 4 B FR D 2 SRR TR o
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(B)

Q)

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)
Telecommunications

The telecommunications segment includes operations related to
broadband internet access services, portal operation, telephony
services, network leasing, network construction, mobile service
and mobile agency service as well as other related businesses.

Revenue derived from the telecommunications segment for the
year ended 31 December 2021 increased by approximately HK$4
million to approximately HK$417 million (2020: HK$413 million).

Operating expenses before depreciation and amortisation of
other intangible assets incurred by the telecommunications
segment for the year ended 31 December 2021 increased by
approximately 11% to approximately HK$266 million (2020:
HKS$240 million). As disclosed in “Segment Information” in Note 7
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report,
the profit before depreciation and amortisation of other
intangible assets from the telecommunications segment for the
year ended 31 December 2021 decreased by approximately 12%
to approximately HK$151 million (2020: HK$172 million), which
was mainly due to the increase in salaries, wages and other
benefits, and cost of sales.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and bank balances
and restricted bank balances of approximately HK$70 million and
HKS11 million, respectively as compared to approximately
HKS$157 million and HKS11 million, respectively as at 31
December 2020. The decrease in cash and bank balances was
mainly due to the net cash used in operations and investing
activities and offsetting by the proceeds received from issue of
the 2021 LCS. The cash and bank balances and restricted bank
balances of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollar ("HKS"). The net
gearing ratio, measured in terms of the total interest-bearing
borrowings and convertible bonds less cash and bank balances
and restricted bank balances divided by total equity, was
approximately 504% (31 December 2020: 136%). Such increase
was mainly due to the issuance of the 2021 LCS and decrease in
total equity in 2021. The capital structure of the Group was
approximately 85% debt and approximately 15% equity as at 31
December 2021, representing an increase of approximately 20%
and a decrease of approximately 20%, respectively as compared
with approximately 65% debt and approximately 35% equity as
at 31 December 2020.

(B)

7 EHER ()

EA
BEALHBREEEMEN LBRE  WULET
B BHERK - BEEE  SEER - RPAEA

AR KO B E FA IR ARG DA M A AR B SR 75 -

BE_Z_—4F+-_A=+—HLFE " XQ%
o EB A9 U A 1B AN 494,000,000 T & £
417,000,000/ 70( ZZF =4 : 413,000,000/ 7C) °

BHE_Z-_—F+A=+—HLEFE EilH
BOFTE R AR HBRITE R H mﬁ&%%%%%m
BB RGN 11% 2 4 266,000,000 L (ZZF =
TF 1 240,000,000 70) © AN FRP LA B
WEMF/IDEER] FIEE 22T _—%F
TZA=1T—RHIEFE  EMHBROBRITER

BB EEBENNEMNRDN120EH
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DNETERL -

RBEE - URERREXREE

RZE——F+=-A=+—8" $Elmﬁé&
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REFBMSREMEE RN —F K%
ZZEF+ZA=+—H  AEBRS RBITE
%M&x@%ﬁﬁmﬁzﬁuémﬁﬁnbﬁ
B FEEBBELRE(RBTEEERRAIMRRE
#ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁm%&x@%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁu B
=EE)H504n (ZE_FF+_HA=+—8:
136%) - BAEINFEEANBEIT T —F K H
AIHEBREANN T - —FESATERD - B
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BR8N EE R O15%mED BT -F
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND (C) "EBER - MBERREARZERE@

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Consolidated net asset value of the Group as at 31 December
2021 was approximately HK$146 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 60%, as compared with consolidated net asset
value of the Group as at 31 December 2020 of approximately
HKS$365 million.

The carrying amount of interest-bearing borrowings
denominated in HK$ as at 31 December 2021 was HK$295
million (31 December 2020: HK$295 million), which carried
interest at variable rates and was repayable on demand. The
committed borrowing facilities available to the Group but not
drawn as at 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$105 million (31
December 2020: HK$105 million).

The 2019 LCS

On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019 LCS with the principal
amount of HK$568 million by the Company to Forever Top (Asia)
Limited (“Forever Top” or “Controlling Shareholder”), the
controlling shareholder of the Company was completed. The
2019 LCS would be convertible into 4,544,000,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company (the “Share(s)") upon full conversion of
the 2019 LCS based on the initial conversion price (the
“Conversion Price”) of HK$0.125 per conversion share and the
coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable
quarterly. During the year ended 31 December 2021, there had
not been any conversion of the 2019 LCS. Details of the 2019 LCS
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 25
January 2019 and 4 June 2019 and the circular of the Company
dated 8 April 2019 (the “2019 Circular”).

RZZE-—F+-A=+—B  AEENEL?
EEIFEAY 14600000087 RZFE-_FF+F
=+ —HHAEELLZAE EEFEH 365000000
JC KA 60% ©

ROTE-—F+-A=+—H  UETHENS
BB IR (E 52950000008 T ( —E -ZTF
+=A=4+—8 :295000000/87T) + HIZFEF|
KB WEAREREZ R_ZT-_—F+_A4
=t+—H  AEEEEEREERSAMERE
BR/41050000008 0 ( ZEFF+ A =+—
A : 105,000,000 7T) °

—E-NFREATERES

RZZE—NFRNANAB @ ARRIE ZEKAARA]
ERE AR B FH () BRR A E ([ F ] sk [HEh%
A% B |) 317 AN %A /& 568,000,000 B T — T — N,
FERHAAMMKRE S - R_ZE—NERPATIHRRE
EERHERIE  —E-NERPABKRBAET
B ERE(ERE]D SR ARG 01258
JC 5, 38 5 4,544,000,000 B8 AN 2 &) # E R (R
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND (C) "EBER - MBERREARZERE@

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)
The 2019 LCS (Continued)

The carrying amount of the 2019 LCS denominated in HKS as at

1 December 2021 was approximately HK$386 million (31
December 2020: HK$369 million). Details of the 2019 LCS were
set out in “Convertible Bonds” in Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

The net proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2019 LCS have
all been utilised as at 31 December 2020 according to the
intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the 2019 Circular.

The 2021 LCS

On 31 March 2021, the issuance of the 2021 LCS with the
principal amount of HK$200 million by the Company to Forever
Top was completed. The 2021 LCS would be convertible into
2,941,176,470 new Shares upon full conversion of the 2021 LCS
based on the initial conversion price of HKS0.068 per conversion
share and the coupon rate of the 2021 LCS is 2.0% per annum
and payable quarterly. The Company may at any time on or after
the date of issue of the 2021 LCS by giving not less than 10
business days’ written notice to the holder(s) of the 2021 LCS to
redeem all or part of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal
amount of the 2021 LCS together with all accrued but unpaid
interest. During the year ended 31 December 2021, there had
not been any conversion or redemption of the 2021 LCS. Details
of the 2021 LCS are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 27 January 2021 and 31 March 2021 and the
circular of the Company dated 2 March 2021 (the “2021
Circular”).

—E-NEFRETHRERES @
RZZBEZ—F+-_A=+—8 " UWEXFEHN=
T—NF R HIRE 5 H AR H {8 49 386,000,000
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND Q) RBES  MBERRERERE @
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)
The 2021 LCS (Continued) —EC-FRPTEARES @)
The purpose for the issuance of the 2021 LCS is to ensure the BT E - FERHENBRESEERRAEE
Group has sufficient funds to operate and for business expansion ERABSIAMEERIBERE  BIEIERE%
including the enhancement of the network infrastructure, the EUpRiE - INBE B REMEE R - AFRHEEBEAE
acquisition of programmes and programmes production in order RAFEESTERNEEERITEAE -

to recapitalise the business to allow sufficient time for the
restructuring initiatives to be fully implemented.

The carrying amount of the 2021 LCS denominated in HKS$ as at R-E-_—F+-A=+—8 " LWETHEN=
31 December 2021 was approximately HK$136 million (31 T - —FREAHBIRE SR IR {E 4 136,000,000
December 2020: Nil). Details of the 2021 LCS were set out in B ZEZEF+_A=+—"H: &) —_F
“Convertible Bonds” in Note 25 to the consolidated financial T E RN BMRBFNGFBEHNAERGA

statements in this annual report. R M 25 [ AI 2R ES ] -



m i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2021

Management Discussion and Analysis

THEFRR S

(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

The 2021 LCS (Continued)

The following table sets forth the information in relation to the
use of the net proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2021

LCS:

Intended use of net proceeds raised from
the issuance of the 2021 LCS as
disclosed in the 2021 Circular

CEC-ERREECRITE=—F
RETERISFEEFIEREFECEECRE

Approximately HK$198 million comprising:
#7198,000,000 7 7T + BLIE -
i) Approximately HK$100 million for investments in capital

expenditure for the enhancement of network infrastructure
and other relevant capital expenditures;

() #3100,000000% LA {ER AL AR KRB EAR
THREMABERST L

(i) Approximately HK$80 million for acquisition of programmes
and programme production including:

Q) #"EBER -

MRERRERERE @

“E-FRETBERES @)

TREF B AT
pIEpE R %E’Jﬁﬂ :

= ztﬁﬁ'fﬁ‘/

Actual use of net
proceeds during

the year ended

31 December 2021 as
originally intended

RRERZER  BE
—2--f%t-A=t+-HL
FEMBRERECERAR
Approximately HK$173 million

#49173,000,000 7 7T

() Approximately
HKS75 million;

() #97500000078 7T :

(i) Approximately
HKS80 million;

—FERPAEREE

_7_

Intended use of unutilised
net proceeds raised from

the issuance of the 2021 LCS
as at 31 December 2021

and expected timeline
HARBAZET-Z=—F
RO TBKRESBEFTSRE
FER-B=_-51+=8
St-HZBRERER
FEHRE R

Approximately HK$25 million
#7 25,000,000 7T

() Approximately HK$25
million for investment in
capital expenditure within
18 months from the
completion of the
issuance of the 2021 LCS
(the “Completion”);

0 %’J 25,000, ooo%ﬁy‘zmé
TR —FREAHR
ﬁ%mﬁﬁmmbt

SHIsEARAERAE
A
(i) HKSNil: and
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

The 2021 LCS (Continued)

Intended use of net proceeds raised from
the issuance of the 2021 LCS as
disclosed in the 2021 Circular

TR -FERABRBECRITEC--F
RETRRESEEFMEHEAFREERR

#80,000,000 BT AESNEET B RBUEETE - B4 -
(i@ approximately HK$40 million for the funding
requirements of acquired channels;

(i@ #740,000000 8T AEINEIBE L IRES

(i)(b) approximately HK$20 million for the funding
requirements of live programmes, movies and
dramas, and other entertainment programmes;
120,000,000 8 T RIEEEETR - B EEBIA

NEMIRLEE CHRES

(iD(b)

(i)(c) approximately HK$20 million for the funding

requirements of self-produced programmes; and

#)20000000 B TTRIEBRETE v FTHRES + &

Q) "EBER -

MRERRERERE @

“E-FRETBERES @)

Actual use of net
proceeds during

the year ended

31 December 2021 as
originally intended

?’EJ?EFEE{EFE EL;
¢FFE?%?XIE/¥§EZEF§FHZ$

(i) #780,000,00078 T :

()@ approximately
HK$40 million;

#940,000,000 78
JC ;

(i)

(iD(b)

approximately
HK$20 million;

#720,000,000 7
JC ;

(iD(b)

(i(o)

approximately
HK$20 million; and

#720,000,000 7
T &

(i(0)

Intended use of unutilised
net proceeds raised from
the issuance of the 2021 LCS
as at 31 December 2021

and expected timeline

HARBAZRIT-F

—f
E%ﬁ?ﬁﬂi%#i%ﬁﬁ%?ﬁ

BER-Z-—5+=A
=t—HZBEREER
FEHEE &

i ZTET: R
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND (C) HhEE: WKERREAZEE@
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

The 2021 LCS (Continued) “EC-FREATBRRKRES @

Actual use of net
proceeds during
the year ended

Intended use of unutilised
net proceeds raised from

Intended use of net proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2021 LCS

the issuance of the 2021 LCS as
disclosed in the 2021 Circular

CE - FRREECRTE=—F
REATBRIHEEFERBRECECRE

(i) Approximately HK$18 million for general working capital
including but not limited to salaries and benefits, rental and
utilities, government/music licence fees, other general and
administrative expenses

(i) #918000000 B LAE—REEES (BEETRILE
S REAN HERARSEER BN/ S%8R
& Hi—MRITHER)

The Group takes a centralised approach to the Group’s funding
and treasury management as well as optimisation of the funding
cost-efficiency. The management (i) maintains a balanced debt
and capital financing structure; (i) ensures secure and optimum
return on the investment of surplus funds within an agreed risk
profile; (iii) oversees the treasury related financial risks, including
but not limited to interest rate risk, currency risk, liquidity risk and
credit risk; (iv) strives to diversify source of funding and maintain
a balanced maturity profile; and (v) maintains an appropriate
control environment to protect the financial return under the
fluidity financial market conditions.

The Group's assets and liabilities are mainly denominated in HK$
and United States Dollars ("USS") and it earns its revenue and
incurs costs and expenses mainly in HKS and USS. As HKS is
pegged to USS, the Group does not expect any significant
foreign currency exposure arising from the fluctuation of the
USS/HKS or HKS/USS exchange rates.

31 December 2021 as
originally intended

RRERRER 82
“E--H+-A=+—-HLt Z=t-BzBTARER
BREFECERAER RBUBEXR

as at 31 December 2021

and expected timeline
HARBAZET=Z=—F
REOTHRKRESBEERE
BFER-B=-5+=8

Approximately (i) HKSNil
HKS18 million
#)18,000,000 87T (i)  TET

AEBEHARENES REBERUALELLES
PRI R KAV R RIE TR - EIEE () #35TE
MERREARBRELS () EiHENRREER
HRAEBESRENTE MFEDR ; (i) B2 5 R
ERERNERAR  BREETERMEER
SNERRR - RBEEREBRIEERR  (MBENZ
TLERES KR - WRFSEH IR - RV
MEEENGERE  WESRMERD RN
fERAF T M4 B B RO B 5 [ 5 o

AEEMEERABIZNETRET(ET])
SHE -+ 0 E AT BRER B U A A B 2 AR B R % B 32
AIEBABTT REITRHE - BRE TR X T #
8 AEEBEMIEREXTHATHIAETHET
BEE R 0% B EE AR (AR B R SME R



ERRBBNERAA

Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEFRR S

(@)

(D)

(E)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, capital expenditure
on property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
HKS$120 million (2020: HK$100 million), the additions to right-of-
use assets were approximately HK$6 million (2020: HK$26
million), the additions to programming library were
approximately HK$48 million (2020: HK$43 million) and the
additions to other intangible assets were approximately HK$0.2
million (2020: HKS0.6 million).

The Group financed its operations generally with internally
generated cash flows, the available credit facilities and the net
proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2021 LCS.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.

GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2021, a corporate guarantee had been
provided by the Company to a bank of HK$400 million (31
December 2020: HK$400 million) in respect of the facility of
borrowing up to HK$400 million (31 December 2020: HK$400
million) to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, of which
HKS$295 million (31 December 2020: HK$295 million) was utilised
by the subsidiary of the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had made an arrangement
with a bank to provide a performance bond to a counterparty
amounting to approximately HK$34 million (31 December 2020:
HKS$34 million), of which approximately HK$4 million (31
December 2020: HK$4 million) was secured by bank deposits.
The performance bond is to guarantee in favour of the
counterparty the Group’s performance in fulfilling the
obligations under a contract.

(@)

(D)

(E)

RBEE - UKERRELRRE@®

HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLEFE Y%
ﬁ%& &8 B & AR 3 H #9120,000,0008 T (==

¢1mmwm%m)ﬁﬁ@%%§F%
mmmw&ﬂ_?_?i 26,000,000 7T )
mﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%mww&ﬂ_g_gi-
43,000,000 78 7T ) K 38 7N EL 4th £ 2 & BE 49 200,000 75
TL(ZZ=F4F : 600,000/87T) °

AEE-REUABELNRSR I AEEH
AR #®IT—FE - —F RN REKESFNAERA
FRAHSERMES -

HREE
R-F-—F+-F=+—H AERELEEIM
HARIE -

=R

RZEBEZ—F+=-A=+—H ARQFH—HE2
BB A A FTE IR i B E& % 400,000,000 8 7T(=
T-TFE+ - A=+—H : 400,000,000 7T ) V&
KB R —ERITIR M A B £ 1R 400,000,000 7
T(ZFZFF+=H=+1—H : 400,000,000
J0) - AR RIME A R B B A E A 295,000,000 7T
—ZE-FTF+-F=+—H 2950000008 7T) °

R-BE-_—F+-A=+—H AEEHE—HR
TRYEME F HIRME —HE L1RE 434,000,000
BT(ZZEZZTF+=H=1—H : 340000005
JL) » HF 494000008 T(—E-FF+ -4
=—+—H : 4,000,000 7T) ASRITIF3RIEHEIR - B
HRBEEMHEFHREAELEZBITANET
MEE -

~z=-=55 [P
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(F)

(G)

(H)

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 1,155 employees as at 31 December 2021 (31
December 2020: 1,272). Total gross salaries and related costs
before capitalisation and incurred for the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted to approximately HK$405 million (31
December 2020: HK$403 million). The remuneration of the
Directors and the employees of the Group is determined with
reference to their qualifications, experience, duties and
responsibilities with the Group, as well as the Group’s
performance and the prevailing market conditions. Besides, the
Group regularly provides training courses for the employees of
the Group to meet their needs. Under the share option scheme
of the Company adopted on 24 May 2018 (the “Share Option
Scheme”), share options of the Company (the “Share Options”)
may be granted to the Directors and eligible employees of the
Group to subscribe for Shares.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

In view of the intensifying competition among various
multimedia platforms, the Group's revenue for the year ended
31 December 2021 was mainly affected by the decline of
subscription revenue.

Keen business competition in the market has continued to
contract the subscription customer base of Pay TV service and
the subscription ARPU was affected, while the advertising
revenue improved during the period under review.

For broadband service, despite a saturated market with price war
triggered by the incumbents, the Group is glad to see an
increase of approximately 3% in the number of subscribers to
approximately 202,000 as at 31 December 2021 as compared to
approximately 197,000 as at 31 December 2020. This
improvement was mainly due to the timely adoption of effective
sales and marketing strategies, recognition from the market for
the Group's quality of network services, as well as the continuous
upgrade of the Group’s network to provide high speed GPON
services, and further enhancement in churn management.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021,
approximately HKS11 million (31 December 2020: HKS11 million)
were made by the Group to secure certain banking facilities
granted to the Group.

restricted bank balances of

(F)

(H)

ADEIR

R-BE-—F+-A=+—H AEEHF115%
BT (ZZE-TFF+-A=Z+—H 1 122%8) - &
B - —F+ A=+ HILFEBITEANR
FITEE 4 B0 37 B I 5 B R S & ££49 405,000,000 7 7T
—ZT-FH+ - =+ —H 4030000008
) BEERAEEETHNHFH X EHENE
B85 REASENBBEBE  AREEE
MEERERITRMET © I AEBETHE
AEBEBETREFTEHEEFTENEIRE - RIB
ARARMR-ZE—)\FRHA =1+ B FRFEE
TEN([EERERE])  MEERAEEEGERKE
THEFARBRMGEAD BERE ([BERE]) -

RERIR

AR ERZREBF e cHBEFAN  AEREHE
R HFF A=t HUEFENRATER
FFTPWRA TR E -

EOERE mEHRFEE - FREERREH
FIPERERE  AIPNEPFHRANZ R
2 MESWABNE -

REBERGSHE - BEMS2EENBNTISE
BERE - BAEEMRASSEIEITIFPFHERT
Z-2F+ = A=+—HH% 197,000 8 N4 3%
B —F+-A=ZF+—HBH202000% - &
MNEFRELIZEAN ARG RMHEE RE
SRR NEBEMHSRESE=ETISRAY - U
T 7R S B 4848 T FHAR A SR it 55 38 GPON IR 7%
ME—H IR RAEE -

AEEEERSE
R-ZBE-—F+-A=+—8 KEBREHL
110000008 T(ZE_EF+ A =+—H:
11,000,000 7T ) B X PR BISRTT 4568 - LAYERANEE
EFTERS TRITERENERR -
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)

0))

(K)

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures or significant
investments of the Group, which would have been required to
be disclosed under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2021.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group will continue to invest in property, plant and
equipment and programming library as required by its business
operations, and explore the market and identify any business
opportunities which will be beneficial to its growth and
development, enhance its profitability, and strive for better
return to the Shareholders.

The Group’s ongoing capital expenditure will be funded by
internal cash flows generated from operations, the available
credit facilities, and the net proceeds from the issuance of the
2021 LCS.

OUTLOOK

The Group has been focusing on formulating and implementing
an organisational restructuring which included, among other
things, (i) identifying cost-saving initiatives through automation
and process re-engineering; (i) promoting more locally-
produced high quality content and introducing new overseas
contents and channels; (iii) exploring new television content co-
operation models for free television and other digital media
platforms in view of the increasing competition from alternative
media platforms; and (iv) performing strategic reviews on
possible restructuring of the Group to enhance business
performance and management efficiency, to promote synergies,
and to improve cost efficiency and profitability, and on the
financial performance of the Group. As part of a strategic review,
the Group has been and will continue to prudently evaluate the
possibilities and opportunities of potential partnerships and
opportunities for disposing any loss-making operations to
reinforce the financial position of the Group.

)

0))

(K)

EARBREEREARE

HE-_Z-—F+-A=+—HIEFE #EA
BRELTRAAREREZENRBAHEAEE
MEBAR BEQRRNALEEELAERRE -

AREARERNEREENRRE

AEEREERNEEGEEFTZRENYE W
FEhRELERER - XEFATSE - ARDE
EABAMEREER - AN NOEHE - A
KBS BBEREREER R

AEBEEMSRNAIRER - AITRERER
BT T - FREOBRRESESMERRF
B BAREEAIHREMFES -

Al
AEE-BEHIGERETERBREATEIERN
TESAE:(VEBECRREER  REME
FOAREHE  (WHEEEZAMEENEERS - X
HELFRBINAE RIRE ¢ (NER A BREFE
BT HmAR  RRLBER LA MBBRE
FamEMERBEAHERN  Riv HAKER
ATTEAT SRETRERE - MRS EHRR
RERRE - R R e - BRI A s R &
MBS - WHAREN M HRIETREE R -
ERRE R ER —IR - AEEBEERENS
BESERH M EEMEREFN AR
GRS BRSO -

~z=-==5 [BI
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued)

Despite the fact that intense market competition will remain the
Group's existing business, the Group is confident that it will be

(K)

A= ()
BEAKRBEREEHDSHEARNTISHS -
HERREARBERTBEM BB (ICT] &

able to ride on the post COVID-19 rebound and deliver more TERBREEB . —NEDR  WEERBRZEFE
value to its stakeholders given its advantage as one of the major ZW - EBEFHORE BENEBSIERHE

service providers in information and communications BRAERNEERLEEN E.EEI[% rKEEEEF
technology (“ICT") in Hong Kong with wide customer reach, DEZZE—NBRESHENEEDESM L

competitive service offerings, valuable business partnerships and
a capable and experienced management team.

The Communications Authority of Hong Kong has recently
granted a formal approval to Fantastic Television Limited in
respect of its application for using spectrum, on top of fixed
network, as an additional means of transmission for the delivery
of its Free TV service. The Group is expected to bring wider and
more extensive audience coverage in order to drive incremental

Y REFNERRESEE-

E%L.:ﬂ%i‘%”’*ﬁ)%}_ BEAMETYERAR

RAEFE BT EAETEHESI - IRa] ERA
EERERBEERRBHIIEEXEN - AEHE
BEFIAEEERZMEZERBR - KMESHIE
MESWARBEEZTTCWERRR < ZRE
AR RESEHBARATRRE - AEE/NE

advertising revenue and recruit more diversified product FZ i AE R AR -

categories. Together with the innovative content and integrated

marketing solutions service, more business opportunities would

be captured for expanding the Group’s revenue streams.

The proliferation of online content (many of which were offered BLEABREIE(Eh KA BERBIRM) BRAPIR

free of charge) provides an abundance of choice to users,
changes their viewing behavior and poses extra threat to the
Group's Pay TV subscription and Free TV business. However, the
Group believes that local infotainment content is still creating
value to its viewers. The Group has been devoting and will
continue to devote resources to promote high quality and
diversified programmes for serving audience in the territory and
to improve the video streaming services through digital
platforms for the viewers. To enhance the competitiveness, the
Group will continue to explore the opportunities to acquire
more content to capture and engage more customers as well as
opportunities to invest in streaming technologies and other
digital and new media platforms to meet the changing
preferences and habits of viewers.

HEEMERE  WEHEBRRE  THAKEN
WEBRITHNREBEEREHEEXEINAE - A
- AEREREAMERREATDABREE
BE AEEBEERHEREREBERZ T
METE  RBEZBER - WEBIEF & 58
REFRBRRE - REABF N AEESE
BHRBBEREZAR  UMIERBRSIEZE
B A RAEE SRR B R AL S iR &
MEE  mEBR o2 ENEFREE -
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued) (K) A= #)

The Group has successfully bid of the multi-year contract with
MTR for the exclusive commercial airtime sales distributor and
content provider for the MTR In-train TV during the period from
year 2019 to 2023. The full opening of Tuen Ma Line marked a
significant milestone in the railway network development linking
the eastern and the western regions of the New Territories and
eastern Kowloon and strengthens the connectivity of the whole
Hong Kong network. The planned opening of the service of East
Rail Line cross-harbour extension during the middle of 2022 will
enhance the business opportunities in the MTR In-train TV
platform in 2022, due to the expected rising numbers of
passengers. The Group will continue to enhance its sales and
marketing strategies by adopting creative selling strategy of
content sponsorship and integrated marketing solutions to
diversify the product portfolio.

Under the current situation in Hong Kong where social
distancing is still being strictly observed, demand for connectivity
and data transmission by both individuals and businesses will
continue to surge in the foreseeable future. The Group's reliable
and cost efficient fibre broadband service is expected to draw
new users in the coming year. The Group will focus on harvesting
its substantially invested network and creating more value for its
existing customer base by offering more diverse and timely
value added services via collaboration with new partners
through its well-established platforms.

Meanwhile, the Greater Bay Area (“GBA”") illustrates an
extraordinary opportunity for the Group to shape and expand its
business by collaborating with major media and operators within
the region. The partnership with Guangdong Radio and
Television marks the Group's initial expansion in the region. With
the growing business and job opportunities in the GBA, the
Group will continue to explore and capture the massive
opportunities where it can leverage its competitive advantages
in the GBA.

AEBRINFIEZE  BEHEIIN - —NFE

—EiﬁﬂFﬁﬁ/’éiﬁfﬁﬁﬂ’]ﬁ%fi%@ﬁﬁ
&WWf tEENZFE0 - BEG2HASE - 2
HEEEMARASERNENERBERERD
EZEREE - AR ETENEEHE - 8RN
TR FFPRBRBHRERBEKER B
HREAEULIN - B RBEERERAERK -
REBBEBMAIHE RLEHRE  HARNRE
PMAIEHERBREGEHEBRASTER  SER
Hezalk e

EEEBADERETHBMABRT - BA
R EER R BURE R AR A 2R 4
RBIRIE o NS T 5 B AR RS B9 S A SR SR AR
BIRABERFRIIFRLE - AEEKFEIER
HEABRENBEGE  WEBTZNFAEFEIE
BHeE RHEESHMCRANSEERS  RHE
RBERFHAEEZEE-

Ft 2B BERAER([XER]) EARKHE
WREARE - FREZMENIBZRENEE
BafkE %alttﬁ@&?%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ”z%*): HERE
BERGEF EREARBREEXNEREDS
E’KHj% ¥ BENERNPHERTIEHRE TH

g ARESEERERTEY  EXNERFA
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued) Bl 5 (@)

(K)

The COVID-19 has posed significant challenges to businesses in
Hong Kong both commercially and operationally, and this has
increased the demand on running their companies remotely,
securely and efficiently at affordable costs. The requirement for
remote office has in particular led to heightened bandwidth
requirements from corporate customers keen to ensure
operational continuity. The Group expects the trend will
continue to drive demand for its high-quality and reliable
network and data connectivity services in different industry
verticals. Leveraging on the Group's well established network
coverage and technological capabilities, the Group will seek to
expand its services to data centre connectivity, commercial
broadband and enterprise solutions to meet the surging
demand. This will also increase the Group’s market penetration
in the upcoming economic rebound.

The Group entered into the network development agreement in
December 2018 in relation to a strategic collaboration with
CMHK in telecommunications and value-added media-related
services. The cross-platform collaboration could dynamically
integrate the strengths and creativity of the two companies,
develop outstanding quality, diversified telecommunications
services, and strengthen sales channels. The two companies will
continue to work together in taking the development of the
local telecommunications and media market to a new level.

The Group believes 5G, internet of things, edge computing,
artificial intelligence (“Al") and cloud service will change the
world and create unlimited business opportunities. The Group
will further enhance its fibre network to enable data center
providers, mobile operators, cloud service providers and Al
solution providers to deliver their services to end users more
easily and cost effectively, and the Group will continue to enlarge
its footprint in the market.

With the new page of mobile service, the Group will take the
opportunities to further increase new subscribers by cross-selling
within the in-base customers including broadband, telephony
and Pay TV services. Concurrently, the Group has been
enhancing and will continue to enhance its mobile applications
technically, including i-CABLE Mobile App, Hong Kong Open TV
Mobile App, and i-CABLE News App, in an attempt to reach and
retain wider audience coverage.

—E-NEREEREBRBLENBEREER
FREARBE - BRI INIA R EFROKAE
BB RERFBYHEBBRFNFTR - HEERL
ENFRLEREEEHRALEZEUNEER
FRREHERNENR - NEEBE BT KEE
B TRAEETERHUAREEE A ENEERE
BERRBNFER - BREAKERANEEES
K#xfnge - NEB S SSEE RS BRI 8UR
FLERE BERAREEBRTER - mE TE
BENFTR - WERTB S AEEEAERIR
REREPRESME2EX -

AEBR_ZE-N\F+_ApEFEBHEEN
AR5 SRR E R RB IR T A RS IE - KR
AR ERGE - BEYEAFEEEAMK
REAMEBRAEN AEESERZT/INE
AR - WhNSRIHERE - MR ARSEERET
B BAMERREETISNERERER -

AEEMBEGC MBE BEEHE ATEH
(TALD R EmRS Gt R AlEEREH -
AEBGE - FIREREBEE - SBIEF LR
HE - REEAEER  ERRBEHERAT
BREBRNRBHANEER L EARAR @D
TRARKBPRHERYE  AEESEERAR
M5 LHIhRE

EEMBBHRBEMEHR — B8 - AEEKILER#
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(K)

(L)

(M)

OUTLOOK (continued)

Leveraging on its well-established infrastructure, the Group
continues to enhance its broadband internet access services
through expanding its network coverage. The Group will offer
commercial broadband and enterprise solutions, which will
Create new revenue stream for the Group.

Looking ahead, the Group embraces challenges as the world is
clouded by the COVID-19 and Hong Kong is on a bumpy path to
recovery. The Group will pay close attention to the development
of the COVID-19 and its impact to the Group and the market and
take proactive measures promptly as appropriate. The Group will
continue its plan to deliver high speed broadband services
through network upgrades, offer commercial broadband and
enterprise solutions and continue to explore new business
opportunities from the proliferation of 5G mobile
communication network and devices, as well as the emerging
market in the GBA to support customers’ needs under “new
normal” situation in Hong Kong. At the same time, the Group will
diligently monitor and review its spending on programming
library, contents enrichment, and new media development
without sacrificing the quality of its services and to ensure the
competitiveness of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 21 January 2022, Hong Kong Cable Television Limited ("“HKC”,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), as the borrower,
entered into a loan agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited
("Celestial Pioneer”, a company holding 72.0% of the total
number of issued shares of Forever Top, which holds 43.2%
shareholding of the Company) as the lender, pursuant to which,
the borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a principal
amount of HK$70 million for a term of 3 years from the date of
the loan agreement, with an interest rate of 2.5% per annum.

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any material
events affecting the Group's financial performance and/or
financial position significantly that have occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no
incidence of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the place in which the Group operates that has a
significant impact on the business operations of the Group.

(K)

(L)

M) &

Bl 5 (@)

BHEEBREESMRMSEE  NEMEBEAL
BEEERESE R LT AEREE AR -
AEMBHEEEERCERATE  ANEN
BIEHT IR A SR o

RERK —TE-—NBRESHHREEES
HoomEEAE FRENER K - AEEERY
SENE - AREBEYEE_ZT-NBRRS
RO ERREHASERTSNZE - WEIREK
HEEE G (ER) - REE T GEET 5B
BRI E S REARE - REEEEHE LD
¥R R WHREN SGREBABE LEREY
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(A)

(B)

Q)

ERELSRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices, and procedures and to
complying with the statutory and regulatory requirements with
an aim to maximising the Shareholders’ values and interests as
well as enhancing the stakeholders’ transparency and
accountability. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Company had complied with all applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”") as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, with the exception of the
deviation as set out under section (C) below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Company, having
made specific enquiries of all the Directors, was not aware of any
non-compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company has also applied the principles of the Model Code
for securities transactions to the employees of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of
the Group as well as promoting the success of the Group with
the objective of acting for the best of the interests of the Group
and the Shareholders as a whole by directing and supervising its
affairs in a responsible and effective manner. The key
responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the overall
strategies of the Group, monitoring the performance of the
management, and ensuring the duties delegated to respective
board committees of the Company are effectively performed.

(A)

(B)
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ERELSRE

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
eleven Directors, of whom two are executive Directors, five
are non-executive Directors and four are independent
non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board is
set out below:

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry

(Chairman, Non-executive Director) (Note (i)

Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU

(Vice-chairman, Non-executive Director) (Note (i)

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick

(Vice-chairman, Executive Director) (Notes (ii) & (iii)

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng

(Executive Director) (Note (iii)

ERRBRBAERAT —E--FFHK

€ EE=gwm)

EEE2HEAR

RAFRAH  EFFh+—BEFENX -
HAPOEMEBRITES  ARIFNTES
RMUBBIERITESE - EFSMEKD
T

WHRAEEL

(EE - FFHTTEE)(HE0)
METEEEEES

BIXE  FERTTEE) (M)

BREEE

(BIEJE - $77ZEF) (K (i) & (i)
FEELE

(#77EE) (K i)

Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU EREER L
(Non-executive Director) (Note (iv)) (FEB7TERE) (Kt Gv)
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Non-executive Director) FLREE S A (FEHTTEE)
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director) RIBRZ T (FEHTTEE)
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey N E s
(Independent non-executive Director) (B IFHTTEE)
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman fABERRIE £
(Independent non-executive Director) (BIIFMTESE)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger Pz A
(Independent non-executive Director) (B IHTEE)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman H RS A
(Independent non-executive Director) (B IFHTTEE)
Notes: Bat
(i) Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu has been re-designated from the Chairman to (i) T ESBHESEEHEEALAEEE  BX

AELABEEREAERERE  B-F=—F
T—A=tHEEY -

a Vice-chairman, and Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry has been re-
designated from the Vice-chairman to the Chairman, with effect from
30 November 2021.

BRI TR ERAITE BT —F1—
A=1HEEL

(ii) Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick has been appointed as a Vice-chairman with (i)
effect from 30 November 2021.

(i) Each of Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick and Mr. Lie Ken Jie Remy Anthony Ket (iii) R R F S E IR TTE FT
Heng has been re-designated from a non-executive Director to an BHTEE B_FT_—F+—A=+HEL
executive Director with effect from 30 November 2021. 3 o

(iv) Mr. Andrew Wah Wai Chiu has been re-designated from an executive (v)  EBEELECHNTEERHERIHTEEF 5
Director to a non-executive Director with effect from 30 November ZE—F+—A=FHBLEK -

2021.

EREEBEMARTEEA-E—F
+—A=tENAE -

For details of the above, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 30 November 2021.
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ERELSRE

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition of the Board (Continued)

Biographical information of the Directors and the
relationship among the members of the Board are set out
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 113 to 126 of this
annual report. Each Director has been appointed on the
strength of his/her calibre, experience and stature, and
his/her potential to contribute to the proper guidance of
the Group and its businesses.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Operation of the Board

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
makes decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company. The management of the Group (the “Senior
Management”) has closely monitored changes to
regulations that affect its corporate affairs and businesses,
and changes to accounting standards, and adopted
appropriate reporting format in its interim report, annual
report and other related documents to present a balanced,
clear and comprehensible assessment of the Group's
performance, position and prospects. Where these
changes are pertinent to the Company or Directors’
disclosure obligations, the Directors are either briefed
during Board meetings or issued with regular updates and
materials to keep them abreast of their responsibilities and
of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Group. The Company has also provided accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner to
the Directors to enable them to make an informed
decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities
as the Directors.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the
Board and the Senior Management. Decisions on
important matters are specifically reserved to the Board
while decisions on the Group’s general operations are
delegated to the Senior Management. Important matters
include those affecting the Group'’s strategic policies,
major investment and funding decisions and major
commitments relating to the Group’s operations.

€ EE=g@m)
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ERELIRE

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Operation of the Board (Continued)

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter should be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose
close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules), have
no material interest in the transaction should be present
at that Board meeting.

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance

The Board has a balance of skills and experience and a
balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors with diversity of skills and experience appropriate to
the requirements of the Group's business. Six Board meetings
of the Company were held during the financial year ended
31 December 2021. Notice of not less than 14 days was given
to all the Directors for the regular Board meetings and the
Directors were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for the regular Board meetings. The attendance
records of the Directors are set out below:

apaganarasn —z=-==% BRI

€ EE=gwm)

BEEgEFE®@

WEEERAZEENEEGRTFERY
EEPSREAFREGE  EBEEE
REXREES SR FEEMIEUSERSE
R BUFNTEEREETHEA (TS
R ETRE) M @R SR 5 AF
¥ REBIFNTEEALERESS

%o

N
/|

g

o

BEXe® REASSEHERE
EHEEERE
EESAFEYENBOMNER  ME+FPH
TEFHRIGNTES 2HEMRESE
MEELHENRERERREAAEEER
2Ek -BE-_ZE-_—F+-A=+—8H
IHBRFEE  ARBERITANAESEY
HoTRERNNERESSLHETD
RU4BEN URERKSEERESS S
FERELMEEE - S5 2 EREHY
o

Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HESEAE SEYE
Annual
Board General General
Meetings Meeting Meeting
Directors EZee® RRBFAE BRRAE
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry BRGEL
(Chairman, Non-executive Director) (Note (i) (£ HHTEE)(HiF0) 4/6 0/1 0/1
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, BEeEBES
Non-executive Director) (Note () (BIESE - FRTEE) (HFE0) 5/6 11 N
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Vice-chairman, LRERE(FEE HTEE)
Executive Director) (Notes (i) & (iii)) (Bt i) X% i) 6/6 1/1 N
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng FEELE
(Executive Director) (Note (iii)) (B77EZE) (B (i) 6/6 N I
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU BEREE
(Non-executive Director) (Note (iv)) GESTTESE) (i v) 6/6 Il 1”1
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Non-executive Director) rEEL A (HHTEE) 6/6 11 11
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director) RMRL L (HHTEE) 5/6 11 0/1
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey Mgk e
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHNTEE) 6/6 11 N
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman TABERAE L
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 5/6 11 1/1
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EERLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 6/6 11 1N
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman HEREE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 6/6 N 1/1
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu has been re-designated from the Chairman to
a Vice-chairman, and Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry has been re-
designated from the Vice-chairman to the Chairman, with effect from
30 November 2021.

(ii) Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick has been appointed as a Vice-chairman with
effect from 30 November 2021.

(iii) Each of Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick and Mr. Lie Ken Jie Remy Anthony Ket
Heng has been re-designated from a non-executive Director to an
executive Director with effect from 30 November 2021.

(iv) Mr. Andrew Wah Wai Chiu has been re-designated from an executive
Director to a non-executive Director with effect from 30 November
2021.

The external auditor attended the annual general meeting
of the Company on 10 June 2021 (the "AGM") to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the independent auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence and the
Chairman also held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors during the year.

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the Listing
Rules. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

€ EEZgW)
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance (Continued)

Each Director (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years and renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years upon expiry of the then current term
of the appointment, unless terminated in accordance with
the terms of his/her letter of appointment. They are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles and the Listing Rules.

Code Provision C.1.6 of the Corporate Governance Code
stipulates that independent non-executive directors and
other non-executive directors, as equal board members,
should give the board and any committees on which they
serve the benefit of their skills, expertise and varied
backgrounds and qualifications through regular
attendance and active participation. Generally, they should
also attend general meetings to gain and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.

On 23 March 2021, Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry (“Dr.
Cheng") as the then Vice-chairman and a non-executive
Director, was unable to attend the general meeting of the
Company held on 23 March 2021 (the "GM") as he had
other engagement at the time of such meeting. Ms. Ng
Yuk Mui Jessica, as a non-executive Director, was unable
to attend the GM because she was unwell on that day.

On 10 June 2021, Dr. Cheng, as the then Vice-chairman
and a non-executive Director, was unable to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 June
2021 as he had other engagement at the time of such
meeting.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Iv.

Director’s Induction and Continuous
Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will be provided with induction
training. Each of them shall receive the information on the
duties and responsibilities of directors under statutory
regulations and the Listing Rules, and other information
on corporate governance matters. The newly appointed
Directors shall meet the fellow Directors and the Senior
Management to ensure they have an understanding on
the Group's operations and business. They shall also
receive materials relating to the operations and business
of the Group.

The Company will arrange for Directors to attend training
sessions and forums which place emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director, as well
as the development of regulatory updates and issues. The
Company will also provide the Directors with the latest
development of the Listing Rules, and the relevant laws,
rules and regulations relating to the Director’s duties and
responsibilities. All Directors had provided their training
records to the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2021 and the training records are maintained
by the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”).

€ EE=g@m)
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

IV. Director’s Induction and Continuous
Professional Development (Continued)

(O EEg2@m)
IV. EEZABRSESERR @)

According to the records of training maintained by the
Company, all the current Directors had, during the
financial year under review, pursued continuous
professional development and relevant details are set out

RIB QR FTRTF O IF IR E% - 10 B BE BT IR
FENMERTESSA2EFERRSR
& ZRHEAEMTIMT

below:

Type of continuous professional
development
REEERR AR

Attending
Reading journals,  seminars and/or
updates and conferences
articles and/or and/or forums
materials, etc.  and/or E-training
MEST - BF  HEWHERS
Bl XER/Z REERTHE
Directors EHEE R/IALE
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry HBRMEL
(Chairman, Non-executive Director) (note (i) (X FERTEE)(HZ0) v/ -
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, NiTEeBmEs
Non-executive Director) (note (i) (BIEfE - EHTEE) (M) v/ -
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Vice-chairman, LLELE(FILE  HITEE)
Executive Director) (notes (i) & (i) (H7E () & (i) v -
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng FEELE
(Executive Director) (note (i) (F7TEE) (7L (i) v/ -
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU EEREL
(Non-executive Director) (note (iv)) (FEBTTEE) (W V) 4 -
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Non-executive Director) — FLEEE L& (FHTEE) v/ -
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director) RIOKLT (Hi7EF) 4 v
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey eSS
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) v v
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman HREERATE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) v/ -
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EHzEE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) v/ -
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BEREE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHNTEE) v v
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ERELSRE

(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu used to serve as the Chairman until he
was re-designated to a Vice-chairman with effect from 30
November 2021. Dr. Cheng was re-designated from the Vice-
chairman to the Chairman with effect from 30 November 2021.

After the year ended 31 December 2021, on 7 March 2022, Mr.
Wong See Yuen was appointed as the chief executive officer of
the Company. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 7 March 2022. Mr. Wong See Yuen is
responsible for the general operations of the Group.

The Board also believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which
comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Under the Articles and the Listing Rules, all Directors are subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting of the Company at
least once every three years and are subject to re-election. The
Board may from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such new
Director shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at such meeting.

The re-election of each of the independent non-executive
Directors who has served on the Board for more than nine years
is subject to (i) a separate resolution to be approved by
Shareholders at the relevant annual general meeting of the
Company; and (ii) further information being given to the
Shareholders together with the notice of meeting regarding the
reasons why the Board believes the relevant Director is still
independent and should be re-elected.

Appropriate liability insurance for the Directors has been
arranged for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate
activities.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES
()  Audit Committee

The Company has set up the audit committee of the
Company (the "AC") with majority of the members being
independent non-executive Directors. As at the date of
this annual report, the AC comprises Mr. Luk Koon Hoo,
Roger (an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the AC), Mr. Hoong Cheong Thard (a non-
executive Director) and Mr. Tang Sing Ming Sherman (an
independent non-executive Director).

No member of the AC is a former partner of the existing
audit firm of the Company during the period of two years
after he ceases to be a partner of the audit firm. All AC
members have sufficient experience in reviewing audited
financial statements as aided by the auditor of the Group
whenever required. In addition, at least one of the
member of the AC has the appropriate professional
qualifications or experience in financial matters as required
under the Listing Rules.

Two AC meetings were held during the financial year
ended 31 December 2021. Attendance records of the AC
members are set out below:

apaganarsn —z=-==% [
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ARBCRIARABREZB G ([EZE
B®]) MEBRIDRBEIIFATES -
RAFHAY BERZEGAKERAE
(BIFATEERERZBEER) 1
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BERFEEERAQARENZEAF
AIEABARBEZZBRARAEAER
EAMERER HEERZBEKE -
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SEOZHBEGE) - W BREZEGE
L—BREFALTRAMERNEE DN
EXRERINM BT EABER -

BHE-_ T -_—F+_-_A=+—BHItHHF
B BRLZEQRITEAMALE  KEN
HE RN T ¢

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HEERN

Committee Members RE,/ EEHE
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger (Chairman) P () 2/2
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard LEEERAE 2/2
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman mERR S A 2/2

(i) The terms of reference of the AC, which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, are aligned with the provisions set out in
the CG Code and the recommendations set out in
“A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Given below are the main duties of
the AC:
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ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(i)

(Continued)

(A)

Relationship with the Company’s
external auditor

(@)

to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of their resignation
or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external
auditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards. The AC should discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

to develop and implement policy
on engaging an external auditor to
provide non-audit services. For this
purpose, “external auditor” includes any
entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the
audit firm or any entity that a reasonable
and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably
conclude to be part of the audit firm
nationally or internationally. The AC
should report to the Board, identifying
and making recommendations on any
matters where action or improvement is
needed.
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ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

(B) Review of financial information of the
Company

(@)

to monitor integrity of financial
statements of the Company and the
Company's annual report and accounts,
half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and to
review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them. In
reviewing these reports before
submission to the Board, the AC should
focus particularly on:

()  any changes in accounting
policies and practices;

(i) major judgmental areas;
(i) significant adjustments resulting
from audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumptions
and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting
standards; and

(vij compliance with the Listing
Rules and legal requirements in
relation to financial reporting.

ESEEBENERAT —E-—F5H E‘

(F) EEZEE @)

) BEXRZEEW@

0 (&)

(B) FHAQARANMBESR

(a)

ERARAPBEHRER LA
REAFEHREREE -+
FERER(FHTE)F
ERENTEN  WEH
BREBEREBERBY T
RINBEANHE - BERE
BEgHEREZERAM
Rk Ko A H R K
EFhENE - BRI
EINTIE

U]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

SRR MEBHE
(CEE &

Wk EEHE e
o

Az#m RN ER

HE

EEFBELENRR

REMFREER

oM eEbeal

8

Pl

ERET AR
ey LR RIS OA R
MIE °



.ﬂ i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2021

Corporate Governance Report

ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) (F) EEZEE® W@
() Audit Committee (Continued) ) BEXRZEESW@
() (Continued) 0 (&
(B) Review of financial information of the (B) FMALQTMHMBER (&)

Company (Continued)
(b)  regarding (B)(a) above: (b)

(i) the AC should liaise with the
Board and senior management
and must meet, at least twice a
year, with the Company’s
external auditor; and

(i) the AC should consider any
significant or unusual items that
are, or may need to be, reflected
in the report and accounts, it
should give due consideration to

wE a)JHME :

i) FEHRREQEESER
gheREEABR
% REEBFAR
DEARR A INERZ
BEIFHEMR « &

(i) BEREREQEEER
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[ R =% 75 2 IR R ) 1E
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any matters that have been MARRFIAEES
raised by the Company’s staff L RmEeE &
responsible for the accounting FEER B Tz
and financial reporting function, BRI SETE o

or for compliance function or

auditors.

(C) Oversight of the Company’s financial Q) EEXRDQTHMBHFRGU
reporting system, and risk REBEBERAPEZRE
management and internal control
systems
(@ to review the Company's risk @ WHAARMERERER

management and internal control
systems covering all controls; including
financial, operational and compliance
controls;
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ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(i)

(Continued)

(@)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

(b)

to discuss the risk management and
internal control systems with
management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to
have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and
budgets of the Company's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting
functions;

to consider major investigation findings
on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the
Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these
findings and review the statements
concerning risk management and
internal control systems to be included
in the annual report;

to ensure co-ordination between the
internal audit function and external
auditor, to review and approve the
annual internal audit plan, to ensure
that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the
Company for it to carry out an analysis
and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control
systems, and to review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal audit
function;
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ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(i)

(Continued)

(@)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

(e)

to review the Group's financial and
accounting policies and practices;

to review the external auditor’s
management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to
management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems
of control and management’s
response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a
timely response to the issues raised in
the external auditor’s management
letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in
the code provisions as set out in the
Listing Rules;

to establish procedures for (i) the
receipt, retention, and treatment of
complaints received by the Company
regarding accounting, internal
accounting controls, or auditing
matters; and (ii) the confidential,
anonymous submission by employees
of the Company of concerns regarding
questionable accounting or auditing
matters;
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eEREIRE
(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued) (F)

() Audit Committee (Continued)
(i) (Continued)

(@)

(D)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

() to review arrangements employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. The
AC should ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

(k) to act as the key representative body
for overseeing the Company’s relations
with the external auditor; and

() to consider other topics, as defined by
the Board.

Review and reassessment of these
terms of reference

At least annually, the AC shall review and
reassess the adequacy of these terms of
reference and recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval.
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ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)
(E) Oversight of the Company’s Corporate
Governance Matters

(@)  to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations
to the Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of
the Directors and Senior Management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees
and the Directors;

(e)  to review the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report as set out
in the annual report of the Company;
and

) to consider other topics, as defined by
the Board.

The Group has adopted and established the
Whistleblowing Policy & Procedures. The AC has the
delegated authority and responsibility, for
employees and those who deal with the Group (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the Head of
Human Resources Department, and any and all
relevant complaints received may then be referred
to the AC about possible improprieties in any matter
related to the Group.
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LRERESE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) (F) EEZES @

() Audit Committee (Continued) ) BERZEES @
(i)~ The work performed by the AC for the financial year (il BERLEEEEE—_ZT-_—F+—-A4
ended 31 December 2021 is summarised below: —t—HIEVBREFEANTERED
™

@  review of the annual audit plan of the external @ MBI ER A AL E MBI
auditor before the audit commences, and R T FEEZTE - KE
discussion with them about the nature and MEZIEE R EE
scope of the audit;

(b) approval of the remuneration and the (b)  HEEINEEAZ BRAD A H B R &
appointment and the terms of engagement FNHE PR
of the external auditor;

(©  review of the external auditor's independence (© IR /2R 5T HNIE X BRD
and objectivity and the effectiveness of audit EEBURBLERIEFRR
process in accordance with applicable B
standards;

(d review of the half-year and annual d HEREESRIFEFEREF
consolidated financial statements of the REBEZRETBHRRAEHE
Group before submission to the Board, with B - WHRFRIEH S 30 ()(B) BRE RS
particular consideration of the points EZZEENSEEBE
mentioned in paragraph (i)(B) above
regarding the duties of the AC;

(e)  review of the internal audit report and annual ) HBIYBEEAIBRIAINETZ
audit plan of the internal audit function DN BEEZRENFERE
carried out by independent professionals; ZEtE

() review of the Group's risk management and f B AERNEREIE &AL

internal control systems and the statements
concerning risk management and internal
control systems to be included in the annual
report;

meeting with the external auditor without
the executive Director present;
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ERELIRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

)

Audit Committee (Continued)
(i) (Continued)
(h)  review of the corporate governance matters
of the Group;

(i) review of the terms of reference of the AC;
and

§) review of and monitoring of the Group's
compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements.

() Compensation Committee

The Company has set up the compensation committee of
the Company (the "CC") consisting of five members of
which three of them are the independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the CC
comprises Mr. Lam Kin Fung Jeffrey (an independent non-
executive Director and the Chairman of the CC), Tan Sri
Dato’ David Chiu (a non-executive Director), Mr. Tsang On
Yip, Patrick (an executive Director), Dr. Hu Shao Ming
Herman (an independent non-executive Director) and Mr.
Luk Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent non-executive
Director).

One CC meeting was held during the financial year ended

31 December 2021. Attendance record of the CC members
is set out below:

Committee Members
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Number of
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HEERN
RE EEYE

Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey (Chairman) M LA (E/E) /1
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU R EBES 0/1
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick BREELE 11
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman tABERRIE 0/1
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EE=EE il
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ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
(I) Compensation Committee (Continued)

0]

The terms of reference of the CC, which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, are aligned with the provisions set out in
the CG Code. Given below are the main duties of
the CC:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration, and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management'’s
remuneration proposals by reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives;

either:

()  to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive
Directors and Senior Management; or

(i) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and
Senior Management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;
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ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
(I) Compensation Committee (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

)

to review and approve compensation payable
to executive Directors and Senior
Management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of their
associates is involved in deciding that
Director's own remuneration;

to advise the shareholders on how to vote
with respect to any service contracts of
Directors that require the shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules;

to decide with respect to the employee share
option scheme:

(i) the Employees to whom options shall
be granted;

(i) the number of shares subject to each
option;

(i)  the date on which options shall be
granted; and

(iv)  the subscription price; and

to review any compensation related or other
issues as requested by the Board.

(F) EEZES @
nm FHEEE @

(i)

(&)
)

A RIERRTEERSR
BEABXNERERSIK L
BB EEMAINOEEE
AR % B REE B A KRR —
B ABBBEEREESOK
B AIMVARFAEE - T
B%

B R ERERTRREM
REXRREBBESTMI LD
FRERE UBRZERHE
BHGR B BEARRHR
REEAOER B RITAAR
BEE

BREFNESSHETABEA
TR2EBITEFEAHHFIH

A B R 2 38 i R s AR AT 2R R 1B
EHRABGRRILENES
ARFE B KBETTROR -

s B TR R 8T -

() FEERBBENET:

(i) FREIERBE IR B

g

(i) REFBEOEH &

(v) RHBE: &

HEEF S 2R Mt T M
HHRASK E bR



Corporate Governance Report

ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)

()]

(1

Compensation Committee (Continued)

(i) The work performed by the CC, which has the
delegated authority and responsibility, for the
financial year ended 31 December 2021 is
summarised below:

(@)  review of the Company's policy and structure
for all remuneration of Directors and the
Senior Management;

(b)  assess performance of the executive Director
and the consideration and approval of the
emoluments for all the Directors and the
Senior Management;

() make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Directors
and Senior Management; and

(d)  review of the terms of reference of CC.

The basis of determining the emoluments payable to its
Directors and the Senior Management is with reference to
their qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities
with the Group, as well as the Group's performance and
the prevailing market conditions.

Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the nomination committee of
the Company (the “NC") which requires the majority of its
of its members to be independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the NC
comprises Dr. Hu Shao Ming Herman (an independent
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the NC), Mr.
Lam Kin Fung Jeffrey (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent
non-executive Director).
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ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
(1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

(F) EEZEE @)
(m REZES @

At present, more than one-third of the Directors on the
Board are the independent non-executive Directors. They
represent diverse career experience in both international
and local enterprises. They bring with them diverse
professional backgrounds, spanning property
development and investment, banking, legal, valuation
and advisory, hospitality and entrepreneurship. They also
hold or have held important public service positions in
Hong Kong and China, covering business, industry and
commerce, sports, education, regulatory and politics.

The Board composition reflects various cultural and
educational backgrounds, professional development,
length of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad
range of individual attributes, interests and values. The NC
considers the current Board composition has provided the
Company with a good balance and diversity of skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of its business.
The NC will continue to review its composition from time
to time taking into consideration specific needs for the
Group's business.

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Process
and Selection Criteria of the Company (the “Nomination
Policy”), which aims to set out the relevant selection
criteria and nomination procedures to assist the NC and
the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to the
requirement of the Group's businesses. A summary of the
Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1.  Criteria

The NC and the Board shall consider the following
criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

Characteristics of individual director including
integrity and accountability, informed
judgment, prudence and maturity (being able
to engage in constructive debate and give
independent opinions), principled and
professional and other characteristics as the
NC deems appropriate);
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ERELSRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
() Nomination Committee (Continued)
1.  Criteria (Continued)

Competencies in the areas including
accounting and finance, law, industry
knowledge, marketing and competencies as
the NC deems appropriate to ensure the
Board's overall suitability;

The structure, size and composition of the
Board;

The appropriate mix of competencies
between Directors to enable the Board to
discharge its responsibilities effectively;

The appropriate balance of skills, experience,
knowledge, expertise and diversity of the
Board is maintained, and the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) adopted
by the Board is followed;

The capability of the candidate to devote the
necessary time and commitment to the role.
This involves a consideration of other
commitments including matters such as
other board or executive appointments; and

The potential conflicts of interest, and
independence.

The NC shall also consider the requirement for the Board
to have independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules and such other perspectives that are
appropriate to our Company'’s business and succession
plan and where applicable, may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the NC from time to time
for nomination of directors and succession planning.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
(1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

2,

Nomination Procedures

The NC or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship.

If more than one candidate are nominated by
the NC, the NC shall base on the criteria (as
set out in section 1 above) and recommend
the most competent candidate to the Board
(where applicable).

The NC shall also consider the number of
board positions they hold in other firms.

The NC shall engage external consultants
where necessary to assist in the selection
process of suitable candidates.

After the NC reviewed and considered the
candidates, the NC makes recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to
implement the Company’s corporate
strategy.

For any person that is nominated by a
Shareholder for election as a director at the
general meeting of the Company, the NC and
the Board shall evaluate such candidate.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
(1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. Under
the Board Diversity Policy, the Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board with a
vision for the Company to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board and the NC has developed
the measurable objectives to implement this Policy, taking
into account the factors based on the business model of
the Company and specific needs from time to time. In
achieving the board diversity, a number of factors,
including but not limited to, cultural and educational
background, gender, ethnicity, age, skills, knowledge,
experience and length of service and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
time to time taking into account the Company’s business
model and specific needs, are considered. All the Board
appointments are made on merits while having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The NC will review the Board Diversity Policy annually to
ensure its effectiveness, and recommend any appropriate
revisions to ensure it remains relevant to the Company's
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practices.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
(111) Nomination Committee (Continued)
Diversity Mix
As at 31 December 2021, the Board consists of 11 Directors
and the Board composition is as below:

(F) EEZEE @)
(m REZEES =

ZriEs
R-ZZE_—F+-_A=+—HB E=g8
B+—2EF EFEKWT

Number of Directors
EEAY
[l Over 70 Over 10 years
HBHR 70 5% BIBI10F
10
6-10 years
9 6E 104
NED
8 61-70
61 & 7075%
7
Male
6 S
ED
5 51-60
51Z605% 0-5 years
4 0E5F
3 41-50
41 E507%
INED
2
1 Female 31-40
g3 31 B 405%
Designation Gender Age Board Tenure
BE 4 5l FiR EESEH
ED : Executive Director ED : WITEE
NED Non-executive Director NED : EMITES
INED Independent Non-executive Director INED : B IEHITES

Biographical details of the Directors, including details of
their skills and experience are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. The Group sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in attaining its strategy and achieving sustainable
and balanced development of the Group, and will
continue to further enhance board diversity while
maintaining an appropriate balance between continuity
of experience and Board refreshment.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
(1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

The terms of reference of the NC, which are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, are
aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code. Given
below are the main duties of the NC:

(@)  toreview the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

(b)  toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

(0 to assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the chief executive; and

(e)  to develop and maintain a board diversity policy
and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board, as appropriate, to ensure it
remains relevant to the Company’s needs and
reflects the current regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practices and to
making disclosure of its review results in the
Corporate Governance Report annually.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) (F) EEZEE®W)
(1) Nomination Committee (Continued) (m RE|ZEZ @
The work performed by the NC, which has the delegated HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLEHHRTF
authority and responsibility, for the financial year ended 31 E RRLECRERESMETANLIE
December 2021 is summarised below: MENT
(@) review of the Board Diversity Policy; @ ®BICEEEHELZITEBE):
(b)  review of the terms of reference of NC; b BIRFRZESHRESRE
(©  review of the structure, size and composition of the © RB(EFEXREZITIEBE)NE
Board taking into account the Board Diversity Policy MTIHRTEETS2EE - BERA
and make recommendations on any proposed Ko WEMEESREEHRHE
changes to the Board; N
(d)  assess the independence of the independent non- d FHHBUIERITEST BN K

executive Directors; and

€ HMRERBEHZEEFAEFSRLE

(e)  make recommendations to the Board for the re- BT EEAREAFAS FNE
appointment of Directors standing for re-election at FE#®-
the AGM.
One NC meeting was held during the financial year ended HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLBHKF
31 December 2021. Attendance record of the NC ERAZSRIT—KIEREECLRE - IREER
members is set out below: BEKEMEFEREEETImT
Attendance/
Number of
Meeting
HERE
Committee Members = eR8E
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman (Chairman) e HABERRIE & () i 0/0
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Chairman)e®? HNETReBRES ()M 1/1
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey ISR A 1/1
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger PEEIR ST AE Il
Notes: Bz
1. Dr. Hu Shao Ming Herman was appointed as the chairman and a 7 PRER R R (F Al EEe T EHFE &
member of the NC with effect from 30 November 2021. S E - — AN
2. Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu ceased to act as the chairman and a member 2 BB EEfiE S N EIELIESES e T /EHEA

of the NC with effect from 30 November 2021. B H-E——F+— =AML
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(F)

(G)

(H)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(IV) Corporate Governance Functions

While the Board is and remains to be principally
responsible for the corporate governance functions of the
Company, it has delegated the relevant duties to the AC
to ensure the proper performance of corporate
governance functions of the Company. In this connection,
the terms of reference of the AC include various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set
out in paragraph “(E) Oversight of the Company's
Corporate Governance Matters” on page 72 under sub-
section “(I) Audit Committee” of section “(F) BOARD
COMMITTEES” above.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit services for the financial year
ended 31 December 2021 provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
the external auditor of the Company, amounted to approximately
HKS$2,560,000 and the remuneration in relation to non-audit
services, mainly included tax compliance services and other
compliance services, paid or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers
amounted to approximately HK$819,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

() Risk Governance

The risk management and internal control systems (the
"RM&IC Systems”) of the Group comprise a well-defined
governance structure, with areas of responsibility and
limits of authority of each business and operational unit
clearly delineated to ensure effective checks and balances.
Internal control policies, procedures and guidelines have
been compiled to safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, to maintain of proper records, to assure
of the reliability of financial information for internal use or
publication and to comply with relevant legislation and
regulations.
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(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

(I)

Risk Governance (Continued)

The Board acknowledges its ultimate responsibility to
oversee internal control systems, to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving strategic objectives and for maintaining
the RM&IC Systems as well as to monitor their
effectiveness. The management is tasked with the design,
implementation and monitoring of the systems. The AC
has been delegated by the Board to oversee the systems
and is supported by independent professionals to perform
the internal audit function, which provides assessment on
risk and internal control oversight.

The internal audit function monitors compliance with
policies and standards and carries out an analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the RM&IC Systems across the Group. Findings
regarding risk management and internal control matters
are reported to the AC, in line with the annual audit plan
reviewed by the AC, and communicated to the business
or corporate units concerned.

Notwithstanding the above, the RM&IC Systems are
designed to manage the risk rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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ERELSRE

(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

(m

Risk Management Processes and Practices

The management maintains a risk register to identify
major risks, which are then categorised into business risks,
financial risks, compliance risks, operational risks and other
risks. The risks identified are evaluated in terms of
individual likelihood of occurrence, severity of
consequence, priority and the existence of early warning
signal. Based on the results of the assessment, the
management will determine the appropriate risk response:
acceptance, transfer, elimination, reduction or sharing, and
formulate corresponding control activities and mitigation
measures. The risk profile will be reviewed and the risk
register will be updated on an ongoing basis to
incorporate any change in the nature and extent of
significant risks. Internal control deficiencies, if any, are
communicated to the responsible parties for taking
corrective action.

The AC, through independent professionals to perform the
internal audit function, conducts annual review of the
effectiveness of the RM&IC Systems and procedures, on a
rotation of different cycles basis, covering all controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, by
way of the above risk identification and assessment exercise.
Confirmations from the management, in the form of
certification that the risk management and internal control
procedures are functioning effectively to meet the
respective financial reporting, operational and compliance
needs, is obtained from business and corporate unit heads.

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal
control element, a disclosure policy of inside information
providing guidance on reporting and dissemination of
inside information and preservation of confidentiality. Under
the policy, Directors or heads of business units shall report
to the Chairman/the Chief Financial Officer for any
potential/suspected inside information event as soon as
practicable when it materialises for determining the nature
of developments, and if required, making disclosure. All staff
are also required to observe the code of ethical standards to
keep non-public information confidential.

ERRBBNERAA

—Eo—EER

(H) EkEERABEE @
I EREEREFRER

EREET —HREKRERZM - AAEE
KRS - 4% E KR ’iEﬁE’E% REEE
PEkE - aRER - EERRNKEMR
% o B 3Bl B B B iR (E Bl B A MY AT RE M -
BROBEEE - BERAFERERFERE
Xﬂfﬁﬁ”—r’ﬁ c EREeRETGHERED

EEYE BXER - @RER - HERE

PR REBR S o R - A6 ETHEE R
T R ERIEN - EEESRERTER
MR mETEEFRREEM AR
EAEREEREENESHGHRAZTE
fitt o MEPEEIEINE EELL - AleEER
BEMET  RKEYSIETE -

ERZECERBEIYEEATEBRAN
BITARE T BE - W R B R R AR
ERZGMEFHRNEEFIERRT - B
el bRk ER RE e T &
BREMETENER  BIEFFEEE
BEERREHEZE - ZEeMEBRDE
X¥ENVIENSEREUZE T A ERE
MERBRABEERFITZ2BER M
THiESR EEBRAREE -

RERER  AF ERRTEREAR
HEEREERERERN  AEENA
MEZEREB(ABHEERERE) - BER
REBEBARBEBMRTREMIES - £ZK
KT EFHEBEMTEWHRBREEM
\}%E/%ifﬁlﬁﬂ%ﬁE'%{fF AEERATT
BRTHBREIE B EEER - A
m%ﬁ@éfﬂﬁl’_{g REABEREL T
BB I MABT(RTIRESAD
?IﬂE FERHRE -



i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2021

Corporate Governance Report

ERELSRE

(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

)

CONTROLS (Continued)
() Periodical Reviews

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the AC through
the independent professionals to perform the internal
audit function, had conducted review of the RM&IC
Systems on behalf of the Board, including the adequacy
of, inter alia, resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions. Written management confirmation on the
effectiveness of the RM&IC Systems has been received.

The results of the review were reported by the AC to the
Board, based on which the Directors concluded that, for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the RM&IC
Systems and procedures of the Group were effective and
adequate. The Group has complied with the provisions in
the CG Code regarding the risk management and internal
control systems.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2021, which give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as a whole as at
the end of the financial year and of the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended and in
compliance with the requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “CO") and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

The reporting responsibilities of the auditor of the Company in
the Independent Auditor’s Report are set out on pages 127 to
140 of this annual report.
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0))

(K)

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Kwok Chi Kin (“Mr. Kwok"), is an
employee of the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company's affairs. He reports to the Chairman and is responsible
for advising the Board on corporate governance matters and
facilitating induction and professional development of the
Directors. He also supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow and that the policies and procedures adopted
by the Board are followed. During the financial year ended 31
December 2021, he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training. The biographical details of Mr. Kwok are set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” section of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

A Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted by the
Company to ensure that the Shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including its financial
performance, strategic goals and plans, material developments,
governance and risk profile), in order to enable the Shareholders
to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow the
Shareholders and the investment community to engage actively
with the Company.

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities. Annual and interim reports are published/printed and
printed copies of such reports or notifications of publication thereof
on the Company’s website are sent to all Shareholders. Such reports
and press releases are posted and are available for download at the
Company’s corporate website (www.i-cablecomm.com). In addition,
the Company makes full use of the internet to make information
broadly available to the Shareholders. The Company’s website
provides the relevant contact information by which enquiries may
be put to the Board. Constantly being updated in a timely manner,
the website also contains a wide range of additional information on
the Group's business activities.

The Company encourages its Shareholders to attend and
participate in the annual general meetings of the Company to
ensure a high level of accountability and to stay informed of the
Group's strategy and goals. The Directors and the external
auditor are also available to answer the Shareholders’ questions
at the meetings.
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(L) SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

)

(m

(1)

Convene a General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 566 of the CO, on written requisition
by the Shareholders representing at least 5% of the total
voting rights of all Shareholders having a right to vote at
general meetings, the Directors must convene a general
meeting.

Send Enquiries to the Board

The Company’s corporate website (www.i-cablecomm.
com) provides the relevant contact information (for
enquiry purpose only) by which Shareholders may at any
time address their enquiries to the Board.

Make Proposals at General Meetings

() The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for
election as Director(s) at a Shareholders’ meeting
are set out in the Corporate Information section of
the Company’s corporate website.

(i) The procedures for proposing resolution(s) to be
moved at the Company’s annual general meeting(s)
are as follows:

Pursuant to Section 615 of the CO, the
Shareholder(s) can submit a written requisition to
move a resolution at the Company’s annual general
meeting(s) if they represent:

at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders who have a right to vote at the
annual general meeting to which the
requests relate; or

at least 50 members who have a right to vote
on the resolution at the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate.
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(L) SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

(M)

(1) Make Proposals at General Meetings
(Continued)

(i) (Continued)
The relevant written requisition must:

(@)  identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given;

(b)  be authenticated by the person or persons
making it; and

(c)  be received by the Company not later than 6
weeks before the relevant annual general
meeting to which the requests relate; or if
later, the time at which notice is given of that
meeting.

Any written requisitions from the Shareholders to the Company
pursuant to Sections 566 and 615 of the CO must be deposited
at the Company’s registered office.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy (the "Dividend Policy”).
Under the Dividend Policy, the Board may from time to time pay
to the Shareholders annual dividends, if any, on the outstanding
ordinary Shares declared by and subject to the discretion of the
Board and must be approved at a general meeting of the
Shareholders. In addition, the Board may from time to time pay
to the Shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the
Board to be justified, both annual dividends and interim
dividends shall not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board, in accordance with the provision of the Articles and the
CO.

The Board may only consider to make a distribution if the
amount of the Company’s net assets is not less than the
aggregate of the Company’s called up share capital and
undistributable reserves; and to the extent that, the distribution
does not reduce the amount of those assets to an amount less
than the aggregate of the Company'’s called up share capital and
undistributable reserves.
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(M) DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

(N)

The Board shall consider, including but not limited to, the
following factors before the declaration and payment of
dividends:

(@)  the Group's results of operations;

(b)  the earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(c)  the Group's actual and expected financial performance
and conditions and liquidity position;

(d)  the Shareholders’ interests;

(e)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group's lenders;

() the Group's expected working capital requirements,
surplus and future expansion plans;

(g)  contractual, statutory and regulatory restrictions;

(h)  general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have any impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company;
and

(i) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
the Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The Board will
continue to review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Dividend Policy from time to time.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2021. The
consolidated version of the Articles is available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Report of the Directors
EREHREE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial
year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year is provided in
the sections headed “"Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 6 of this
annual report, “Business Review” on pages 7 to 16 of this annual report
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 40 to 55 of this
annual report. The principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces are
contained in the section headed “Business Review" on page 16 of this
annual report and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report. The future development of the business of the
Group is provided in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets”
and "Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook” on pages 51 to
55 of this annual report.

In addition, discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with the relevant laws and regulations and
an account of the Group's key relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers are contained under the section headed
"Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 17 to 39 of
this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 141 to
142 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HKSNil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2021:

The aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group's five
largest customers represented less than 30% of the Group's total
revenue for the year.

The percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 10%
and 32%, respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors nor their respective close associates holds, nor
does any Shareholder owning (to the knowledge of the Directors)
more than 5% of the total number of issued Shares hold, any interests
in any of the Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 251 to 252 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

BANK LOAN AND OTHER BORROWING

Details of the bank loan and other borrowing of the Group as at 31
December 2021 including interest-bearing borrowing and convertible
bonds are set out in Notes 24 and 25 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Shares issued and the movements in the share capital of
the Company during the year are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Details of the
information in relation to the use of proceeds raised from the issuance
of the 2021 LCS are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure” on pages 42 to 49 of this Annual Report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below and the issuance of the 2019 LCS and the 2021
LCS disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — The 2019 LCS and The 2021 LCS" and Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Group during the financial year or
subsisted at the end of the financial year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of reserves of the
Company available for distribution to equity Shareholders, as calculated
under the provisions of Part 6 of the CO, was HKSNil (2020: HKSNil).

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Gam, Ggs (Chairman, Non-executive Director)
(Note (i)
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, Non-executive Director) (Note (i)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Vice-chairman, Executive Director)
(Notes (i) & (iii))
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng (Executive Director) (Note (iii))
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU (Non-executive Director) (Note (iv))
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Non-executive Director)
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director)
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey Gss, s (Independent non-executive Director)
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman sss, Jp (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger 88s, Jp (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman (Independent non-executive Director)

Notes:

(i) Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu has been re-designated from the Chairman to a Vice-chairman,
and Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry has been re-designated from the Vice-chairman to the
Chairman, with effect from 30 November 2021.

(ii) Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick has been appointed as a Vice-chairman with effect from 30

November 2021.

(iii) Each of Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick and Mr. Lie Ken Jie Remy Anthony Ket Heng has been
re-designated from a non-executive Director to an executive Director with effect from 30
November 2021.

(iv) Mr. Andrew Wah Wai Chiu has been re-designated from an executive Director to a non-
executive Director with effect from 30 November 2021.
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

In accordance with Article 106(A) of the Articles, Tan Sri Dato’ David
CHIU, Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick, Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU and Mr.
HOONG Cheong Thard will retire from the Board by rotation and being
eligible and shall offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. None of the retiring Directors proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

Biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 113 to 126 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The names of all persons who, during the financial year and up to the
date of this report, serve as directors of the companies included as
subsidiaries of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2021 are set out below:

Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU
Ms. CEN Li Yan

Ms. CHAN Man Yee Fiona
Mr. CHAN Wai Man

Mr. FUNG Tak Hung William
Ms. LAU Pui Ching

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng
Ms. NG Ching Man Carman
Mr. POON Wai Lam William
Mr. SHUEN Wai Hung

Ms. SUEN Chung Yan Julia
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
Mr. WONG Hei Pui

Ms. WONG Pui Chee Gigi
Mr. WONG See Yuen

Mr. YIP Yiu Chung
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company received from each of Mr. Lam Kin Fung Jeffrey, Dr. Hu
Shao Ming Herman, Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Roger and Mr. Tang Sing Ming
Sherman a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a initial term of three years and
renewable automatically for successive terms of three years upon
expiry of the then current term of the appointment, subject to his/her
retirement and re-election at the annual general meeting in
accordance with the Company’s Articles. The details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors are disclosed in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

None of the Directors had service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or associated companies (i) which were continuous
contracts with a notice period of 12 months or more; (ii) which were
fixed term contracts with more than 12 months to run irrespective of
the notice period; or (iii) which were not expiring or determinable by
the employer within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong (the "SFO")), which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)
Long position in Shares

Name of Shareholder

ZEEEEER

Dr. Cheng Kar Shun, Henry 63,785,600 10,568,899,364

(Note 1) (Note 2)

BRMAE LT (K1) (Kizt2)
Notes: Bat

EENBHE2ERZ@®
B zHE

Number of Shares

BRHEE

Interest of

a controlled

Beneficial owner

This represents the Share Options held by Dr. Cheng as stated in the paragraph headed
“Long position in underlying Shares — Share Options — Share Options granted to the
Directors” below.

On 30 September 2021, Celestial Pioneer (which has been wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng
and which then held 31.5% interest in Forever Top) entered into separate agreements
with Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu and Profit Surge Investments Limited to conditionally
acquire, in aggregate, their 40.5% interests in Forever Top. Upon completion of such
acquisitions on 24 January 2022, Celestial Pioneer holds 72.0% interest in Forever Top.
For details, please refer to the joint announcements of the Company and Celestial
Pioneer dated 9 November 2021, 24 November 2021, 23 December 2021 and 24 January
2022. Accordingly, both Celestial Pioneer and Forever Top are controlled corporations of
Dr. Cheng. Forever Top was interested in 10,568,899,364 Shares, which represent (i)
3,083,722,894 Shares owned by Forever Top; (ii) 4,544,000,000 new Shares to be issued by
the Company upon full exercise of the conversion rights under the 2019 LCS, and (i)
2,941,176,470 new Shares to be issued by the Company upon full exercise of the
conversion rights under the 2021 LCS. Therefore, Dr. Cheng was deemed to be interested
in such 10,568,899,364 Shares under the SFO.

corporation

Approximate

percentage of

the total
number of
issued Shares
HEBRITRG
A2 BA
BOL

Other interest

- 10,632,684,964 149.03%

ZER [RERBR Y — BRENIR — RTEFNBRE] —
ALY [E] —FEARKE o

RZ-ZZFE-—F N H=+H - Celestial Pioneer (1 E5{E+ 2 EHH
R & Bt KA 31.5% 8w ) 55 5l ELFTHT E 2 B A8 % 5 & Profit
Surge Investments Limited 5137 135% + B 1§ 1F I IE R Z R K FHE
H405% s - BEMBR-_FT-_—F—A=-+MAAZHKE

Celestial Pioneer#% 7 7K F 72.0% #E 25 - F 1§ & 2 f§ 7K 1 7] 42
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

Long position in underlying Shares — Share
Options
Share Options granted to the Directors

apapanaRsn —2=-=54% [CRL

BEENRF2EZ@
REERD —BRENGFE

RTESNBERE

Number of Shares issuable under the Share Options granted

BEFRLBRETRTNRAHE

Balance
asat

1 January
2021

Exercisable
period

Date
of grant

RZB=-§

-A-H
e

Granted
during
the year

RER
R

Balance
asat

31 December
2021

Adjusted
exercise
price

per Share

Cancelled
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

Lapsed
during
the year

RER RERA
fife %R

RER
H#

=t-
1S

BRERR
i@

(! 0))

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 63,785,600 - - - - 63,785,600 0.204
gxaET ZE-\FRATER (Hi#1)
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU 15June 2018 (Note 1) 63,785,600 - - - - 63,785,600 0.204
RHE2BHES ZE-\§xATRE (H#1)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 27,006,000 - - - - 27,006,000 0.204
5SS “T-\ERATRR (1)
Mr. LIEKEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 3,600,800 - - - - 3,600,800 0.204
FRERE ZE-\FRATERE (Hi#1)
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 36522400 - - - - 36,522,400 0204
BERRE ZE-\§xATRE  (H#1)
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard 15 June 2018 (Note T) 27,006,000 - - - - 27,006,000 0.204
R “T-\ERATRR (W)
221706400 - - - - 21706400
Notes: Htat -
(1) 50% of the Share Options are exercisable from 15 June 2018 to 14 June 2028 (both dates (1) S0%BVBRER —E—N\FNA+HEAZ=FE=-\FNA+T
inclusive); and 50% of the Share Options are exercisable from 15 June 2019 to 14 June H(B#EEEMA) A FITE : K 50%BERER =T —NFN
2028 (both dates inclusive). A+HEAZ=FE-N\FNA+HA (BEEREMNH) A TITE -
) The exercise price per Share payable upon exercise of the outstanding Share Options granted — (2) TTIEIRIERE R 1E AT BB IR A TTIEERIEET 2 FR7TIE(E
under the Share Option Scheme was adjusted from HK$0.210 to HK$0.204 as a result of the B ERR 02108 THE 02048 T o AEFHBHRAELD
Rights Issue. Details of the adjustments were set out in the announcement of the Company FHAR=E—NFNA=ZHBRE ©
dated 3 June 2019.
3) The closing price per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock — (3) BRI BT H 325 BT 8 0 IR 17 X R B AR HE 4 141 B B BT B e i
Exchange immediately before the date on which the Share Options were granted was BARR0.1555TT »
HKS0.155.
“) The cash consideration paid by each of the Directors for the grant of Share Options was (4 EEERERERES TR E2AES1.008T -
HKS1.00.
(5) All outstanding Share Options were automatically lapsed upon the close of the share (5) FrBERTIEERER —FE - —F=HA=HARMHBLREREE

offer and the option offer on 3 March 2022. For details of such offers, please refer to the
composite offer and response document dated 27 January 2022 jointly despatched by
Celestial Pioneer and the Company (the “Composite Document”) and the joint
announcement issued by Celestial Pioneer and the Company dated 3 March 2022 (the
“Joint Announcement”).

HIE 1 BF B B KR o 51 78 2 [#] Celestial Pioneer B3 7K 73 B] B &
FEARE T —F— A1 +tAMER B R EX T
([454 X1 ]) J Celestial Pioneer 8278 2\ G %4 A B 5 — T = —
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN T EJRENE . SR
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2021, so faras is knownto R FXIEBEEIN R-ZE-—F+-A=+—0 " 5
the Directors or chief executives of the Company, the Company had ~ #E = st AN A RFTEBEFTA - A A B EEEA A
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief  + (BB AN A TITHAZ GIN) e ERRMD A
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the B {5 R A BIRIEBE LS R EEAEXNVIEIRES
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the D EFRIIEXBRA R B HRBENERTOAR » HIBEE
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the % & EA & {500 55 336 (6B A AR A B 1F B B & i i AT ad 8%
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the  BJREZRSA B °

Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the shares of the Company (the RAEATRG (TRED) 2HFR

“Shares”)
Number of Shares
RBEA
Approximate
percentage of
Interest of the total
a controlled number of
Name of Shareholder Beneficial owner  Spouse interest corporation Other interest issued Shares
HE BTG
By B
RREE, BB BiffkE SEAZEER E BOk
Celestial Pioneer Limited - - 10,568,899,364 - 10,568,899,364 148.14%
("Celestial Pioneer”) (Note 1)
Celestial Pioneer Limited (Hiat1)

([ Celestial Pioneer |)

Forever Top (Asia) Limited 10,568,899,364 - - - 10,568,899,364 148.14%
(Note 1)
KA (M) BRAR (Htat1)
Mr.NG Hung Sang 156,169,500 98,502,500 464,376,000 - 719,048,000 10.08%
(Note 2) (Note 3)
REERE (Ht:2) (W% 3)
Ms. NG Lai King Pamela 98,502,500 620,545,500 - - 719,048,000 10.08%
(Note 4)
RERZT (Hfit4)
South China Securities Limited 463,000,000 - - - 463,000,000 6.49%
(Note 3)

HERBFRBARAH (HiE3)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

Long positions in the shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) (Continued)

Notes:

1. These 10,568,899,364 Shares represent (i) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned by Forever Top; (ii)
4,544,000,000 new Shares to be issued by the Company upon full exercise of the
conversion rights under the 2019 LCS; and (iii) 2,941,176,470 new Shares to be issued by
the Company upon full exercise of the conversion rights under the 2021 LCS. On 30
September 2021, Celestial Pioneer (which has been wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng and
which then held 31.5% interest in Forever Top) entered into separate agreements with
Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu and Profit Surge Investments Limited to conditionally acquire,
in aggregate, their 40.5% interests in Forever Top. Upon completion of such acquisitions
on 24 January 2022, Celestial Pioneer holds 72.0% interest in Forever Top, and is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the interests held by Forever Top under the SFO.
Accordingly, both Celestial Pioneer and Forever Top are controlled corporations of Dr.
Cheng, and Dr. Cheng was therefore deemed to be interested in these 10,568,899,364
Shares under the SFO. For details of Dr. Cheng'’s interests in the Shares, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Directors’ Interests in Securities” above.

2. Mr. Ng Hung Sang, the spouse of Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela, was deemed to be interested
in 98,502,500 Shares which Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela was interested in under the SFO.

3. Mr. Ng Hung Sang was deemed to be interested in 464,376,000 Shares which his
controlled corporations are interested in under the SFO. South China Finance and
Management Limited directly held 1,376,000 Shares, while South China Securities
Limited directly held 463,000,000 Shares. Both of these companies were wholly-owned
by South China Financial Holdings Limited. Based on the information available to the
Company, South China Financial Holdings Limited was held as to approximately 29.36%
by Mr. Ng Hung Sang, among which approximately 25.66% was held through his
wholly-owned corporations, while according to publicly available information,
approximately 3.70% was held by him as beneficial owner.

4. Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela, the spouse of Mr. Ng Hung Sang, was deemed to be interested
in 620,545,500 Shares which Mr. Ng Hung Sang was interested in under the SFO.

DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED

On 4 June 2019, the Company issued the 2019 LCS with the principal
amount of HK$568 million to the Controlling Shareholder. As at 31
December 2021, none of the 2019 LCS was converted.

On 31 March 2021, the Company issued the 2021 LCS with the
principal amount of HK$200 million to the Controlling Shareholder. As
at 31 December 2021, none of the 2021 LCS was converted.

ERRBBNERAA

FERRNE S 2EDRE)
RAEQTRG ([BRE]) 2FR @

Bt

1. %E10,568899,364 /8 R 17 15 « () K HHHEH #93,083,722,894 /8 - 17
(i) REBEBTTIE =T — N F R B JRARE 58 T 19 58 1R 1R KA 1
A #5 T 87T #94,544,000000 IR FTIR 17+ R (i REBEHITIE=F
I FRHABREFBE T LIREERNRA NG T ETH
2,941,176470 R FTHE 17 e R=F = —F /LA =+ H * Celestial
Pioneer ([ EF18 + 2 BHEH R & I F K H 31.5% B m ) 7 5l £
FHETE 2 BB S K Profit Surge Investments Limited 5717 175
BIEMH B SRR A B H405% 1% - BERBER=-F ==
F—F =+ HTHK & » Celestial Pioneer#5 B 7K F72.0% # s
Ft - IREFEHFREED  BWEABRKA G2
BB o EUE - Celestial Pioneer % 5k 15 /5 B8 1% + £ 5% #5¢
FEE - FUE - RIZFFRBAEIRG - BB HEBREZE
10568899364 IR R 17 HE B #E 25 ° B IE T RIR 7 o 5
& AR EX [EFREZRZEw] — K-

2 RBAESEEBRERLTHING  IRIFFESFREIRG] - AR
BRR BRI IRHE P 1 798,502,500 iREZ 17 F IR 1w ©

3 RIZFE SRR IEH] - RIBAESEEWEBRE LG LEIES
HE a5, 464,376,000 [RIR 1 H B - HEMBREEFR L
B EEFFH 1,376000 KA1 + MEEEFREBR A EIRIEE
#55 463,000,000 IRAR (7 ° RIEI 2 A1 ¥ 1 2 % G 1E IR B IR 22 7]
2B - RIEARAIAEEN  AELBIZRERAGZA
2936%RIEHRIBESEIGH  BEH2566% 7 HEBAEELE
HHZEEFE - MIRIERAEEFATT - 59M93.70% R 1ETH
HEEABEREAATEE °

4, REFLTRRBEELLEZINE  REEZFFRBLIEH - B
R BRR B S LB HE 25 4 620,545,500 IR AR 17 R HE B HE 25 ©

MAEABREHERTE—ZE—NAFRET
BEREFR_ZE-_—FREATHBRRIES
HROHWEBERE

N-ZZ—AFNAMNA  AABAERKERETARE
F4/5568,000,0008 T —E— N ERHATBRKES - B
—E-—F4+ZA=1+—H8 HME-_ZT-AFEH
BB FE H R o

MRZZE-—FZA=+—H  KQRAERKERET
7K 4 88 4 200,000,0008 TR —E = —F R HEI AT AR 7
b M- E-_—F+-_A=+-—H HE-_FT-_—F
RAFAT AR B HIE IR o
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DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED (cContinued)

The following table sets out, for illustrative purpose only, the dilutive
impact on the then total number of issued Shares and the
shareholding of the substantial shareholder (which has the meaning
ascribed to it under the Listing Rules) of the Company as at 31
December 2021, assuming (i) 4,544,000,000 Shares were issued upon
full conversion of the outstanding 2019 LCS on 31 December 2021 at
the conversion price of HK$0.125 per conversion share, (ii)
2,941,176,470 Shares were issued upon full conversion of the
outstanding 2021 LCS on 31 December 2021 at the conversion price of
HK$0.068 per conversion share, and (iii) that there were no other
changes to the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2021:

As at 31 December 2021

R=B=—%+=A=+-H

Approximate

MABREHERTEFE—NLFRHH
#&%#&_EZ—EE%Tﬁﬁﬁé
HRONWEEEE @)
TRAISHE(EEGZB)BREOR _ZE=_—F+=A
St HBRATE_ZE-AERPUHBRESZ LS
BEERLBERBILEBELRBELBRED 1T
4,544,0000000% %15 © (VR =—E=-——F+=-A=+—H
MATE S —FROTRBREFZLRETRL
B 17 0.068 7 TT 7E HUR R 18 B 8517 2,941,176,470 i% &
B RiNBEE_E_—F+_A=+—BHLFEAR
AIRABEAMER YR T —F+=A=+—
HEREETHROBEERARTEERE (B EMHAL
Pz RE) RENE S E

=

Immediately upon full conversion of
the 2019 LCS and 2021 LCS
ERE-Z-NEFRETERESR
“EC-ERPTARESTHRRE

Approximate

percentage of the percentage of the

Number of total number of Number of total number of

Shareholders issued Shares issued Shares issued Shares issued Shares
BRT HERTRE BRT HERITREG

i &R HYBMAB DL & A BN DL
Forever Top I 3,083,722,894 4322 10,568,899,364 72.29
Other Shareholders EpRE 4050,900,626 56.78 4050,900,626 27.71
Total Wt 734,623,520 100.00 14,619,799,990 100.00

The full conversion of the outstanding 2019 LCS and/or 2021 LCS
would not have dilutive impact on the loss per Share of the Group.

BYABMARTRE - Z-NFRATRBRESFR %
—Eo-ERYPNAREFETEHAKEERER
ELEETE -
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DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED (Continued)

2019 LCS

The 2019 LCS is not redeemable by Forever Top before the maturity
date unless there is an occurrence of certain events as stipulated in the
2019 LCS subscription agreement dated 25 January 2019. The maturity
date of the 2019 LCS is the end of tenth year from date of the issue of
the 2019 LCS. Considering (1) the fact that the 2019 LCS will become
mature in 2029; (2) the fact that there are no circumstances leading to
a possible indication that there may be an early redemption of the
2019 LCS; and (3) the financial position and resources of the Group, it is
expected that the Company will be able to meet its redemption
obligations under the 2019 LCS when it becomes due.

It would be equally financially advantageous for Forever Top to convert
or redeem the 2019 LCS based on the implied internal rate of return of
the 2019 LCS at the Company’s share price of HK$0.086 and HK$0.091 if
Forever Top fully converts the 2019 LCS on 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2022, respectively.

2021 LCS

The 2021 LCS is not redeemable by Forever Top before the maturity
date unless there is an occurrence of certain events as stipulated in the
2021 LCS subscription agreement dated 27 January 2021 (the “2021
LCS Subscription Agreement”). The maturity date of the 2021 LCS is the
end of the tenth year from the date of the issue of the 2021 LCS.
Considering (1) the fact that the 2021 LCS will become mature in 2031;
(2) the fact that there are no circumstances leading to a possible
indication that there may be an early redemption of the 2021 LCS; and
(3) the financial position and resources of the Group, it is expected that
the Company will be able to meet its redemption obligations under
the 2021 LCS when it becomes due.

It would be equally financially advantageous for Forever Top to convert
or redeem the 2021 LCS based on the implied internal rate of return of
the 2021 LCS at the Company’s share price of HK$0.046 and HK$0.048 if
Forever Top fully converts the 2021 LCS on 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2022, respectively.

ERRBBNERAA

ﬁ%ﬁi%viﬁﬁ_' —NERIT
BEREFEEFR-_E-—FRIATVTEARSES
%&ﬁmﬁ,%%@)
:g—nﬁﬁﬁﬂ#&%%
XFRANE BB R EE - — hE & B HR

HEr - BRIFELERBMA_T— jL¢ AZ+HRANHZ
T-NERATBBRESRBHEARENETEMH -
Z-NFRATHERESNER ISR -T-NF
EH}%—HF“H ﬁ%?%ﬁlﬂﬁﬂt;ﬁr +¢X°%E§§U(1):
E-NERATHRERBFNR T -_AFER  QBE
\ﬁ/RﬂE/T\Tau Rl B R — T — hﬁ%?ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁiéﬁ%‘%'
NRNEENMBARRKLER - FBHIAR AR
2 NERMABREESERSETEEREE -

HXFME AR RRR(E 008678 7T 1 0.091 78 7T ({0
KAPRIR - E-_—F+_A=+—HBRZ-T_—
T A=+ BABEEBR - NERATERES)

BOFE 2 7 019 K 1 M = B — A R
BHKABRSHBHES -
R -ERETHRKRES

%ﬂﬁAE/ﬁiEHﬂHUTTﬁEE_Q_—iﬁﬁﬂ—ﬁﬁ‘ﬂx
% BRIFBERBHR-_T_—F—A-+tHHZ

—ERBAABEEZREIHE( |——7—7£'EEHHT
BEESRERZE)ARENETEF - —T=—F

RPAATHERESNEREPRA-T - —F RN
ERBRTAMEAETFR - BRI -_F=_—FK
HIA MR E SR — T =—FEm - QBB RERA
BEIRAIEL —T - —FRAABKRES : RO)AKE
WP BRRRER  BRARREER_-_T-_—FFK
IR RE mJEm i BT ERE R E -

HXFME BN RRR(E 004678 7T 1 0.0487%8 7T (fi
XADIRZE_—F+-_A=+—HERZ=ZZE=_Z
T A=+ BREHBE T - —FREABKES)
M% REPEHE G ek iER — T — —F REA A%
BHBEEREMBED -

S5id



m i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2021

Report of the Directors

EFEHREE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

BT

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 24 May 2018  AAGAR T —N\ER A =+ BEEMERES2)
which shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years from the  ZET 25 B A B B T+ EB R L ER -

date of adoption.

Purpose of the scheme:

stalm e -

Participants of the scheme:

AtElg2EE

Total number of Shares available for issue
under the scheme and percentage of issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report:

FHEIR A T EITH R B BUA R AR A S
HEBEDETRONES X

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the scheme:

AtElPER2EE T ERER ER

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentives to the eligible persons, to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions that the eligible persons have made or may make to
the Group and to promote the success of the business of the Group.
BREAZEEDSI RMBERERAAL BRHFINEBTRERAL K
HREAEEBALT QLN ATREERNEEIEL 2 BRI (R ER R E 2 2K
B e

Any person who is (or will be on the date of grant) an employee of the Group, a
Director, a consultant or an advisor, as may be determined by the Directors from
time to time.

BRI TRETRE (SHNREEH) FAREEET - 8% - BRI
AABERAL -

As disclosed in the Composite Document and the Joint Announcement, pursuant to
the terms of the Share Option Scheme, all outstanding Share Options as at 3 March
2022 automatically lapsed on 3 March 2022. Accordingly, there was no outstanding
Share Option as at the date of this annual report.

AT E X R A RN ERE - RIBEERET NG R —F=
AZHMERTEERECHR T _—_F=A=HE8ERW - Bt - A
Fil A EAN ORI TR BB A -

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon the exercise of the Share Options granted to each eligible person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Share Options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue.
BRIEERRERME - SRMER12EABREAR - BrTEERTEEERALTH
BRE(BEETE - S REARITEREBARE) M2 #1758 T TN
BETEHBARAREBITHBE SRR 1%
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) B RERTE @

The period within which the Shares must be  The period as notified by the Board upon the grant of Share Options during which it

taken up under an option: may be exercised, such period not to exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant Share Options.
RIBBIAERBR VIR BN RHBRERBANA PITEBRENISR - ZHR X HERER

BERESA TN SBBTF -

The minimum period for which an option must  Any period as determined by the Board.
be held before it can be exercised:

BREITEZATBARENRESHR - MEEGETAEMHR -

The amount payable on application or  The amount payable for the acceptance of a Share Option shall be HK$1.00 which
acceptance of the option and the period within  shall be paid upon acceptance of the offer of such Share Option. This consideration
which payments or calls must or may be made  shall not be refundable to the participant and shall not be deemed to be a part
or loans for such purposes must be paid: payment of the exercise price.

HEIEABREANSEARNRSE REABREENNSERER100ET - BARENZEREZOR T A
MAFE RN EERFEREERNE ZRETRRETREE  TIAEEAXNITEEN—H -

R

The basis of determining the exercise price: The exercise price of the Share Option shall be at a price determined by the Board
and notified to a participant.
TTREMNEFEE BRENTEEARESFSETNERTANSREE -

The exercise price shall not be less than the higher of:

TEENMERATRENRSE

(A)  the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of such Share Option;

and
REHZBRES B S B REXRYIRG R HE :
X

(B)  the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such Share Option.
ZEREZBREB I DAL X BB E HRERMIRG PO
RATE TR TE -

The remaining life of the scheme: The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from
the date of adoption, i.e. 24 May 2018.
IR ERE A A BREAE R RWB (AN —Z2— \FRAZTEB) BT 10F AR RRAER °



m i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2021

Report of the Directors
EERRES
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, movement of Shares #H{E_ZE-_—F+_A=+—HIEFE X2 7AE

issuable under the Share Options granted by the Company to eligible B A T FHBREE T BTROEB 2 HEH
persons was as follows: RTX :

a.  Details of the movement of Share Options granted to the a. TP EEMEREZHFBEOR X [EENE
Directors are disclosed under section headed “Directors’ Interests S NERS | —EIRIRER o
in Securities” above.

b.  Details of the movement of Share Options granted to other b, I THEHMAER AT (EBRIN) OIERES
eligible persons (other than the Directors) are as follows: B -

Number of Shares issuable under the Share Options granted

BEFRLBRETRTHRGHE

Balance Balance Adjusted

asat Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled asat exercise

Exercisable 1 January during during during during 31 December price

Eligible Persons Date of grant period 2021 the year the year the year the year 2021 per Share
R-B--%

R-B=-% +=A
-A-H RER RER RER RER =t-0 ERERR
ke B i E34 B ife S

Employees 15June 2018 (Note 1) 16,255,040 - - - - 16,255,040 0204
81 “B-\ERATRR (B
Other participant 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 3,600,800 - - - - 3,600,800 0204
Ehpas “B-\ERATRR (BE1)

19,855,840 - - - - 19,855,840
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(1) 50% of the Share Options are exercisable from 15 June 2018 to 14 June 2028 (both dates
inclusive); and 50% of the Share Options are exercisable from 15 June 2019 to 14 June
2028 (both dates inclusive).

2) The exercise price per Share payable upon exercise of the outstanding Share Options
granted under the Share Option Scheme was adjusted from HKS0.210 to HK$0.204 as a
result of the rights issue of the Company in 2019. Details of the adjustments were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 3 June 2019.

(3) The closing price per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock
Exchange immediately before the date on which the Share Options were granted was
HKS$0.155.

4) The cash consideration paid by each of the eligible persons for the grant of Share
Options was HKS1.00.

The fair value of the Share Options granted as at the date of grant, 15
June 2018, was estimated at approximately HK$21 million using the
Binomial option pricing model. Value was estimated based on the risk-
free rate at 2.25% per annum with reference to the market yield rates of
the Hong Kong Government Bond (maturing on 22 August 2028) as of
the value date, a historical volatility of 66.08% calculated based on the
historical price with period equals to the life of the Share options,
assuming zero dividend yield based on historical dividend payout
records. Share Options which are forfeited prior to the expiry date will
be released directly to the reserve. The Binomial option pricing model
requires input of subjective assumptions such as the expected stock
price volatility. Change in the subjective input may materially affect the
fair value estimates. With regard to the subjectivity and uncertainty of
the values of the options, such values are subject to a number of
assumptions and the limitation of the Binomial option pricing model.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report, and the contracts amongst group companies, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or any entities connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2021.

ERRBBNERAA

BT E (s
Hiat
(1) S50%IBRER-_E—NFNA+EAZ T NFNA+H
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below and in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in this Report of the Directors and the section headed
“Material Related Party Transactions” in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report, there were no other contracts
of significance between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling Shareholder or any its subsidiaries subsisting at the end of
the year or at any time during the financial year.

On 25 January 2019, the Company entered into the unlisted long-term
convertible securities subscription agreement with Forever Top, the
Controlling Shareholder, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever Top has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for the 2019 LCS. On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019
LCS with the principal amount of HK$568 million to the Forever Top
was completed. The 2019 LCS would be convertible into 4,544,000,000
new Shares upon full conversion of the 2019 LCS based on the initial
Conversion Price of HKS0.125 per conversion share. The Conversion
Price represents a premium of approximately 8.7% over the closing
price of HK$0.115 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 25
January 2019, being the date on which the terms of the 2019 LCS were
fixed. The coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable
quarterly. The 2019 LCS is convertible into ordinary Shares at any time
during the period from the date of the issue of the 2019 LCS up to the
close of business on the maturity date, subject to the conversion
restrictions. The maturity date of the 2019 LCS is the end of the tenth
year from date of the issue of the 2019 LCS and all of the remaining
outstanding 2019 LCS shall be redeemed by the Company at 100% of
the outstanding principal amount of the 2019 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon. The net price per conversion
share was approximately HK$0.125. Details of the 2019 LCS are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 25 January 2019 and 4
June 2019, and the 2019 Circular.

BEEEH
BE_T-—FT_A=+—HLFE ARALE
AUEBFEEEARRZHKNEMNEAEBBINE
B RITHEX

EERRRHEREL
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, its holding company or any subsidiary of such holding
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, with the
exception that during the year, there existed certain outstanding Share
Options to subscribe for ordinary Shares. Details of the Share Options
granted to the Directors were disclosed under the section headed
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” in this annual report. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, no Share Option held by the Directors was
exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors
(other than Independent Non-executive Directors) are considered to
have interests in the businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly with the business of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director is entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses
and liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution and/or discharge of his/her duties and/or the exercise of his/
her powers and/or otherwise in relation to or in connection with his/
her duties, powers or office, to the extent as permitted by laws.

The Company has maintained director’s liability insurance throughout
the year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and the
directors of the subsidiaries of the Company for indemnifying their
liabilities arising out of corporate activities.

RETIREMENT SCHEME AND MANDATORY
PROVIDENT FUND

The principal retirement scheme (the “Scheme”) operated by the
Group is a defined contribution retirement scheme for its employees,
established under a trust deed. The forfeited contributions may be
used by the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The Scheme is funded by contributions from employees and
employers. The employees and employers contribute respectively to
the Scheme sums which represent percentages of the employees’
salaries as defined under the trust deed.
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The Scheme is closed to new employees joining after 1 October 2000
while existing members of the Scheme can continue to accrue future
benefits.

Employees joining after 1 October 2000 will participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund, which is not operated by the Group, with
terms as stipulated by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The Group will also provide voluntary top-up benefits to
employees receiving a monthly basic salary exceeding the statutory
limits prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

For the Scheme operated by the Group, Scheme costs before
capitalisation during the financial year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately HK$1,696,000 (2020: HK$9,896,000) which
were incurred after utilisation of forfeitures to reduce the Group's
contributions of approximately HK$530,000 (2020: HK$541,000).

The Scheme has been terminated and dissolved during the year ended
31 December 2021 and there were no members or assets attributable
to the members in the Scheme right before the dissolution of the
Scheme.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

On 19 March 2019, HKC as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor,
confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank (the
“Lender”), as the lender, in respect of, among other things, a
HK$400,000,000 revolving loan facility (the “Revolving Loan Facility”)
being subject to review at any time and in any event not less than
annually by the Lender; and on 15 March 2019, the Company, as
applicant, (together with HKC, the “Borrowers”) confirmed the acceptance
of a facility letter issued by the Lender in respect of a HK$33,830,000
performance bond facility (the “Performance Bond Facility”) with a
maximum tenor of five years being subject to review at any time.

Pursuant to the facility letters in relation to both the Revolving Loan
Facility and the Performance Bond Facility, the Borrowers have
undertaken that Forever Top, the Controlling Shareholder, would (i)
hold greater than 35% of the total number of the issued Shares and (ii)
be the single largest Shareholder of the Company. In the event of a
breach of the aforesaid covenant, the Lender has the right to suspend,
withdraw or make demand in respect of the whole or any part of the
respective facilities made available to the relevant Borrower at any time
or determine whether or not to permit drawings in relation to the
respective facilities.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the above specific
performance obligations under the Revolving Loan Facility and the
Performance Bond Facility have been complied with. Details of the
transactions were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 17 April 2018 and 18 December 2018.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following connected transactions during the
financial year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report:

On 27 January 2021, the Company and Forever Top entered into the
2021 LCS Subscription Agreement, pursuant to the 2021 LCS
Subscription Agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed to
issue, and the Controlling Shareholder has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, the 2021 LCS. The principal amount of the 2021 LCS is
HKS$200 million. The initial conversion price is HK$0.068 per the new
Share to be issued upon exercise of the conversion rights under the
2021 LCS. The coupon rate is 2.0% per annum and payable quarterly.
The maturity date of the 2021 LCS is the end of tenth year from date of
the issue of the 2021 LCS. On the maturity date, all of the remaining
outstanding 2021 LCS will be redeemed by the Company at 100% of
the outstanding principal amount of the 2021 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon. The 2021 LCS is convertible into
Shares at any time during the period from the date of the issue of the
2021 LCS up to the close of business on the maturity date, subject to
the conversion restrictions. The Company may at any time on or after
the date of issue of the 2021 LCS by giving not less than ten business
days’ written notice to the holder of the 2021 LCS to redeem all or part
of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal amount of the 2021 LCS
together with all accrued but unpaid interest. Details of the 2021 LCS
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 27 January
2021 and the circular of the Company dated 2 March 2021. The 2021
LCS Subscription Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were approved by the independent Shareholders on 23
March 2021.

On 21 January 2022, HKC (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as the borrower, entered into a loan agreement with Celestial Pioneer
(the controlling shareholder of Forever Top and is wholly-owned by Dr.
Cheng), as the lender. Pursuant to such loan agreement, the borrower
obtained an unsecured loan with a principal amount of HK$70 million
for a term of three years from the date of the loan agreement, with an
interest rate of 2.5% per annum. As the above-mentioned loan is
conducted on normal commercial terms or better and is not secured
by the assets of the Group, the transaction contemplated under the
loan agreement is fully exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.
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The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
financial year ended 31 December 2021 are disclosed in the section
headed “Material Related Party Transactions” in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. These
transactions include amounts which fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group during the
financial year ended 31 December 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the financial
year ended 31 December 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

At the date of this annual report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the percentage of the Shares which are in the hands of the public
exceeds 25.0% of the Company’s total number of issued Shares.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as auditor of the Company
upon the retirement of KMPG as its term of office expired with effect
from the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 24 May 2018.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group now presented
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public
Accountants who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

(i)

Directors

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Gai, Gss (Age: 75)

Dr. Cheng was appointed as the Vice-chairman and a non-
executive Director in September 2017, and re-designated
as the Chairman in November 2021. Dr. Cheng is the
chairman and executive director of New World
Development Company Limited, NWS Holdings Limited
and Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited, and the
chairman and non-executive director of FSE Lifestyle
Services Limited, all of them are listed public companies in
Hong Kong. He was a non-executive director of SJIM
Holdings Limited up to his retirement in June 2019, a non-
executive director of DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings
Company Limited until his resignation in March 2021, and
chairman and a non-executive director of New World
Department Store China Limited until his resignation in
May 2021, all of which are listed public companies in Hong
Kong. He is a director of Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings)
Limited, Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited, Chow
Tai Fook Capital Limited, Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited
and Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited. Dr. Cheng is also a
director of each of Forever Top (the controlling
shareholder of the Company) and Celestial Pioneer (the
controlling shareholder of Forever Top and is wholly-
owned by Dr. Cheng).

Dr. Cheng is the chairman of the Advisory Council for The
Better Hong Kong Foundation. He was a Standing
Committee Member of the Twelfth Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of The People’s Republic
of China. Dr. Cheng was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star
and the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2001 and 2017,
respectively by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.

Dr. Cheng is the uncle of the spouse of Mr. Tsang On Yip,
Patrick, an executive Director.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION
(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Age: 67)

Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu, 8.5c, was appointed as the
Chairman and a non-executive Director in September
2017 and re-designated as a Vice-chairman in November
2021. He is also a member of the CC. He ceased to serve as
the chairman and a member of the NC in November 2021.

Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu holds a double degree of
Bachelor of Science in Business Administration and
Economics at the University of Sophia, Japan. He is a
prominent businessman with over 45 years’ experience in
the property development and extensive experience in
the hotel development. In his business career, he
established a number of highly successful business
operation through organic growth and acquisitions,
covering Mainland China, Hong Kong, Japan, Malaysia,
Singapore and Australia. Since 1978, Tan Sri Dato’ David
Chiu had been the managing director of Far East
Consortium Limited, the predecessor of Far East
Consortium International Limited (“FECIL"), a listed public
company in Hong Kong. He was appointed as the deputy
chairman and chief executive officer of FECIL on 8
December 1994 and 8 October 1997, respectively. On 8
September 2011, Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu has been
appointed as the chairman of FECIL. FECIL and its
subsidiaries (“FECIL Group”) is mainly engaged in property
development and investment, hotel operations and
management, car park operations and facilities
management, securities and financial product investment
and gaming operations. FECIL Group adopts the diversified
regional strategy and the “Asian Wallet” strategy with
business covering Mainland China, the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia,
Singapore, the United Kingdom and other European
countries.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

In regard to Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu’s devotion to
community services in China and Hong Kong, he was
appointed as the member of the 12th and 13th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conferences, the vice
chairman of All-China Federation of Industry and
Commerce in 2017. Currently, he is a trustee member of
The Better Hong Kong Foundation, a member of The Real
Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong, a member of
Pacific Basin Economic Council, a director of three Ju
Ching Chu Schools in Hong Kong and the vice chairman
of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Radio
and Television Union. In Malaysia, Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu
was awarded an honorary award which carried the title
“Dato” and a more senior honorary title of “Tan Sri” by His
Majesty, King of Malaysia in 1997 and 2005, respectively.
He was also awarded the WCEF Lifetime Achievement
Awards by Asian Strategy & Leadership Institute in 2013,
the "Best Executive in Hong Kong” in the “2016 Asiamoney
Best Managed Company Award”, the FinanceAsia’s “Best
CEO" in 2017 & FinanceAsia's “Best CEO in Hong Kong” in
2018, 2019, 2020 & 2021, "Asia’s Best CEO in Investor
Relations at Asian Excellence Award 2018, 2019 & 2020,
the "Best IR by Chairman/CEQ” in “"HKIRA Investor Relations
Awards” in 2017, 2019, 2020 & 2021.

Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu is the father of Mr. Andrew Wah
Wai Chiu (“Mr. Chiu"), a non-executive Director, and the
brother of the brother-in-law of Mr. Tang Sing Ming
Sherman, an independent non-executive Director.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION
(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Age: 50)

Mr. Tsang was appointed as a non-executive Director in
September 2017 and re-designated as an executive
Director in November 2021. He was appointed as a Vice-
chairman in November 2021. He is also a member of the
CC. Heis also a director of a subsidiary of the Company. He
is also a director of Forever Top and Celestial Pioneer.

Mr. Tsang is the chief executive officer and director of
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited. He is also an executive
director of Melbourne Enterprises Limited and UMP
Healthcare Holdings Limited, and a non-executive director
of Greenheart Group Limited, Integrated Waste Solutions
Group Holdings Limited and SJM Holdings Limited, all of
which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Mr.
Tsang is a director of Cheng Yu Tung Foundation Limited
and Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited, a governor of Chow
Tai Fook Charity Foundation Limited, a member of Hong
Kong Chief Executive Election Committee, and a General
Committee member of Employers’ Federation of Hong
Kong. He has been a member of the 12th Henan Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference since 2018. Mr. Tsang obtained a Bachelor of
Arts degree in Economics from Columbia College of
Columbia University in New York, USA.

Mr. Tsang's spouse is a niece of Dr. Cheng, a non-executive
Director.

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng (Age: 43)

Mr. Lie Ken Jie was appointed as a non-executive Director
in July 2019, and re-designated as an executive Director in
November 2021. He was appointed as an authorised
representative of the Company (the "Authorised
Representative”) in November 2021. He is currently a
senior vice president of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited
with responsibilities in making strategic investments
globally. Mr. Lie Ken Jie holds a Master's degree in Finance
and a Master’s degree in Civil Engineering, both from
Imperial College London in the United Kingdom. He is also
a director of a subsidiary of the Company. He is also a
director of Forever Top.
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(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU (Age: 33)

Mr. Chiu was appointed as an executive Director in
September 2017, and re-designated as a non-executive
Director in November 2021. He ceased to serve as an
Authorised Representative in November 2021. He is a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is the
founder and the executive chairman of Land Pacific
Limited, Deacon House International Limited and Ariana
Social Community Limited. These companies focus on
different sectors in the real estate industry including
property development, hotel management and student
housing investment.

From 2015, Mr. Chiu serves as the assistant to the chairman
of FECIL. He is also a director of Malaysia Land Properties
Sdn Bhd, and a non-independent non-executive director
of Land & General Berhad, a company whose shares are
listed on the Bursa Malaysia. Mr. Chiu was a director and
vice chairman of the board of directors of AMTD
International Inc., a company listed on both the New York
Stock Exchange and the Mainboard of the Singapore
Exchange Security Trading Limited up to his resignation in
December 2020. He is a member of Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce and a member of The Real Estate
Developers Association of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chiu is the son of Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu, a non-
executive Director, and the nephew of the brother-in-law
of Mr. Tang Sing Ming Sherman, an independent non-
executive Director.
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Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Age: 53)

Mr. Hoong, B.Eng, ACA, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in September 2017. He is also a member of the
AC. He is an executive director of FECIL, a listed public
company in Hong Kong, since August 2012. He joined
FECIL in September 2008 as the managing director. He is
responsible for the formulation and implementation of
FECIL's overall strategies for development.

Prior to joining FECIL, Mr. Hoong was the chief executive
officer of China LotSynergy Holdings Limited, a listed
public company in Hong Kong, where he retired as a non-
executive director of the company with effect from 1 June
2017.

Mr. Hoong was an investment banker for over 12 years
and had held senior positions at Deutsche Bank and UBS
where he was responsible for corporate finance business
in Asia. Besides, he was a director of AGORA Hospitality
Group Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Tokyo Stock
Exchange, until March 2017 and is a non-independent
non-executive director of Land & General Berhad, a
company listed on the Bursa Malaysia.

Mr. Hoong is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and holds a bachelor’s
degree in Mechanical Engineering from Imperial College,
University of London.
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Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Age: 43)

Ms. Ng was appointed as a non-executive Director in July
2019. She is an executive director, the executive vice
chairman, chief executive officer and a member of the
executive committee of South China Financial Holdings
Limited whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and the executive vice chairman of South
China Media group.

She is also a non-executive director of South China
Holdings Company Limited whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, an executive director,
the executive vice chairman and the chief executive officer
of South China Financial Holdings Limited whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and
an executive director and the executive vice chairman of
South China Assets Holdings Limited whose shares were
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange and were delisted on
GEM of the Stock Exchange in March 2022.

She holds a Bachelor's degree in Law from King's College
London, University of London in the United Kingdom and
was admitted to the Hong Kong Bar in 2006. She is an
associate member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants and a member of 12th Hebei
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

Ms. Ng is the daughter of Mr. Ng Hung Sang, who,
together with his spouse and companies controlled by
him, is interested in approximately 10.08% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company.
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Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey Gss, /r (Age: 70)

Mr. Lam was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in September 2017. He is also the chairman and a
member of the CC and a member of the NC. Mr. Lam
holds a bachelor degree in mechanical engineering from
Tufts University in the United States. He has over 40 years
of experience in the toy industry and is currently the
managing director of Forward Winsome Industries Limited
which is engaged in toy manufacturing.

Mr. Lam is an executive director of Hong Kong Aerospace
Technology Group Limited, and an independent non-
executive director of Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group
Limited, C C Land Holdings Limited, China Overseas Grand
Oceans Group Limited, Wynn Macau, Limited, CWT
International Limited, Wing Tai Properties Limited,
Analogue Holdings Limited and China Strategic Holdings
Limited, all of which are listed public companies in Hong
Kong.

Mr. Lam is a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He also
holds a number of other public and community service
positions including being a non-official member of the
Executive Council and a member of the Legislative Council
in Hong Kong, a general committee member of the Hong
Kong General Chamber of Commerce, the chairman of
Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC)
Complaints Committee, a director of the Hong Kong
Mortgage Corporation Limited and a member of the
board of directors of Heifer International-Hong Kong.
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Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman sss, Jp (Age: 68)

Dr. Hu, BSc, FCIBSE, FHKIE, MIEEE, C. Eng., has been an independent
non-executive Director since April 2012. He is also the
chairman and a member of the NC and a member of the
CC. He is the chairman of Ryoden Development Limited.
Dr. Hu has been re-elected as a Deputy to the 13th
National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of
China. He is the vice-chairman of The Chinese General
Chamber of Commerce, Hong Kong. He is also a general
committee member and chairman of Mainland China
Committee of the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong,
the Vice-President of the Sports Federation & Olympic
Committee of Hong Kong, China, an Honorary Court
Member of The Hong Kong University of Science &
Technology, a member of the Election Committee of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and the Vice Patron of The Community Chest of
Hong Kong. He was awarded the Honour of Silver Bauhinia
Star (SBS) by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
on 30 June 2017.
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Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger 855, r (Age: 70)

Mr. Luk, FHKiB, has been an independent non-executive
Director since September 2010. He also serves as the
chairman of the AC and a member of each of the AC, CC
and NC. He has over 30 years of comprehensive
experience in accounting and financial management. He
joined Hang Seng Bank in 1975, became the bank's
director and deputy chief executive in 1994 and then
became managing director and deputy chief executive of
the bank in 1996 until his retirement in May 2005. Mr. Luk
is an independent non-executive director of four
companies publicly listed in Hong Kong, namely, China
Properties Group Limited, Computime Group Limited,
Hung Hing Printing Group Limited and Harbour Centre
Development Limited. Mr. Luk was formerly an
independent non-executive director of Wheelock
Properties Limited, formerly a listed public company until
it became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wheelock and
Company Limited in July 2010, from February 2008 to July
2010. He also serves as a council member of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong and a non-executive director
(non-official) of Urban Renewal Authority. Mr. Luk also
served in the past on the Court and Council of Hong Kong
Baptist University, the Advisory Committee on New Broad-
based Taxes, the Personal Data (Privacy) Advisory
Committee, the Central Policy Unit of the Hong Kong
Government, the Statistics Advisory Board, the
Broadcasting Authority, the Advisory Committee and the
Investor Education Advisory Committee of the Securities
and Futures Commission, the Barristers Disciplinary
Tribunal Panel, the Operations Review Committee of ICAC
and the Town Planning Board. He was an appointed
member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council from 1992
to 1995, and also a member of the first Election Committee
of the Legislative Council.

Mr. Luk graduated with a Bachelor of Social Sciences
Degree in Statistics from The University of Hong Kong and
also holds a Master of Business Administration Degree
granted by The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a
fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He is also a
Non-official Justice of the Peace and was awarded the
honour of Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2004 in recognition of
his contributions to public services.
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Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman (Age: 65)

Mr. Tang has been appointed an independent non-
executive Director since January 2014. He is also a member
of the AC. He holds a Master degree in Electrical
Engineering and a degree of Doctor in Medicine from the
University of Southern California, the United States of
America. Mr. Tang is a seasoned entrepreneur in the
hospitality industry and has over 20 years of experience in
investment and operation of restaurants, cafes and bars.
He is the founder and owner of the Epicurean Group and
also served as the chairman and chief executive officer of
Epicurean and Company, Limited (now known as StarGlory
Holdings Company Limited), a listed public company in
Hong Kong, until his resignation in November 2016.

Mr. Tang is the brother of the sister-in-law of Tan Sri Dato’
David Chiu, a non-executive director of the Company, and
the brother of the aunt of Mr. Andrew Wah Wai Chiu, a
non-executive director of the Company.
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Mr. WONG See Yuen, Chief Executive Officer (Age: 47)

Mr. Wong joined the Group in September 2021 and was
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company in
March 2022. He is responsible for the general operations
of the Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong co-founded Dory
Network Technology Limited, a social enterprise focusing
on using design and technology to create impact globally,
in August 2019. Its products include Me2you app that
facilitates idle items sharing and newgig.me, a platform
helping people find their next fulfilling move or career.
Me2you has won the prestigious Singapore Good Design
Mark in three categories in 2021.

From September 2018 to August 2019, he used to be a
director of strategic business development for Swire Coca-
Cola Ltd, where he charted strategy for vending, smart
retail, digital partnership and customer engagement portal
for China.
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From July 2011 to August 2018, Mr. Wong had a successful
run as the chief executive officer of Asia Miles Limited. He
was responsible for managing and growing the Asia’s
leading travel and lifestyle rewards programme of over 11
million members and more than 700 business partners
worldwide. He joined Cathay Pacific Airways as a
management trainee in 1998 and has been with the airline
group in various management positions living and
working in Hong Kong, the United States of America,
Singapore, Japan and Vietnam.

Mr. Wong is an ardent advocate of design thinking, a
collaborative and customer-focused problem-solving
methodology. He takes special interest in a stakeholder-
centric approach that combines innovation, customer
insights and technology to drive corporate value creation.

Mr. Wong is a sought-after speaker delivering
presentations globally on the value of design thinking and
innovation, customer loyalty, customer relationship
management & digital transformation. Mr. Wong is also
the founder and lead curator of Design Thinking in Action,
an innovative non-profit community that brings together
thought leaders, educators and practitioners to share,
learn and grow together in the field of human-centred
design since 2016.

Mr. Wong has been a Sloan Fellow of the Stanford
Graduate School of Business with the Degree of Master of
Science in Management and obtained a certificate in
Public Management and Social Innovation. Mr. Wong also
obtained the Degree of Bachelor of Arts in Marketing from
Michigan State University, and completed the IESE &
INSEAD Executive Education Programme in Spain, France
and Singapore.
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He is currently a board member of Ocean Park
Corporation, a mentor for Cyberport Mentorship Services
and a member of the Social Enterprise Advisory
Committee for the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.
He is also currently a licensed football coach under the
Asian Football Confederation.

Mr. KWOK Chi Kin, Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary (Age: 45)

Mr. Kwok joined the Group in September 2017 and he is
the Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary of
the Company. He is also the authorised representative of
the Company. He is responsible for the accounting and
financial management, company secretarial matters and
corporate governance functions of the Group. Mr. Kwok
obtained his Bachelor of Business Administration in
Finance with First Class Honours from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. He is a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a
Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional
and an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute. He has over 20 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial management, company
secretarial practice, and corporate governance. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked for an international
accounting firm and was the chief financial officer and the
company secretary of International Entertainment
Corporation, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, from May 2004 to June 2017.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BIZBENRES

_i

pwec

To the members of i-CABLE Communications Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of i-CABLE Communications
Limited (the “Company”), its subsidiaries and its consolidated structured
entities (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 141 to 250, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Assessment of going concern assumption

Assessment of impairment or property, plant & equipment
("PP&E"), right-of-use assets, programming library and other
related intangible assets

Assessment of the recoverability of recognised deferred tax
assets
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BUBHREANEFZRAEENSTR - GEERIER
MEBEAERGEVBHRRLLABRBETRIED -
BRI T ELERERHEBNER -
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BIAZBENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

B ETEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HMRETER

Assessment of going concern assumption

AR R E AR

Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
BB M mERME2 -

During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group recorded a
net loss of HK$364 million (2020: HKS275 million) and net current
liabilities of HK$410 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$413 million). Included in its current liabilities was an interest-
bearing borrowing of HK$295 million drawn from a banking
facility of HK$400 million which was immediately repayable on
demand and subject to review at any time from the date of this
report and in any event not less than annually from the last
review date.

BHE_T-_—F+-_A=+—RHILFE - E£EHEEF
518 364,000,000/8 7T (= F — T4 : 275,000,000/8 7T ) K
“E -+ -A=t+t—BZRBAEFFEA410000000E
T(ZZZFF : 4130000008 7T) « MBEBEEHBES
BB 5£295,000,0007 7T + A B 5 IE TY B 400,000,000 78 7T #
RITEFRRR - WAREZRARKER  BARARER
HEEREXES  MERNOMNE DRXEEAHETIR
_fF °

RMNEFHNAEERARETSHR

Our audit procedures to assess the appropriateness of
management’s preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis, included the following:
BMEMEEEERBBLEEERBEFSMBHRRNE
MR RATUTEER

Understanding management’s controls and processes in
relation to the preparation of cash flow projection and
assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and the
judgement involved in preparing the cash flow projection
for the purpose of going concern assessment;
THREEBHRAERSNERANZEH LIRS - UE
BRFELETHmAERNER S RETRPMY R kst
THETE M S HIE - PARTR B K SR AR PRt ) (& B LB

Obtaining management’s cash flow projection and
discussing with senior management to understand their
future operation plans in the Forecast Period;
ERERERENRERNEENTESRERER
i AT B IR TR B A R RS E A B
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAEEITEIE (&)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRETER RAWETNMEERRETSEE

These factors casted doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. The Directors reviewed the Group's cash flow
projection (including both base case and downside scenarios) in
the going concern assessment prepared by management which
covered for a period of not less than twelve months from 31
December 2021 (“Forecast Period”) and have taken into account
the following plans and measures and considered that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis:

ZEAZRS|IBHEH ESEESARNBELECEE-
EXCEHEREMRESELLETATY E5ERSE
REEA(BEERBALTTER)  ZAHEREA T
Z—FFTZRA=t—RBFA TR+ @R M (TR
) WEFRATEIRER  RR/RFELEELER
BUFEBWKR B E WX

(1) The banking facility will be successfully renewed such that
the outstanding loan balance of HK$295 million will be
rolled over with substantially the same terms as the
current facility;

) ROTBEERDER HSABEEREH
295,000,000 7T #4% B2 % AT AL & E AR A R EAE

(2)  There have been continuing progress and achievements
of the organisational restructuring which include cost
saving initiatives, introduction of new contents,
cooperation model with other partners and strategic
review of its business portfolio;

Q RBEEARGHEERIKR  EPBERIREEK
K - I AFTAR - HEMBHNEER U RE
HEBESETBRESD

Comparing the key assumptions used, including the
revenue growth rate, estimated operating expenses, with
historical trend and new business plans to challenge the
reasonableness of the key assumptions adopted by
management in the Forecast Period;
NBEBENMEBAELEMEANIERR &
BRABRERAFRERS - WEREEENTER
HiR AT IR A AR R A 1B 1t

Enquiring management of the availability of financing
facilities, other recourse to financing and proposed
fundraising activities;

AREEERSAATARERGE  HtRMEIELEZE
BEERE

Inspecting all the relevant supporting information and
agreements to confirm the availability of the financing
facilities, financial support and other sources of financing (if
any);

BEMEREBOFEN LBE  WERARERFE -
MBS EREME SR (NE) R AN

Assessing evidence provided by management as well as
other corroborating evidence in evaluating whether Forever
Top is financially capable to provide financial support to the
Group;

AT R BB M RE A R E R B IS S
AR ER ERENE RN EMEE
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BHIAHEEES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BRETER

In January 2022, the controlling shareholder of Forever
Top (Asia) Limited (“Forever Top”) advanced an unsecured
3-year interest-bearing loan of HK$70 million to the Group;

KRB —F—F kI (EMARAR(XFADZ

PRIRRRER A B EEEMH 70,000,000/ T 2 EEK R = .

FHERER

Forever Top (with back to back financial support from its
beneficial shareholders), has also confirmed its intention
to provide further financial support, from time to time as
and when is necessary to the Group in the next twelve
months from 31 December 2021.

KIT(EBSRESRRIBEMBEXIE)  THERIAFEN

“E-Ft+ZA=t-BERR+EABEAT
B MR BERR BERBERME - PHEER -

As the going concern assessment involved significant

judgements and estimates made by management as disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements, we determined this
area to be a key audit matter.

WERE IR MR P IEE - AN BRSNS R EEENE
RHVET R AEET - ROETE U D R ET FE -

B ETEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNNEERARETSE

Evaluating management’s sensitivity analyses around the
key assumptions in the cash flow projection, to ascertain
that the extent and likelihood of such changes have been
appropriately considered; and
FHEEREERIR SR ETR AT A AR RERETTHE
REMN  UHECSEEZBEEHESNEE N
(£33

Considering whether the disclosures relating to going
concern included in the consolidated financial statements
are appropriate.
EREGAMBRIREAFTAFELENRESTHE
DA -

Based on our work, we found that the key assumptions used in the
management’s cash flow projection were supported by the
available evidence.

RBEHFOTE  ZMABERRNEEEBRSRERARESE
BRRE RS EIEFF -
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRETER RAWETNMEEERETSEE

Assessment of impairment of PP&E, right-of-use assets, Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of PP&E, right- of-

programming library and other related intangible assets use assets, programming library and other related intangible

FEME - BERSRE  £HAEESE  HBHHE KRHEMIER assets included the following:

BEREENRE BPEFEYE  WELERE  EREEE  HwASMERHE
BRI A ERRER: - 5RA T THEFRT

Refer to Notes 4(b), 13, 14, 15 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BREGAMEREAMTE4b) - 1314 15K%16°

The carrying values of PP&E, right-of-use assets, programming
library and other related intangible assets as at 31 December
2021 were HK$650 million, HKS74 million, HK$68 million and
HKS$12 million, respectively. The Group incurred a loss for the
year ended 31 December 2021 of HK$364 million (2020: HK$275
million). Accordingly, management considered that there were
indicators of potential impairment of PP&E, right-of-use assets,
programming library and other related intangible assets.

RZF-_—F+-A=+—0 X BELRE EHE .

EE -HBROHBREMEEEFEERAED A
650,000,000/ JT * 74,000,00058 JT * 680000007 T K&
120000008 L - HE - -_—F+_A=+—BIF

E S &£ EES E 18364000008 (2T T F 0.

27500000078 7C) - At - EEEREME - BE KERE
FRAEEE HHRHE MEGEEEREE L IRRED
% °

Understanding management’s controls and processes in
relation to the preparation of impairment assessment and
assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and the
judgement on key assumptions used in preparing the cash
flow forecast for the purpose of impairment assessment;
THREBEHRERENENENREF  TERR
B Rl T AR B IR & 7 8 TROBIPT S S By fh 5T N EE 1
KPrfE R E2BRAMEAE - AT ERERRAL
E ARk

Evaluating management’s identification of CGU and
whether the assets generate cash inflows that are largely
independent, based on our understanding of the Group's
business;

BBEHRME SEEEBHNTRIAGEREHAES
ReBUNBPIREEELNRERARB A B
AV

Evaluating the valuer’'s independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

AHEREMB D 880 - TRERFHILE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BRETEE

B ETEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNNEERARETSE

Management has performed an impairment assessment as at 31
December 2021 with reference to valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer which has incorporated
management’s cash flow forecasts. The recoverable amount of
an asset or a cash generating unit ("CGU") is the greater of its
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The impairment
assessment prepared by management uses the value in use
model to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU to
which these assets are allocated. The CGU identified for
impairment assessment of PP&E, right-of-use assets,
programming library and other related intangible assets is the
Group as a whole.

RZF-_—F+-A=+—H BEELSETBIEXMGEM -

FrfEbE(ESEEEMELR SR ETRA) EITRER G -
BEFANEARSEMN(AELRSEM D) WAIKRESE
REFREERAREBRLERAMELTRAEES
BEEENBEREERARRRENE  UEEXFEESD
FCFBM A EARS BRI WREEE - BRIEDE - BE
K& ERERE - HRME REMERENEERERF
EORELRSENARME 5B -

Discussing with the valuer the valuation approach, key
assumptions, methodology used in the valuation of the
CGy;

HEEERMARGEES  F2RRKR - ARRSEEEM
HEMERE A

Comparing the historical accuracy of management’s
forecasts to actual results to assess the reliability of
management’s forecasts;
RERERRNBEERIEZEHERERETHER
N ERERAR LA S

Reconciling input data in the discounted cash flow forecasts
to supporting evidence, such as checking the cash flows to
the approved budgets, assessing the annual growth rate
against Group's business development plans and
benchmarking the long term growth rate and the discount
rate with industry comparables and involving our valuation
experts to evaluate the reasonableness of these inputs
against our knowledge of the industry and the Group;
BREHRFMHETER ESENTRELERRESR
EFRAETOHEABBESEE  IRHAERE
HEHETRE 3t EREEBBRERETEHFEE
REREEITEALBRA AN R AL REEPIRE -
AR ZBHEEER T EZ SR ARIBNE IR |
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAEEITEIE (&)

Key Audit Matter

BRETER

Value in use is calculated by preparing discounted cash flows for
the CGU. Significant management judgement was involved in
the identification of CGUs, whether cash inflows are largely
independent and in determining the key assumptions adopted
in the cash flow forecast, including forecast revenue, forecast
programming costs, forecast network and other expenses,
annual growth rates, long term growth rate and discount rates
under the value in use calculation. There was no impairment loss
identified based on this impairment assessment.

EREEREBREMELRSBEUNERRESREFE -

B - BRIAEL RS EMSRERNEIEEHE - HEHH
ERMARE A EEE LK AEERERE TR MR
R - BREFERIMA - FBRIET B BUERAR - TR R E
ffAx « FEBRE  REERX L AETEEREERR
BE o BORME RS I R TR E R -

We focused on this area because the impairment assessments
prepared by management require significant judgement and
estimates.

MR EEERENBENEFEESARAE LG - RfigR
AR IEEER S ©

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNNEERARETSE

Testing the mathematical accuracy of the discounted cash
flow model; and

ARACUBRRSRERANBFERNE K&

Evaluating management’s sensitivity analyses around the
key assumptions, to ascertain the extent to which adverse
changes, both individually or in aggregate, would indicate
that the PP&E, right-of-use assets, programming library and
other related intangible assets were impaired.

AEEREMBARBRETOERESNT - BEBH
ME - BENRE EREEE  HBREE REME
BB EERENTANEE (T mERIELL)BIRE

Based on our work, we found that the key assumptions adopted in
relation to this impairment assessment were supported by the
available evidence.
RBRMOTIE - BB OMETE A R RHR
BERSEE X FF
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRETER RAWETNMEERRETSEE

Assessment of the recoverability of recognised deferred Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability of recognised

tax assets deferred tax assets included the following:

A E RIS IR E E M A W E BAAEFEERRDEEHIBEEN KB - A TAT
EHZF -

Refer to Notes 4(a) and 27(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

B2HEGE Y BRERMTE4@) & 27(0) °

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had recognised net deferred
tax assets of HK$290 million, for which deferred tax assets of
HKS$336 million relate to the future benefit of unutilised tax losses
without expiry date. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group incurred a consolidated loss before taxation of HK$352
million which may indicate that the recognised deferred tax
assets may not be recoverable, in whole or in part.
RZBEZ—F+=ZA=+—H X EXBEEHRAEEHIEE
7 Y& 290,000,000 7T & R 336,000,000 7 7T KR LE B T &
EREINHANRKTBRREERRKNZEH BE T
T—F+ZA=+—RILFE - EEEELFAUAEBA

352,000,000/ 7T + & A RERA R HERAELERBEE2 I -

BB AREEHRE -

Understanding management’s controls and processes in
relation to the preparation of the assessment of the
recoverability of recognised deferred tax assets and
assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and the
judgement involved in estimating the forecasts of the
Group's profit or loss and the forecasts of future taxable
profits of the relevant entities with the deferred tax assets;
THREEEHRRCERECHBEE N KDIZET
S RIEF  UEETRD BEEEWEREIBIA
RIRABEARERIREENHBERZ RRERDE
MPE R at A HEE M R P EHIEr - LART R E RS
AR B A R

Assessing management’s forecast results of the Group
against the new business development, approved business
plans, signed contracts of different sources of income and
the trends of customer bases;

AIAEREEREBEE  BHEEKHE - TR
ARBRHEREYANKEFERBILY BEXEXE
BITEAl ;

Comparing the key assumptions in the forecasts of taxable
profits of the relevant entities with those used in the
Group's forecast results to ensure consistencies between
the forecasts, and testing the mathematical accuracy of the
forecasts;

AR ER R ANERR T ARRERRER
B EEERFENERRR - ARRKRENN
% ORISR B R
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Key Audit Matter
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B ETEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

RAWETNMEERRETSEE

With a history of recent losses, management recognises deferred
tax assets in respect of the future benefit of unutilised tax losses
for individual entities, to the extent that the entities have
sufficient taxable temporary differences or there is convincing
other evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised by the entities.

HET iRty EREESRHER R HERTERIE
ZRS A AREE BB R E LS RAERT AR HER B 58
RIS E R - MR ARHIR B IS E B A R R A 25 A B ViR
EFRIAEE °

The determination of the recoverability of deferred tax assets
requires significant management judgement in estimating and
evaluating the likelihood of future taxable profits (including
forecast revenue and forecast expenses) and the timing of
utilisation of the tax losses. We focused on this area because of
the inherent uncertainties involved in forecasting future taxable
profits.

EERLEHIAEENPIWEN Y REXEIEEHE - AT
KT Af EE AR R FE R T AR (B 3 TR M A S FERI T 52) &Y
AR AR A EIR AR o R FRRIAR R ER AR
REBTHEEY  RAASEIR S -

Challenging management’s key assumptions in the
forecasts of the probable future taxable profits of the
relevant entities and the periods over which management
expects the tax losses to be utilised by the entities and
evaluating the historical profitability, future profitability, loss
utilisation trends and availability of tax losses recognised for
the relevant entities taking into account any unsettled
disputes or queries raised by the relevant tax authorities;
and

LB IR JE TROBI AR B B A8 6 R A R R B AR T AR AT R
RERLEEERAZFERNANGEEENIERE
HEH - AAERERBTENETEN - RERHEF
Beh - BIERIRB S N E BTSRRI B (A
RARFHEER - ARG AR E RIS EIE
K

Evaluating and challenging management’s sensitivity
analyses around the key assumptions adopted in the
forecasts to ascertain the extent to which adverse changes
would indicate that there were insufficient taxable profits in
the future to support the recognition of deferred tax assets.
AT Kot B I fE S TR P R AR 0 B S R AR Y BURRE
iRt E A ATETE B BUR R BRI R A SR
EREEHREENTHNEBNEE -

Based on our work, we found that the recoverability of recognised
deferred tax assets was supported by the available evidence.
BEHMOTE - RMBEREBRELERIEEER A KO
BEASEERSF -
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BIZBENRES

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibility of overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Hibf5 2
BEARESAHRMELAR - HipE o aETIHRN
ERNWFAREE - BTRERAMBRERRMD
BT o

BB EAMBREANERY MREEMES - HA
MR EEMEEERTAANETEW

BaRMHRAMBREANET  RANKTEME
H@ES  HUHBRET ZEHMESESTELGEAM
BRERARMEFAEBRFATEANBRAFEEAL
BREUTFEERBERRANBNR

ERBMEHTHIE  DREMB/EMESFE
ER#EREL AT EREZFTE-EE @ &
PR B EA#RE -

EENGAMBHRRARENTE

BERRERAARRBEEGTMNAGRMEN(EEY
B EER) REB(R R BREREMFT 5O E
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BIZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BRBMRZE RS M BRRNEM

BAPMBER  RUGAMBHRREBES T FEHAR
BIFRERMEBNERFERBGARGAERE - X
HABREHRMAEENREEI®RSE - HAREREB(A
AEPIYE 40505 - | BT (FREBE)RERMNE
R BRILIASN  RBERIEEME H) - RPITEHA
BENRBTRETMEMALE EHAEERNEE &
BREZSKIHRE - BTRREBRR(EBETE
AETNERR AR - EXRERRAFEREREH
B o SERRIRA AT DA RFF SR AR 51 - IR B IE TR
TREBKERERAETERE P HERREMAERK
FEAR B M A MR PR MR TE - A B R SERRIR
AR VEE K

ERB(ERBEENETRINBES - RIER
TEEAE - R T EREREE - BT

BRI R FF S R ME RAR A MK
FHEAHERRANER - &t RRITETRF
ARESE LR - ARERGT R MEENEE
& ERRMERMNER - AREFFAI S RS
wofRE - BEERER  ERRA - SOEBER AR
22 £ Bt REEERARFMERNEKNEH
RERA M ERSNAREERAERMEBNEAN
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguard applied.

ESEEBENERAT —E-—F5H n

BB ZET RN BRERNET @

HEERAKBELLZGHERNREEIELLE
o RIBERNESRE  BEREFERS
AEBERBENEANTHEEE - (M A8
 BEEENRBELEENELEREE - 1R
BPRBAFEEATHEE N - BIA S EEZEED
WEPIRFEAEIZFREP BRI OBER
B-BEAENKRESIR  MRMEEHRIEE
REEBR - HAIWNAEBRENZBEN MR E B ILPT
MEMERE - A ARFEKBRATEE
M ESBETRERELE -

FESAVBRRNBEIE TN EENRA
R BREE UAMGEAMBEHRERELSHERBR
R HMEIA o

# EEREANERIEKIHNUBESEIRRE
B EENERE URHGRAMB®MERERX
BER-HMER EKEZJFHLR  EENH
17 BMIREFERAER AL -

BREMEFREIN RMAREZZBGEB T TEINEN
HE HHERH EARMERE  SRAMESE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Chan Ka Yee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022

BEEH 2B RS M BBRROEE @
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

FeERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_Z-_—F+-_F=+—HLEFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET TET
Revenue WA 6,7 989,197 1,068,977
Cost of services BRAS AL AR
— Programming costs — &0 B ZAERCER (583,057) (591,424)
— Network expenses — PR ER (292,870) (295,894)
— Cost of sales — HEMAR (149,638) (125,166)
Selling, general and administrative and HE - — - THR
other operating expenses Hih g Z & A (272,261) (290,939)
Loss from operations R EE (308,629) (234,446)
Interest income B A 1,177 423
Finance costs MEEH (46,307) (41,258)
Non-operating income, net B E WA FRR 1,544 417
Loss before taxation BB ATEE 8 (352,215) (274,864)
Income tax ABIE 9(a) (11,437) (523)
Loss for the year FREE (363,652) (275,387)
Attributable to: Mg
Equity shareholders of the Company KA BIRERRIRE (363,652) (275,387)
Loss per share BREE
(5.1) HK cents (3.9) HK cents
Basic B-WN 12 Bl Bl
(5.1) HK cents (3.9) HK cents
Diluted #giE Al Al
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Fe2Ema®

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_Z-_—F+-_F=+—HLEFE

2021 2020
- —T-FTF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TERT FABT
Loss for the year FREE (363,652) (275,387)
Other comprehensive income for the year FRHME2EKE
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to B EEF D HEBmH)

profit or loss: EAH -

Currency translation difference Mg =5 (36) 537
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEKNSZHEEE (363,688) (274,850)
Attributable to: FEqh -

Equity shareholders of the Company RNARERRER (363,688) (274,850)




HEMBKAR

As at 31 December 2021
RZZEZ—F+=-A=+—H

EGREBABRAA

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2021 2020
—E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NMRE 13 650,140 704,304
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 74,231 112,203
Programming library HRE B 15 67,991 70,888
Other intangible assets EthEEERE 16 11,863 15,737
Contract acquisition costs A AU B R R 5,383 7,071
Interest in an associate REE Rz s 17 - -
Deferred tax assets RIETIHE & 27(b) 289,501 300,525
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 24 -+ T8 1 BR 70 & H it fE Uk 35,996 26,525
1,135,105 1,237,253
Current assets REBEE
Inventories ea=¢ 19 6,863 9,980
Trade receivables and contract assets JEWEEERRENEE 20 108,031 112,299
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 124 -+ FE 18R 7k M E Ath FE U 3% 48,207 67,153
Contract acquisition costs A HUEER AR 10,938 13,622
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFTABEN
profit or loss SREE 21 95,736 -
Restricted bank balances IR EIRITAE R 22 10,550 10,550
Cash and bank balances B& MIBITE 22 70,162 157,423
________________________________________________________________________________________________ 350,487 | 371,027
Total assets HMEE 1,485,592 1,608,280
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves EARHEE
Share capital L% 26(c) 7,928,975 7,928,975
Reserves HiE (7,782,886) (7,563,808)
Total equity RS 146,089 365,167
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBKAR

As at 31 December 2021
RZZEZ—F+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E——fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Convertible bonds Al E S 25 521,929 368,881
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 36,192 68,051
Other non-current liabilities EMIEREEaE 21,373 22,068
579,494 459,000
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade payables FERT AR 23 57,613 69,126
Accrued expenses and other payables TEIRE A R A M E R SR 23 253,172 246,319
Receipts in advance and customers' deposits ~ FEWRBER R EFIES 23 115,213 132,065
Interest-bearing borrowings EBEX 24 295,000 295,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 38,930 41,535
Current tax liabilities EHTIEAE 27(a) 81 68
760,009 784,113
Total liabilities e E 1,339,503 1,243,113
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 1,485,592 1,608,280

The notes on pages 149 to 250 form part of these consolidated 28149 % 250 B 7 M3t AARLR A BTSRRI AR LD -
financial statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 RK#EHeR T - —F=-A=+—HBEBREEFEA

March 2022. #fn o

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
BRRALE L BRELE

Director Director

EE EF



EGREBABRAA

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FeEsEDE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-_T -+ _-_A=1+—HILEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ARRERRREEDD
Equity
component
Share of
Share Capital Exchange Accumulated option convertible Total Total

capital reserve reserve losses reserve bonds  reserves equity
GIE: 3
B it
RE  ExfE  HERE RAER e EERs REAE AR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér TEx TEx TEx TEx TEx TEz  TExn

Balanceat1January2021 RA=-E--%-F—H
P 3:S 7,928,975 13,985 3,064 (7,822,606) 17,468 224,281 (7,563,808) 365,167

Loss for the year FRER - - - (363,652) - (363,652)  (363,652)
Other comprehensive income Bt 2 Eizs - - (36) - - - (36) (36)

Total comprehensive income £R2E N4 E
for the year - - (36) (363,652) - - (363,688 (363,688)

Transactions withowners ~ BEEHAZR S

Issue of convertible bonds BaaRES - - - - - 145809 145809 145,809
Transactions costs incurred in-+— AR {EHESH)

respect of convertiblebonds X B - - - - - (1199 (1,199  (1,199)

Total transactions with owners EEEE A 2 X 5 448 - - - - - 144610 144610 144,610

Balance at 31 December 2021 R=—E=—f
+ZB=1—-H2&e 7928975 13,985 3,028 (8,186,258) 17,468 368,891 (7,782,886) 146,089
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e QERHx

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_Z-_—F+-_F=+—HLEFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARAERRREGED

Equity

component

Share of
Share Capital  Exchange  Accumulated option  convertible Total Total
capital reserve reserve losses reserve bonds reserves equity

AR

PR &%
BAx  BXfEE ONERE RHER f#E #EaBy RFEEE  2ER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT  TARL TR THT THT AT THL THT

Balanceat 1January2020 R-Z-ZE-F—H

&% 7928975 13985 2507 (754863)) 18,881 24281 (7288958) 640017
Loss for the year FRER - - - (7538) - - Q75387 (27538)
Other comprehensiveincome ~ E i 2 Uz - - 537 - - - 537 537

Total comprehensiveincome FRZE NG LE
fortheyear R T ene) T T AB0 (24850
Transactions withowners BB AZR S

Transfer of reserve upon BRERSERRHE
lapse of share option - - - 1413 (1413) - - -

Total transactions with owners 2B A 2 X 5 &5 - - - 1413 (1413) - - -

Balance at 31 December2020 A-Z-EfF
+ZR=t+—-Bz&t 7928975 13,985 3064 (7822606 17468 24281 (7563808) 365,167




= A, - W =1
ReEBEnER
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ZT_—F+-A=1—"HLFE

EREEBANARAF

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2021
—E_—F

HK$’000
TR

—E--FEH

2020
—E-TF
HK$'000
TFHTT

Cash flows from operating activities RETHEENRASR
Loss before taxation BRELBTESIE (352,215) (274,864)
Adjustments for: PE
Finance costs mEEMA 46,307 41,258
Interest income FEMA (1,177) (423)
Depreciation e 214,992 220,220
Amortisation of programming library B RE B #s 50,684 52,803
Amortisation of other intangible assets HmEpEEgE 4,040 4,054
Amortisation of contract acquisition costs B KU A AN 85 16,057 24,151
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEME - WERREZ

plant and equipment BB (W) F5E 136 (96)
Loss on redemption of financial assets at BRZ AR EEFABEN

fair value through profit or loss SREENEE 70 -
Net fair value gains on financial assets at BRARBEFAESNEREED

fair value through profit or loss DA BEREFE (1,602) -
(Reversal of loss allowance)/net loss allowance on JE U 4% 2 AR TR (B 1B B

trade receivables W), EEREFEE (3,930) 1,859
Write down of inventories T &R 1,316 812
Gain on modification of lease contracts BETHEGH = (148) an
Gain on disposal of financial assets at HEZRAAEETAEEN

fair value through profit or loss SEEE W - (293)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEWNB QR W= - (17)
Operating (loss)/profit before changes in R AEBESEHAKE

working capital (B518), %A (25,470) 69,453
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,801 1,228
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables and RS EIRRNBNEE

contract assets B () 8,198 (7,684)
Decrease in deposits, prepayments and & BRI REMERFORL

other receivables 9,541 10,455
Increase in contract acquisition costs paid E & #U B A AN 1 AN (11,685) (16,237)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FEfH & SEBR SR CRL ) /3 hn (11,513) 29,950
(Decrease)/increase in accrued expenses and BIRER L EMEMTORD), /N

other payables (6,845) 32,206
Decrease in receipts in advance and customers’ deposits 78 U B 7 & B P14 5 4 (16,852) (2,606)
Cash flows (used in)/generated from operations B (A, FIBNBREER (52,825) 116,765
Tax paid [=ANERE] (400) (518)
Interest element of lease payments MENFFEED (5,578) (6,289)
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities KESTE (), FIEMNEE3E (58,803) 109,958

147
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

fT = Iﬂﬁlllbgi

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_Z-—F+_A=t—HILHE

2021 2020
—E-—F T -TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FABT
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEENRER
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEREK (107,112) (108,383)
Additions to programming library WRERE R (48,182) (50,784)
Additions to other intangible assets REMER & E (166) (606)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HEHB R R ATSRIE 18(b) - 99
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - B R
plant and equipment Fri§sk1E 216 500
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEEAABEFABRRN
through profit or loss TREE (23,943) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEZRAABETAEEN
at fair value through profit or loss RVEEFTISRIE - 55,059
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets B A BERFAEBRD
at fair value through profit or loss SREEMSHRIE 7,800 -
Interest received [EAlreliss 1,308 925
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMANESTE (170,079) (103,190)
Cash flows from financing activities METHEENRER
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings EBEHEEER 28 - (50,000)
Decrease in restricted bank balances IR GIERITAE R D - 7,770
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BT R E S TS RUA 28 200,000 -
Transaction costs upon issue of convertible bond 21T A AR (&5 2 22 S A A 28 (1,645) -
Principal elements of lease payments HENFAEIY 28 (37,376) (30,391)
Finance costs paid BEREEA (19,476) (18,675)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities BZEEETE (FTA) K
_________________________________________________ ReF® | 1503 (9129%)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BRE&RBELZEEYRO EE (87,379) (84,528)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BzEER
HEZEEY 157,423 241,899
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes HNEERSE ¥ 118 52
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December WR+-—A=+—H2ZHER
RESEY 70,162 157,423




GENERAL INFORMATION

i-CABLE Communications Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of its
registered office in Hong Kong is 7th Floor, Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi
Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company, its subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities (together the “Group”) are engaged in television
subscription business, domestic free television programme
services, advertising, channel carriage, television relay service,
programme licensing, theatrical release, other television related
businesses, broadband internet access services, portal operation,
telephony services, network leasing, network construction,
mobile service and mobile agency service as well as other
internet access related businesses.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by
the board of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company on 31
March 2022.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in Note 4 below.

ESEEBENERAT —E-—F5H n

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group incurred a
net loss of HK$364 million (2020: HK$275 million) and as at 31
December 2021, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$410 million (2020: HK$413 million). Included
in its current liabilities was an interest-bearing borrowing of
HK$295 million drawn from a banking facility of HK$400 million
which is immediately repayable on demand and subject to
review at any time from the date of this report. Besides the
banking facility, the Group has received financing from time to
time from Forever Top (Asia) Limited (“Forever Top”), a
substantial shareholder holding 43.2% shareholding of the
Company, through rights issue and issue of long-term
convertible bonds in June 2019 to improve the Group’s liquidity.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had
further completed a second issue of long-term convertible
bonds of HK$200 million (the “2021 LCS") to Forever Top (Note
25).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
have given careful consideration of the liquidity requirement for
the Group's operations, the performance of the Group and
available sources of financing in assessing whether the Group
has sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.
The Directors have reviewed the Group's cash flow projections
prepared by management which covers a period of not less than
12 months from 31 December 2021. The Directors have taken
into account the following plans and measures in assessing the
sufficiency of working capital requirements in the foreseeable
future:

1. The Group's banking facility was last renewed in mid-
March 2019. As the facility is subject to review at any time
from the date of this report, the Directors expect the
revolving bank loan facility will be successfully renewed
such that the outstanding loan balance of HK$295 million
will be rolled over with substantially the same terms as the
current facility, which also include the bank’s overriding
right to demand repayment.

2. There have been continuing progress and achievements
of the organisational restructuring which include cost
saving initiatives, introduction of new contents,
co-operation model with other partners and strategic
review of its business portfolio.

RBEXE )
HE-_Z2-—F+-A=+—HILFE x&£E
$% 15 7% B $8364,00000058 T( = & = T
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ERsha@EeENiR 785 400,000,000 7 7T 12
R &5 B B 30295,000000/87C - BREEERARE
K BMEE - WEABAREAHEBREZESE
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BEIME  ARAEBRENR =T —NFNAHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

3.

In January 2022, the controlling shareholder of Forever
Top advanced an unsecured 3-year interest-bearing loan
of HK$70 million to the Group.

Forever Top has also confirmed its intention to provide
further financial support, from time to time as and when is
necessary to the Group in the next 12 months from 31
December 2021. Taking into account the fact that (i)
Forever Top has provided continuous financial support to
the Group since it became the largest shareholder of the
Company in September 2017; and (i) based on the back
to back financial support by Forever Top's beneficial
shareholders and having made all necessary enquiries,
nothing came to the attention of the Directors to cause
them to believe that Forever Top is unable to provide
financial support as and when is required by the Group in
the next 12 months from 31 December 2021.

Based on the cash flow projections and taking into account
reasonably possible downside changes to the cash flow
assumptions in the cash flow projections for the period ending

1 December 2022, the continuous availability of existing

banking facility, and from time to time as and when is necessary,
the financial support from Forever Top, the Directors consider
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the coming 12
months from 31 December 2021. Accordingly, the Directors
consider it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.
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fn a8 MR R

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2. MmBE%Em)
(a) Amendments to standards effective in the (a) RASFHHREMNVEAEETA

current accounting period

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
adopted the following amendments to standards which
are relevant to the Group's operations and are mandatory
for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2021:

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions

HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 Reform — Phase 2
(Amendments)

The adoption of these amendments to standards does not
have any significant change to the accounting policies or
any significant effect on the results and financial position
of the Group.

HE-_E-—F+-_A=+—BIFE -
AEEBCDRMATIEAEERZEEFHA A
T —F—F—HBHRzZe:THREEHE
M ERNSRT AN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New standard, amendments to standards,
HKFRS Practice Statement, accounting
guideline and interpretation that are not
yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group

The following new standard, amendments to standards,
HKFRS Practice Statement, accounting guideline and
interpretation have been published which are mandatory
for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 but have not been early adopted by the

Group:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the Conceptual
Framework®
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets
(Amendments) between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) COVID-19-Related Rent
Concession beyond

30 June 20210
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current®
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies®
Statement 2
HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting
Estimates?
HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended
U5e<z)

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contract — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract®

Annual Improvements Annual Improvement to HKFRSs
2018-2020 Cycle?

Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common
(Revised) Control Combinations®?

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(2020) Statements — Classification by

the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause®

RBEE (@)
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fn a8 MR R

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(b) New standard, amendments to standards,

HKFRS Practice Statement, accounting
guideline and interpretation that are not
yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group (Continued)

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

@ Effective date is to be determined

o Effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on

or after the beginning of the first accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of these new standard, amendments to standards,
HKFRS Practice Statement, accounting guideline and
interpretation, and does not expect that they would have
any significant impact on its results and financial position.

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted for the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements, which have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise

stated, are set out below:

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including consolidated
structured entities) controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which controls is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

2.

fm BLE XE (1)

(b) MAEMREABAEEIRET K

MEVFTETER] - ZRMERT AR - (&
BYUEREER)EHERE - @5t
ol R2E @

& RZFE——FrA— A2 & FR 8 FE R+

big

@ S—E - —F— A 2R FREFE R E
b4

@ S E—=F— A AR KA FRHRE
2%

@ XA BFE
© HWEA R - T —F— A — A EHIRA
B &t B RG22 1R BV FE TS B OFERX

AEBERRFEZENT LR ERE
AR (BEMBHRELEINEBKRE &
BECEIDSEI 02 RNACEE SR *LT,\
EEMPBIRNEREMERZE

EFEFGETBR
BREEB  BERLSEANHRENEE
FHECR (B B B AR

2 @*)%ﬁzﬂﬁu—l’

(a) #E
AR RBIEARNBLEFMEH B A
AEET A=+ HILRENBERE -

(i) KMEAF
MEAR(BREGEERIEER)THE
x$%lTﬂMWﬁ§%°ﬂ$%l
2 EBEEBMAENGHEAE
WV E R 2k = A A m AR
BRENEBEHEREHNES %%
EZEOHE MAEEZENZE
8- MBRRRNENESREAEHE
EREEEEE AR WK IR
BERRRIHFRAAR-



ERRBBNERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Intra-group balances, transactions and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to
reflect the change in relative interests, but no gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

In the Company'’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence, but not control
or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group
under the equity method and is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group's share of
the acquisition date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group's share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment (see
Note 3(p)(ii)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax
results of the investees and any impairment losses
for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group's
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to HKSNil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this
purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(ii) Associates (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company'’s statement of financial position,
investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).

(b) Property, plant and equipment and

depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
Note 3(p)(ii)). The cost of self-constructed items of
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of
the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see Note 3(k)).

Gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and is recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives at annual rates as follows:

Network assets and television 5% to 25%
production systems
Furniture, fixtures, other 10% to 33.33%

equipment and
motor vehicles
Buildings situated on Higher of 2.5% or
leasehold land* percentage to
amortise the asset
cost over the unexpired
term of land leases
Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Under certain circumstances, the Group may have an
obligation to dismantle part of its network upon request
by concerned parties. Owing to the absence of such
history, no reliable estimate can be reasonably made in
respect of such potential obligation.

* This represents units in industrial and commercial buildings which the
management considers impracticable to split the cost into land and
buildings. Thus, depreciation is provided at 2.5% to write off the cost of
the properties held by the Group.

FESEBE @)
(b) VE BERRERETE@

FENBENE  BEERBZIKAEHE
RE G RIREE(INAE) & - REAE
RERAEGATEFRMT

PREER 5% Z= 25%
BREERS
RE KB - 10% & 33.33%
HE R R RE
AELH FMEF 25%siBE bR
[E R B
ARz BDE
(UAR=HEBZE)
HEMHEEE Bergichat

E—ENE - BERZEOSBHIBET
RA AT AR - EEE & BN
FARERSE - MEH MRS -
TEAFENAREGNE)  BEFE
it -

EXEBERAT  AKREREREBALE
RTEEEFHBO PG - ARRZEEH
[Est - BERET R SRS -

* EEER Y% E T F TR T E L i
REFE7 2 FELKAR BT T AT o Bt -
BT B 12 2.5% LA M 35 RS B I #s ) 2 9K



ERRBBNERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable. Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
The Group determines the incremental borrowing rate by
using recent third-party financing received with
adjustments specific to the term of the leases.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FTEEHHE @)

(c) Leases (Continued) (c HE®@m
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the FREEERKATZ  BIFENTSA :
following:
the amount of the initial measurement of lease . HERBENVHBTESEE
liability;
any lease payments made at or before the . R F4E B Bisk 2 ATFTERVE I AR & 1T
commencement date less any lease incentives ;oM ERAEESR
received:;
any initial direct costs; and . ERITIEEERAE &
restoration costs. . 1ETERCAR o
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the FREEE —WRIZEEFBFERFAE (A
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a REEBE)INEGETE -

straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of HEAXMEPHEREEEEENHEEIN
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as BERFEREaYERARY - RHHEEE
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases HEMRR2EASUTHEE -

with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a AEBEALHEAMEEANLCEHENTE
lessor is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit SWAEREPRRNZERENGABERR
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The PR SHEEERBEMEN ALSE
respective leased assets are included in the consolidated B EAROR R o

statement of financial position based on their nature.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Programming costs

(i)

Programming library

Programming library consists of presentation rights
for acquired programmes for showing on the
Group's television channels, film rights and films in
progress produced by the Group and perpetual film
rights acquired by the Group.

Presentation rights for acquired programmes are
capitalised as intangible assets and stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).
Amortisation is charged to profit or loss in
accordance with a formula on an accelerated basis
over a maximum of three transmissions. Subsequent
expenditure, which may include subtitling costs and
dubbing costs, on programmes after initial
acquisition is recognised as an expense when
incurred unless it is probable that the expenditure
would enable the programmes to generate future
economic benefits in excess of their originally
assessed standard of performance and the
expenditure could be measured and attributed to
the assets reliably.

Film rights produced by the Group and perpetual
film rights acquired by the Group are capitalised as
intangible assets and stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Costs of film
rights produced by the Group and perpetual film
rights acquired by the Group represent the carrying
value transferred from films in progress upon
completion and the purchase price of the perpetual
film rights respectively. Amortisation is charged to
profit or loss over the expected number of future
showings.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Programming costs (Continued)

(e)

(i) Programming library (Continued)

Films in progress are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Costs include
all direct costs associated with the production of
films. Costs of films are transferred to film rights
upon completion.

(ii) Live programmes and in-house developed
programmes

Live programmes consist of third party feed
programmes while in-house developed
programmes consist primarily of news,
documentary and general entertainment
programmes with short lead-time from production
to telecast. The costs of both types of programmes
are charged to profit or loss upon telecast. Payments
of programme costs made in advance or in arrears
are recorded as prepayments or accruals, as
appropriate.

Other intangible assets

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life
is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Otherintangible assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Club debentures

The Group's club debentures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group at cost less impairment losses (see Note

3(p)(iD).

Computer software and website
development costs

The Group's computer software and website
development costs are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Computer software and
website development costs are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5
years.

Costs associated with maintaining software
programmes and website are recognised as an
expense as incurred. Development costs that are
directly attributable to the design and testing of
identifiable and unique computer software products
and website controlled by the Group are recognised
as intangible assets where the following criteria are
met:

— it is technically feasible to complete the
software and website so that it will be
available for use;

— management intends to complete the
software and website and use (or sell) it;

—  there is an ability to use or sell the software
and website;

—  itcan be demonstrated how the software and
website will generate probable future
economic benefits;
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Otherintangible assets (Continued)

(f)

(ii) Computer software and website
development costs (Continued)

— adequate technical, financial and other
resources are available to complete the
development and to use the software and
website; and

—  the expenditure attributable to acquisition,
development and enhancement of the
software and website can be reliably
measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as
intangible assets and amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use.

Computer software and website development costs
that do not meet the above criteria are expensed in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated on the weighted
average basis and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Financial instruments

(i)

(ii)

Recognition and initial measurement

The Group initially recognises trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, deposits and
borrowings on the date on which they are
originated. All other financial instruments are
recognised on the trade date, which is the date on
which the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability (unless it is trade
and other receivables without a significant financing
component) is measured initially at fair value plus, in
the case of an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. Transaction costs of financial assets or
liabilities carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or
loss. Trade and other receivables without a
significant financing component are initially
measured at transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
measured at: amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") or FVTPL.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to
their initial recognition, except if and in the period
the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Classification and subsequent
measurement (Continued)

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

—  the asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Trade and other receivables, including balances due
from group companies are classified as financial
assets at amortised cost. All other financial assets are
classified and measured at fair values.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
Financial assets at FVTPL and FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair values. Changes in
fair values of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Classification and subsequent
measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL. Financial liabilities at
amortised cost are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or
loss. Trade and other payables, including balances
due to group companies, interest-bearing
borrowings and convertible bonds are classified as
financial liabilities at amortised cost. The Group does
not have financial liability measured at FVTPL.

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in
which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in
which the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset. The Group enters into transactions
whereby it transfers assets recognised on its
consolidated statement of financial position, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the transferred assets. In such cases, the
transferred assets are not derecognised.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Derecognition (Continued)
Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled,
or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial
liability when its terms are modified and the cash
flows of the modified liability are substantially
different. In this case, a new financial liability based
on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished and the new financial
liability with modified terms is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the amounts and it intends either to
settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. Income and
expenses are presented on a net basis only when
permitted under HKFRSs, or for gains and losses
arising from a group of similar transactions such as
in the Group’'s trading activity.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on
hand, demand deposits with banks, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within 3 months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable

on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows of the Group.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises different types of revenue, as
follows:

U]

(i)

The Group enters into individual or packaged and
fixed price subscription sale contracts with
customers in which, it may include single or
multiple elements of subscription television services,
broadband internet access services and telephony
services. Under such arrangements, the total
transaction price receivable from customers is
allocated among the Group's performance
obligations on a relative standalone selling price
basis. The Group estimates the standalone selling
price at contract inception based on the observable
retail prices of the respective performance
obligations in similar circumstances to similar
customers. Revenue allocated to the subscription
television services, broadband internet access
services and telephony services is recognised over
time when the services are provided, which is
generally over the contract period. In general,
customers are invoiced according to agreed billing
schedules set out in the customer contracts,
invoices are usually billable in advance of the
services to be rendered and are due for payments
within 15 days.

Advertising revenue net of agency deductions is
recognised on telecast of the advertisement. When
an advertising contract covers a specified period,
the related revenue is recognised evenly over the
specified period. Customers are invoiced according
to agreed billing schedules, in advance of the
advertising services, with payments due within 30
days. In case of non-cash consideration under barter
transactions, the fair value of the non-cash
consideration is measured at the inception of
contracts. If the fair value cannot be reasonably
estimated, the Group measures consideration
indirectly by reference to the standalone selling
price of the services promised to the customer in
exchange for the consideration.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

Revenue from network construction service contract
is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation using
input method.

Revenue from rendering mobile agency services
and mobile services is recognised when the services
have been rendered. Variable fees are recognised
only to the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal will not occur.

Revenue from network leasing is recognised over
time on a straight line basis.

Revenue from theatrical distributions is recognised
when the films are exhibited.

Revenue from distribution of films is recognised
upon delivery of the master tapes to the customers.

Income from licensing of television rights is
recognised in full upon delivery of the programmes
concerned in accordance with the terms of the
licence contracts.

Income from network maintenance and operations
is recognised at the time when services are
provided.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal installments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of
the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivables.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

3.

FESTHER®@
(i) WAZER @

(iff)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

BB ERRE A HRATES HBRR
BAZ2REE2BITXBOEBNE
[EMHER,

RUERBEFERERSE LR BAR
BEEMRAR RIS HER - 7
B8 AN TR B8 3R AR R B
FER

BREERAR-BREHARERE

TIARER °

BB BT AN B R LRI T LARERR ©

BRBRTRANBEIMNERE TIA

<7
o

BB FATRRMA TR ZF
KRB INE L AERA 2 80 B Iy
FER

Bz&
T IA

&
Ea

PR S R E A TR IR Z S IR TS
T LATERR ©

FRKEHEMELNERASHEA
EHEHMmREN S EAERE
MERET TR B HEME
ERFRRMRREBAEEERS
RM B RIERSN - EETHE BN
WEMHEERBRBERTHRRAL/E
Wl FEREN —F D - KAES
A IRERE) & 5T AR A T LARERR ©

A SUWATEE AR IRERR A ROAMER



ERRBBNERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract with a
customer are capitalised as contract acquisition costs if the
Group expects to recover these costs. Costs of obtaining a
contract are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the specific contracts. As a practical expedient,
the Group recognises the incremental cost of obtaining a
contract as an expense when incurred if the amortisation
period of the asset that the Group otherwise would have
recognised is 1 year or less.

The period between the transfer of promised goods and
services to the customers and payments by customers
usually is within 1 year, as a result, there is no financing
component which requires adjustment of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

If the payments by customers exceed the services
rendered, a contract liability is recognised as receipts in
advance on the consolidated statement of financial
position. If the services rendered exceed the payments by
customers and unconditional rights to contract
consideration to date, a contract asset is recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Borrowing costs

U]

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted
or complete.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted at the
date of grant, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital when the
options are exercised. On lapse of share options according
to the plan, corresponding amount recognised in share
option reserve is transferred to retained profits.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

(m)

Share-based compensation (Continued)

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively. Current tax is the
expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax assets
are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will
arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the
expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria
are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that
is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available. Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability
to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the entity has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

(i) In the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
entity intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

(i) Inthe case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

(1) the same taxable entity; or

(2)  different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Translation of foreign currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar.
The Company's functional currency is Hong Kong dollar.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
orloss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair values are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(o) Related parties

0]

(i)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

m

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third parties.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(1) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(o) Related parties (Continued)

(p)

(i)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(8)  The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Impairment of assets

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for lifetime
expected credit loss ("ECL") on trade and other
receivables. For bank balances for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the loss
allowances are measured as 12-month ECL. Lifetime
ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months). In all cases, the maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Group's historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information. In all cases, the maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs and presentation of ECLs in
the consolidated statement of financial position

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. They are measured as follows:

— financial assets that are not credit-impaired at
the reporting date: as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive);

— financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date: as the difference between the
gross carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows;

— undrawn loan commitments: as the present
value of the difference between the
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group if the commitment is drawn down and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive; and

3.

FESTHER®@
(p) EERME@E

(i)

TREERRE 8
EETEMEENEERRB G HE
RUARR R BERTT RAFHTERES
BXE ARESEEABMA AN
BEMXFEE MASELETRE
IR T - EREREAEE
FESL B M A B R E B R R L &Y
FEMEHESMON - BIERIRE
MER - EFABRT @ EFHEBIE
FR1R KB 0 i R HATR 2 DA AR SR B T
EERBNAHM ERAE -

BHIEHERX AT EMAREE

MBMI K2 #H

EHERBRRAMEMEMGNGE
FRER - WIRA TS AGE -

— MRHEBABHREERED
CREE: RRAEAETRE
MBRE(BIRBEA VRN AEE
B IR &R A AN 5= B TR AT & U
MR R FNZRR)FTE

— REBESELAEEREND R
BE: BRBRESRKRRSRA
R AREMIRE 2 B ZE 8RR

==R

— KREDWERERGE: RRER
REBHNEHRSTE(WMRER
AEDWRI) MAEEEE
WEHReR s MO EEREE
HE R



ERRBBNERAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs and presentation of ECLs in
the consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

— financial guarantee contracts: the expected
payments to reimburse the holder less any
amounts that the Group expects to recover.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets. For debt securities at FVOC|,
the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no reasonable expectations of
recovering the financial asset. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;
—  right-of-use assets;

—  programming library (including film rights,
perpetual film rights and films in progress);

— otherintangible assets; and

— investments in subsidiaries and associate in
the Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives,
the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)
—  Reversals ofimpairment losses

In respect of assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(q) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group's chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM") for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities

(r)

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
The liability is initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at the higher of

—  the amount determined in accordance with
the expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments”; and

—  the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required
under the debt instrument and the payments that
would be required without the guarantee, or the
estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(r)

(s)

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees of the
Group, except to the extent that they are included in the
cost of property, plant and equipment and programming
library not yet recognised as an expense. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Transaction costs are
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial
liability, including fees and commissions paid to agents,
advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies
and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond
is determined using a market interest rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of
the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is
recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
income tax effects.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate. Government grants are deducted in
reporting the related expenses, when appropriate.

3.

FESTHER®@
() ATRRES

(u)

AMEESFNBRAREBENGAELEZ
RBRATER - XHRABWEE - BT
HECREENSRABERARZEE
A - BREARE  BER - EERX5EX
NzERRAE BEERBRESFRXIM
ZEE ARBEVEEBR - BERHE
RIDBHERATIR - MAGKENRRS
PR B0 [0 B (5 2 (R fa] 2 BR AR & B HI A
BERA AN B R NER -

AgREFAERS 2 AR EENERASE
BIFAMBESMBHNERETE - 2 &8
HEERAERESSRE BEEEHFER
KB HIEHE R - ISERBEIRES
A HARE o UL RERR R AT AR s (EHIRR
ABBRERE) -

B E
BB DR D A MEE - RABRE KU
18 B F2 A 5 80 36 020 < 2 BB B A A5 4 B
FIARER -

B A AN A8 B B KT 4R B 4 R SE - ST PR
FHR N ER R - AT & R E W 8K
7N o R # B X 2 R AR B B ST F0ORK (fis 3
F) e



188

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2021

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn a8 MR R

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(@) Recognition and recoverability of deferred

tax assets

Management considers the key source of estimation
uncertainty lies in the recognition of deferred tax assets
from unused tax losses. These tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely and have no expiry date. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be utilised. Management reviews the carrying amount
of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period,
based on the forecast results of the Group and the
forecasts of future taxable profits of the relevant entities
with recognised deferred tax assets. The forecasts take into
account the expected growth of the business due to the
new business development and the approved business
plans. Significant judgement is involved in assessing
whether there is convincing evidence that sufficient
taxable profits will be available in view of a history of
recent losses, including estimating the projected future
taxable profits and the timing of the utilisation of tax
losses (which is the evidence supporting the recognition
of deferred tax assets). In the event that the Group's
estimates of projected future taxable profits due to
changes in operating environment and business strategies
would impact the timing or extent of the Group's ability to
utilise the tax loss carry-forwards in the future, adjustments
to the recorded amount of deferred tax assets would be
required. For the purpose of sensitivity analysis, if the gross
revenue for each year in the forecasts were to decrease by
3% as compared with the forecasted amounts under the
base case scenario, deferred tax assets of about HK$25
million would not have been recovered within the forecast
periods adopted in the base case scenario.
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4.

(Continued)

(b) Impairment of property, plant and

SR R HE @)
(b) W% BERRE FHAREE -

equipment, right-of-use assets,
programming library and other related
intangible assets

Management regularly reviews whether there are any
indications of impairment and will recognise an
impairment loss if the carrying amount of an asset or a
cash generating unit is higher than its recoverable amount
which is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal or
its value in use.

Management uses the value in use model with reference
to the valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer to assess the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the
continuing use of the assets and to determine the
recoverable amounts of the cash generating unit to which
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
programming library and other related intangible assets
are allocated. The cash generating unit identified for such
impairment assessment is the Group as a whole.
Significant judgement is involved in the identification of
the cash generating unit to which the assets are allocated,
in assessing whether cash inflows are largely independent
and in determining the key assumptions adopted in the
cash flow forecast, including forecast revenue, forecast
programming costs, forecast network and other expenses,
annual growth rates, long term growth rate and discount
rate under value in use calculation. Changes in the
assumptions of the Group's estimates of projected cash
flows due to changes in operating environment,
uncertainty in the expected growth in business and
change in discount rate and long term growth rate would
impact the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit. For the purpose of sensitivity analysis, if the annual
estimated revenue is reduced by 3% and the discount rate
is increased by 0.5%, there would still be sufficient
headroom for the impairment assessment.
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4. =34t H B (@)
(Continued)

(b) Impairment of property, plant and (b) V% BEKRE FHAEEE -

equipment, right-of-use assets,
programming library and other related
intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amounts of acquired programmes, films
rights, perpetual film rights and films in progress are
estimated based on the projected future revenue to be
derived from all applicable territories and windows less
cost of disposal, taking into account historical
performances of films and programmes with comparable
budgets, casts, or other relevant qualities. Impairment is
made for carrying costs that are in excess of the expected
future revenue to be generated by these programmes and
films.

Films in progress are stated at cost less any impairment,
taking into account the project status and estimated
recoverable value. If revenue actually generated were to
fall short of forecasts, or there are changes in total
expected number of showings, amortisation may need to
be changed, or impairment may need to be made to
reduce the carrying value of individual programme or film
to its recoverable amount. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

ERTEREMEBELEER
B (@)

SMNEER B - EREINE  KABREMUE
LBEETEZHNAIRE S RERENAER
B A WO TR R R AR A
ite BERERIEF REEMNUERE
BREAILKEE  EANEMBRSNE -
IRZEE B MEFNRE KA SR IEL
EERARREA - EEEHRERS -

BEBEZRANBEMBEARK B
ZERINARBRETINBERMEA AT K
EHEE - IRER EELA R AERTER
HEFFHRIBERR A FNE - HIHER
ARERENE - HFEELREREAR
PHEFHBAEFHNREEZATKEEE -
ERRNBREREBERAT  BERGERA R
ZEHEFTBATR -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and price risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s businesses. The
Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets and other receivables.
Management has a defined credit policy in place with
general credit terms ranging from 0 to 15 days in respect
of television, broadband, telephony and mobile service
subscription and from 0 to 30 days in respect of
advertising, network leasing and network construction
services. The exposure to credit risks is monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk from customers receivables as
the customers’ bases were widely dispersed in different
sectors, except for a single external customer which
accounts for approximately 36% (2020: 47%) of the total
trade receivables, contract assets and other receivables.
Subscription revenue from customers is settled mainly in
cash or via major credit cards.

Contract assets are considered to have low credit risk.
Taking into account the historical settlement of
contractual payment and forward-looking factors,
management considered the lifetime ECLs surrounding
contracts is not significant.

Other receivables are considered to have low credit risk.
These assets are continuously monitored by assessing the
credit quality of the counter parties, taking into account
past experiences and other factors. Where necessary,
provision for impairment loss is made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the other receivables were fully performing.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of the trade receivables and contract
assets and other receivables in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

5.

BEEBEEREMIANQAEE

AEEEXG EEBRETELAEREE RPE
T ME - INERER ZRR - AERBEEEER %
5 RLR A K AN 6% 18 P DA 32 AL 5 L e O B TS TR e
EEBOR R EHIRAT o

(@) FERK
TEEZEERREZREEIREER
BHEENREMEKR - BEEEERT
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MRBEIEmME  —MATZERBAEIE
15H mMBtES  BEAERAKERR
Bms  —MAHZERSBAIE0RF
ERBER NEIER REATESE
EhrEREFREBEERE  REAX
FPEZOMETEEE  H—RE-HR
BEEREREERT  ANEEREME
WRIBAREA36% (T F 1 47%) B
Ghe REFIEREREETEURSHB B
FTEEAFREE-

AMEERBABEEERR - @5 28
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BXEREERERIENAAEER
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (%)

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) FRENVE LR

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and its
compliance with lending covenants. The Group's objective
is to maintain a balance between the continuity of funding
and the flexibility through use of interest-bearing
borrowings. As disclosed in Note 2, certain measures have
been taken by the Directors to mitigate the liquidity
pressures faced by the Group.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

RTIHNRBECEREE TR ENRE -
FPRBEEEEABEANRESRHBES REST
fERRe - ARBENARREREZRE
HEEBEATEER B EEMERNG
Ty o BIMME2AARE EECHRMET
BENBREASEMESORDESEN -

TRINBAKENRENEE B RERR
RZAEHRERERMABENITET
AeRAE(BREANMNEAELRER
SHEEEBITHOMNERFERNE(0F
8)) AERAKEABEEHEFEANRR
B RS
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BBEEREERSBMIENAAEBE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (%)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FREVE LR (®)
Carrying
amount in
the
Total consolidated
Within Between 1 Between 2 contractual statement of
1year or and and Over undiscounted financial
on demand 2years 5years 5years cash flows position
BYAM
1R 1HRE 264 E RETH GRUB
REREN BE2FR  BESER SENLE REREAE RRREKEE
At 31 December 2021 R-B=-5+=-A=+-H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET TET TET TET
Trade payables EREEER 57,613 - - - 57,613 57,613
Accrued expenses and other payables  TE$2 2 R Jt Efto JE 1 3% 253,172 - - - 253,172 253,172
Customers' deposits 2E%S 42,682 - - - 42,682 42,682
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEHN 300,191 - - - 300,191 295,000
Lease liabilities HERE 40,479 36,493 704 - 77,676 75122
Convertible bonds aRES 15,360 15,360 46,080 813,400 890,200 521,929
709,497 51,853 46,784 813,400 1,621,534 1,245,518
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

MBEREERERMTIANAAEE
(#0)

(b) REEERBSR (&)

Carrying
amountin
the
Total  consolidated
Within Between 1 Between 2 contractual  statement of
1 year or and and Over  undiscounted financial
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows position
[EAVEI]i]
E:3 2EE KA GRETS
BE2ERN  BESER SENE BeR U RARE(E
At 31 December 2020 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TET TEL TAT
Trade payables R & EER 69,126 - - - 69,126 69,126
Accrued expenses and other payables T2 B R R E MR T 246319 - - - 246319 246319
Customers' deposits RPEE 49622 - - - 49622 49622
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEN 298752 - - - 298752 295,000
Lease liabilties HERE 44520 40739 34387 - 119646 109,586
Convertible bonds AR ES 11,360 11,360 34,080 607,760 664,560 368,881
719,699 52,099 68467 607,760 1,448,025 1138534
(c) Interest rate risk (c) # $J_|,Fﬁ
At 31 December 2021, the Group's interest rate risk arises RZZB-_—F+-A=1+—8 KEEDHFH

primarily from the revolving loan of HK$295,000,000 (2020:
HK$295,000,000) from a banking facility. The loans at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had convertible bonds
of outstanding amount of HK$768,000,000 (2020:
HK$568,000,000). The coupon rate is 2% per annum and
payable quarterly.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had time deposits with
bank amounting to approximately HK$18,320,000 (2020:
HK$18,320,000) with original maturities of 61 to 365 days
(2020: 31 to 365 days).

ZXEBREFEZEERBRITRERENBRER
295,000,000 7 7T (=& ZF4F : 295,000,000 7
TL)MELE - REERNFBFEBHAE
ﬁiﬁﬁuwiﬂ—j{—‘ﬂﬁﬁ °

RZZE=Z—F+=ZA=+—H ' x£EF
i) 7% B8 4 7] #8 J% (E 2 & 88 768,000,000 75 T
(ZZF =T 4 : 568000,000587T) - 2B KA
TF 2% BIREZT -

RZZB=—F+=-A=+—RH ~EEBFAE
##918,320,00078 70 (ZZ =4 : 18,320,000
BIL)MERRTER REBAAOZE
365A(ZZF=ZF :31F365H) °



apapEnaRAn —2=-c5% (RN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBGERME

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

()

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Apart from the foregoing, the Group has no other
significant income-generating financial assets or interest-
bearing financial liabilities. The Group’s revenue, expenses
and cash flows are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates.

Effective interest rates analysis

In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-
bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates
their effective interest rates at the end of the reporting
period:

BHEEREEREMTIANAAEE

(%)

(c)

= [ B (&)
B2 AEBELEEMEA Y ATEL

WAETREELTESRAE - MHH X
EPHURAKEEZBA - ERARASREL
BEATE -

BRA RS

TRINBEBELERANEREER TS
ERBENRSHEER ZBRANX

Total Effective interest rate
g BRERFI=
2021 2020 2020
B —ET-FTF ZETF
Interest rate risk T =22 2 B HK$’000 HK$'000 %
TExT FET %
Floating rate: SFENFIE -
Cash at banks RITHRE 62,163 149,243 0.00 0.00
Interest-bearing borrowings ~ #5 B B X (295,000) (295,000) 1.74 507
(232,837) (145,757)
Fixed rate: & 7E F =& -
Time deposits with banks HRITE BT 18,320 18,320 0.10 0.08
Convertible bonds AR ES
— liability component — A& (521,929) (368,881) 7.48 7.69
(503,609) (350,561)

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group's loss before taxation and increased/
decreased the accumulated losses by approximately
HK$2,328,000 (2020: HKS$1,458,000).

R-EBE-—F+-A=+—8  HtH=
TR EF s TR 100 BER  mATE EMA]
FHRRRETE  BSAEEHRTATER
EAS TR ERAEE LA T ®Y
2,328,000/ 7C( = ZF4F : 1,458,000/87T) °
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Effective interest rates analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss before taxation and
accumulated losses that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end
of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-
derivative instruments held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period, the impact on the Group’s loss before
taxation and accumulated losses is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or income of such
a change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the
same basis as 2020.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
trade and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
restricted bank balances, cash and bank balances, and
trade and other payables that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily
United States dollars.

In view that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United
States dollar under the Linked Exchange Rate System in
Hong Kong, management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollar. It
is therefore assumed that the risk of movements in
exchange rates between Hong Kong dollar and United
States dollar would be insignificant. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

BEEBEEREMIANQIAEE

(%)

(c)

(d)

A = [ Bz ()
BRI DT (8

tﬂﬂmr DER  BRANEENRRE
% HEH WCEAEFTENRS
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BXEREERERIENAAEER
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (%)

(Continued)

(e) Pricerisk

(e) EEB

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments
and redemption option of long-term convertible bonds
recognised as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. The Group manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk and return
profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2021, if the price of the Group's
investments recognised as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss had been 1% higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the loss for the year would
have decreased/increased by approximately HK$87,000
(2020: Nil).

Base on the share price of the Company as at 31
December 2021, if the share price of the Company had
been HKS$0.01 higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the fair value of the redemption option of long-
term convertible bonds recognised as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss would have decreased by
approximately HK$3,780,000 and HK$21,236,000,
respectively (2020: Nil) and the loss for the year would
have increased by approximately HK$3,780,000 and
HK$21,236,000, respectively (2020: Nil).

AEBRERBREANBEFABRDN
TREENRPAIRBRESNRERED
EEEMERERRR AEBEBBER
AEBTRAERFEHREHENREAARE
BEEBRE -

BREDN
RZEBEZ—F+_A=+—8 WEEH
BRABBRARNBEMABENESRHEE
WIE 2B EF T 1% - mATE HA
FEEFETE  NFERNEBBBRLDEN
#4987,000 8L (ZEFF ) o

BEAATNR S -_—F+-_A=+—8H
FINE(E - WARBIMRELEF, T001E
L METEEMEHERFITE  AIEER
BEARBEAAEBEZNERNEENRED
RRESNELEZREALEEED
A4 3,780,000 7T & 21,236,000 8 L (= F
—EFE) MEAEBBZ D RIEMNG
3,780,000 JT 521,236 0008 T( —Z T =&
Fom) e
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(f)

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders of the Company and benefits for other
stakeholders of the Group, and to support the Group's
stability and growth, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholders return, taking into consideration the future of
the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or new
debt financing. The Group made no changes to its capital
management objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The net gearing ratio, measured in terms of the total
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bonds less
cash and bank balances and restricted bank balances
divided by total equity, was approximately 504% (2020:
136%). The capital structure of the Group was
approximately 85% (2020: 65%) debt and approximately
15% (2020: 35%) equity as at 31 December 2021.

BEEBEEREMIANQIAEE

(%)

(f)

EXEE
AEBHEMMRENEESRAREE
B EAEELNEZRENRREARSE
BREERE RS RHEBRARRR
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments

Financial instruments carried at fair value are measured by
different valuation methods. The inputs to valuation
methods are categorised into three levels within a fair
value hierarchy, as follows:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are
included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in Level 3.

BEEBEEREMIANQAEE

(9) EMIENAAREE

NARBEFENSHR TARATROMG
BT A E - EHETEANBARBBELEAR
BEERTHR/AT =R :
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

The following table presents the Group's assets that are
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period
on a recurring basis:

BREREEREHMIANAAEE
(#0)

(90 EMITENQAEE @

TREVNAEENREHRAEEEEE
BAREBEFENEE:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ E-R E= wEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THIT T FHIT FHIT
At 31 December 2021 R-ZB=-—F
+=—A=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL RARBETAERED
EREE
— Listed debt securities — FhEBKE 8,731 - - 8,731
— Redemption option of — REBRRKRES 2
long-term convertible E O] 42 4
bonds - - 87,005 87,005
8,731 - 87,005 95,736

At 31 December 2020 A
+ZA=+—

Assets BE

Financial assets at FVTPL BRARBEFAERHN
TREE

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

BT ﬁ& E_TEF_A=1—
RIESFE  F-RRE-_RZELEES
Wﬁﬁiﬁ%)\%i%&i}ié%ii&ﬁﬁ REEH
BREAERELEBNHRENEERERRD
REEERZANEE -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BBEEREERSBMIENAAEBE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments (9) ERMTANAIAEBEM@
(Continued)
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 TRENE=ZFeRTANEE T ——
financial instrument for the year ended 31 December F+ZA=ZT—HLEFENED :
2021:

Redemption

option
fEERIERE
HKS$'000
FHTT
At 1 January 2021 R-ZF-_—F—H—H -
Inception of redemption option of long-term A RHIRRES A ERE 2R
convertible bonds 78,061
Unrealised fair value change recognised in RIEEE WA FRBIER R R IR
non-operating income, net NABEEES 8944
At 31 December 2021 WZZE-——F+=-F=+—H 87,005
The following table summarises the quantitative TEBMAE=ZRAABEFAEMAEART
information about the significant unobservable inputs AEREABBERANEER

used in Level 3 fair value measurements:

Fair value at Range of Relationship of
31 December Unobservable unobservable Unobservable inputs
2021 inputs inputs to fair value
R-EZ-—-%
+=A
=+—HH FAEE TEEE A& sEm A\ iR
AAEE WABE WABERER QNAEENER
HKS$'000
FAT
Redemption option of long-term 87,005 Discount rate 6.88% The higher the discount rate,
convertible bonds the lower the fair value of

the redemption option of
long-term convertible bonds

RHEIAJ AR E S 2 B O E 87,005 BhIF = 6.88% BhIREME - REFATHAAR
BAEREOEEREN

AR EEYE
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BXEREERERIENAAEER

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

The main Level 3 input used by the Group in measuring
the fair value of financial instrument is derived and
evaluated as follows:

Discount rate was determined with reference to the risk-
free rate, credit spread of comparable bonds and liquidity
spread in the market.

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2021 and
2020.

REVENUE

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities of the Company set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue comprises principally subscription, service and related
fees for television, broadband internet access and telephony
services. It also includes advertising revenue net of agency
deductions, channel service and distribution fees, programme
licensing income, film exhibition and distribution income,
network leasing income, network construction income, mobile
service income, mobile agency service income and other
telecommunications income.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group managed its businesses according to the nature of
services provided. The Group’s CODM, which comprises
executive Directors and senior management of the Company,
has determined two reportable operating segments for
measuring performance and allocating resources. The segments
are media and telecommunications.

()
(90 EMITENQAEE @

AEEE R ST A AR BEE AN
T EE=REABBR LT A ARG R
fi

BRE2EMS EHEARFIE - TE
HEESNEEEER RS ES 82 M

E o

NEERK AR HEXATENSm T A
MEmMERER T -_—FR_FT_TF
T A=t HHNARBETESEAKER -

BA

AR EBEHRRARR - AAAEBHE
ARARGABHIEREY EBEBRINGAR
BN S -

WATEBRERER RELEREREFRPR
BERTE R LAERE - Y BREMRRIER
BRRZESEA  SRBREREXREE - &
BT - BB iR R EITRA - BERE
WA~ BEEREA - REBBARBEA R
BRAAERGBAREMERLA -

7 ERE R
REBREIBHEORBOEERERHES o &
SEEIBUERRA(BEARANTEERS
RERE) O TR ERESIR2EE DB TE
RARSRAR - HASHARERTA -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The media segment includes operations related to the television
subscription business, domestic free television programme
service, advertising, channel carriage, television relay service,
programme licensing, theatrical release and other related
businesses.

The telecommunications segment includes operations related to
broadband internet access services, portal operation, telephony
services, network leasing, network construction, mobile service
and mobile agency service as well as other related businesses.

The CODM evaluates performance primarily based on segment
results before depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, amortisation of other intangible assets,
corporate expenses, corporate depreciation of property, plant
and equipment, interest income, finance costs, non-operating
income, net and income tax, but after amortisation of
programming library and amortisation of contract acquisition
costs. Besides, the CODM also evaluates performance based on
segment results before corporate expenses, corporate
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, interest income,
finance costs, non-operating income, net and income tax, but
after amortisation of programming library, amortisation of
contract acquisition costs, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets and amortisation of other
intangible assets.

Inter-segment pricing is generally determined at arm’s length
basis.

Segment assets principally comprise all assets with the exception
of interest in an associate, deferred tax assets and assets
managed at the corporate office. Segment liabilities include all
liabilities, convertible bonds and interest-bearing borrowings
directly attributable to and managed by each segment with the
exception of current tax liabilities and liabilities at corporate
office.

Besides, the CODM is also provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment revenue).

DEER (&)

s NaEELEREEREREMETE - &
WEBERGERE  BL  AEEE . BaE
SEIRTS - 85 BT - SRR AR R E A AT o

B MERKLEAARIA MRS - WG]
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AR N i B E AR IR RS DA S Lt R SR 75

ERRATEERDEECRBEDE -
Jﬂ%& SEREREEENE HtBTZEES
B bERAX - CEME - BELRETE - F
BBA - BEER  FFEEWAFBEARAER
R EEMERERE Eﬁ&fﬁ&m,ﬁﬂ&ﬁ%}ﬂz$%fﬁ)
KEHERIR o oo TBEERBATERKE
XM m%%% B MEBITE - FE
WA BEER #%&ELIWK/%%E&A,JRIE
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 is set out below:

o EBE R (@)
BE-T-—FR-ZT-TF+-F=+—8it
EE - RERD m&¢MAﬂﬁﬁﬁng%@
RE AR AR E B RETI R 2 5 HE K7 B
K

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

Media Telecommunications Total
Hee B zE
2021 2020 2021 2020 pLipA] 2020
CE IR BT TFE B F-TF
HK$'000  HKS000 HK$'000  HKS000 HK$'000  HKS'000
THET T FET FHET F#ET FHT
Reportable segment revenue FED R 7 5 EBUT A 572,487 656,485 | 416,918 412,700 | 989,405 | 1,069,185
Less: Inter-segment revenue B o EbZ YA - - (208) (208) (208) (208)
Revenue from external customers R ENEEF 2 WA 572,487 656,485 | 416,710 | 412492 | 989,197 | 1068977
Revenue from contracts with BEEAKWA
customers:
Timing of revenue recognition: TERU A BB -
At a point in time R 19,269 20,743 46,412 36,728 65,681 57,471
Over time R —ER B 499,783 593,557 | 369,892 375298 | 869,675 968,855
Revenue from other sources: EAbARUA -
Rental income e 53,435 42,185 406 466 53,841 42,651
572,487 656,485 416,710 412,492 989,197 1,068,977
Reportable segment (loss)/profit — FRINBRITE K HAb
before depreciation and mIEESEIZ
amortisation of other FEF R B0 (E51R),
intangible assets gl (187,864) (124,987) | 150,982 172,319 (36,882) 47,332
Depreciation WE (116,602) (128,781) (88,543) (80,838) | (205,145) (209,619)
Amortisation of other intangible  H th SE/Z & 2 # 4
assets (4,040) (4,054) - - (4,040) (4,054)
Reportable segment results MR 2R R ERT
before corporate expenses 2 IES R EBEE
and corporate depreciation (308,506) | (257,822) 62,439 91,481 | (246,067) | (166,341)
Corporate expenses ERE (52,715) (57,504)
Corporate depreciation ERE (9,847) (10,601)
Loss from operations s B (308,629) | (234,446)
Interest income FE YA 1,177 423
Finance costs RhEEMR (46,307) (41,258)
Non-operating income, net WA FEE 1,544 417
Income tax AN EHiIE (11,437) (523)
Loss for the year FREE (363,652) | (275,387)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

o EE R (&)

2021 2020
=B —F —ECEF
HK$'000 HK$/000
TET TET
Segment assets PBEE
Media 1HEe 662,928 806,682
Telecommunications Fal 498,568 469,437
1,161,496 1,276,119
Corporate assets EEE 34,595 31,636
Interest in an associate i N _ _
Deferred tax assets EIEF A = 289,501 300,525
Total assets HWEE 1,485,592 1,608,280
Segment liabilities PHEE
Media g 786,459 787,191
Telecommunications E5l 537,681 445,445
1,324,140 1,232,636
Corporate liabilities TEaE 15,282 10,409
Current tax liabilities EHHRIESE 81 68
Total liabilities weE 1,339,503 1,243,113

Geographical segment:

No geographical segment information is shown as, during the
year presented, less than 10% of the Group’s segment revenue,
segment results, segment assets and segment liabilities are
derived from activities conducted outside Hong Kong.

Information about major customer:

Revenue of approximately HK$139,813,000 (2020:
HK$131,953,000) were derived from a single external customer
during the year ended 31 December 2021, of which
approximately HK$137,813,000 (2020: HK$129,393,000) and
approximately HK$2,000,000 (2020: HK$2,560,000) were
attributed to the telecommunications segment and the media
segment, respectively.

b 33 2 5P

RREMEROFEAR - NEEREEFT BN
EITHRBZDERA - DBRE - D BEER

HEREDT0% - FHW R HIO 5 AR -
FREEEFNER:

(ECE_—F+A=+—HIEFE  BKALY
139,813,000/ 7L ( Z & == 4 : 131,953,000/ 7T )
TR E—INARE - E49137,813,000%87L(=
T ZFHF 1 129,393,000 7T ) K £92,000,0007 (=
T T ¢ 2,560,000/87L) D RIFEBREM D HBR
BB -
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8.

Loss before taxation is stated after (crediting)/charging:

BREBLATE 1R

2021
—E_—F

HK$’000

Interestincome
Interest income from deposits with banks

FEBA
RITERE LD EBFSFHEWA

FEx

BRBBIEIRE T A/ HBR TIFIEA

2020
—EC_ETF
HK$'000
T

and listed debt securities (1,177) (423)
Finance costs mMEEH
— Interest expenses on borrowings —BRFELZH 5,116 7315
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEaENEXZ T 5,578 6,289
— Interest expenses on convertible bonds — ATMRESFFE X 35,613 27,654
Staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments ETEM ' @IEEEHM
Salaries, wages and other benefits* e TENEMBER 369,718 363,278
Contributions to defined contribution ERRFURIKE T8I 2 7R
retirement plans 16,565 22,885
Other items Hy1E g
Depreciation E
— assets held for use under operating leases — REREHERIEERACEE 22,833 24,782
— other assets —EmEE 151,125 158,224
— right-of-use assets —FREEE 41,034 37,214
214,992 220,220
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 8. BERBIAIEE @)
2021 2020
=B —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&x T
Amortisation s
— programming library** — A& 50,684 52,803
— contract acquisition costs — B KRR AR 16,057 24,151
— other intangible assets —EmmTEE 4,040 4,054
(Reversal of loss allowance)/net loss RIS SR (BB RS
allowance on trade receivables Bm),/ E R T (3,930) 1,859
Carrying amount of inventories consumed EREAREEFEZREE
and sold 9,140 11,111
Write down of inventories 7 &MUk 1,316 812
Rental expenses in respect of land and buildings Tt ATHE & EHE HHEE K&
under short-term leases and low-value leases EEEHEERETH LR
not included in lease liabilities BFHReRAX 9,227 10,526
Auditor's remuneration ZE BN <
— audit services — ZHRT 2,560 2,790
— non-audit services — FEEEARTE 819 1217
Net foreign exchange gain SN a H R (289) (691)
Rental income under operating leases LEHERS WA
in respect of
— owned plant and machinery — BAME MR (53,841) (42,651)
Non-operating income, net LB A F 5
— gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 18(b)) — HERB AR Z WS
(i 18(b)) - (17)
— net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, — HEYE  WMENEREZ
plant and equipment B8 (=) F5 136 (96)
— gain on modification of lease contracts —BRIHEE K 2 W (148) an
— gain on disposal of financial assets —HERAREBEFAERN
at FVTPL (Note 21(b)) S RVEE 2 Wk (it 21b) - (293)
— loss on redemption of financial assets —EBEZR AR EBETAERZN
at FVTPL (Note 21(b)) TREEZEE(FaE21b) 70 -
— net fair value gains on financial assets —RARBEFABTZDN
at FVTPL (Note 21(b)) TREENAABERSFE
(KizE21(b)) (1,602) -
* During the year ended 31 December 2021, no subsidy (2020: subsidies of * HE-_T-——F+-A=1+—HIFE  WEEEEF
approximately HK$68,591,000) from the Employment Support Scheme under TR R BT a8 57 BB R H 5 T8 TRt E a1 V1R (A9 /8 B
the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the Government of the Hong Kong Special (ZFE=FF : f{HA5#968591,0008 ) Bt A%z - T
Administrative Region were included in salaries, wages and other benefits. BREMEF -
o Amortisation of programming library was included within programming costs o R B B i B 1A R AR EFAR A 1R &k 2 B B RIE K

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group. ZA e
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9. INCOME TAX 9. AEBIE
Hong Kong and other jurisdictions profits tax has been provided EBEMHEMEEERNER D BIZ 165X (=
at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) and at the rates of taxation T-FF 1 165%) MAEBK LR R EERZ
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates WITHRERETF
respectively.
(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement (a) FEBBERAZAEHIEGE

of profit or loss represents:

2021 2020
=B —F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FBTT
Current income tax EEAERIE
Provision for the year FARE 413 523
Deferred income taxation (Note 27(b)) EEABBE (K aF270)) 11,024 -
Income tax ABHIA 11,437 523
(b) Reconciliation between the effective (b) EMRAEHREFEF R 2 HER !
income tax rate and the applicable tax
rate:

Statutory income tax rate ETEANBTE (16.5) (16.5)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR 2 TN & 2.4 42
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBRBRARNT B2 (0.8) (4.7)
Tax effect of temporary differences RER R BN BT E

not recognised 0.1 03
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised AR AE AR FSEIER

TS 2 18.9 20.3

Tax effect of previously unrecognised LAE R RSB BRI R

tax losses now recognised MBTE (1.1) (4.0)
Differential tax rate on subsidiaries’ income B ARIRARNREER 0.2 -
Fffective income tax rate ERABB X 3.2 02
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10. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 10. EE/EAR A=

The following disclosures are made pursuant to section 383(1) of AT BRERBET RN BB EFE 622 EFH(AF

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and Part 2 to 4 151 ) 88 383(1) & R B B A& Il 88 622G E (A Al (3

of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of BEEEMNFER RO 2 E - ENED R ENE

Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) are as follows: T

Discretionary
bonuses
and/or
Salaries  Retirement performance
and other scheme related Total
benefits contributions bonuses emoluments
BsaAR/
Fek BASHE IREEET
ok Hitn2aE H LA 2T Pk
Name of Directors HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TR TR TR TR
2021: —E-—F:
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry (Chairman, BREEL (T FHTEE)
Non-executive Director) (note (i) (Batm) 60 - - - 60
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, BEeEmES
Non-executive Director) (note (i) (BIEE - FHTEE)H70)) 60 - - - 60
Mr. TSANG On Vip, Patrick (Vice-chairman, BRERE(FEE HITEE)
Executive Director) (note (i) & (i) (i i) R (i) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng ZTEBLE
(Executive Director) (note (iii) (BTEZE) (W i) 60 - - - 60
Mr. Andrew \Wah Wai CHIU BERLE
(Non-executive Director) (note (iv)) (SR TEE) (Wit (v) 60 - - - 60
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard s E
(Non-executive Director) (FBiTEZE) 60 - - - 60
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica EYiF ot
(Non-executive Director) (HHTEFE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey MESBEE (B UHHTESE)
(Independent non-executive Director) 60 - - - 60
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman RERELT (B HHTTEE)
(Independent non-executive Director) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EESEE(BUSHITEE)
(Independent non-executive Director) 80 - - - 80
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BERRE(BUHHNTEE)
(Independent non-executive Director) 80 - - - 80
700 - - - 700

Notes: Bt -

0 Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu has been re-designated from the Chairman to a Vice- (i) T ESEESECHFRALBEIERE  BRAEEL
chairman, and Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry has been re-designated from the RlBEIFREATAFRE BT _—F+—A=+HE
Vice-chairman to the Chairman, with effect from 30 November 2021. EXf e

(ii) Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick has been appointed as a Vice-chairman with effect (ii) DR EELREFE BT —F1+—HA=+
from 30 November 2021. HABAERL °

(i) each of Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick and Mr. Lie Ken Jie Remy Anthony Ket Heng (iii) BRI ERFEIB L5 B AIFRNTTEFATANT
has been re-designated from a non-executive Director to an executive Director BE T —F—A=THREER
with effect from 30 November 2021.

(iv)  Mr. Andrew Wah Wai Chiu has been re-designated from an executive Director (v) HEELZFECEHNTEFHERFHNTEE 5-F

to a non-executive Director with effect from 30 November 2021. Z—Ft—A=1HBEN -
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10. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 10. EEEF Rz @
(Continued)
Discretionary
bonuses
and/or
Salaries Retirement  performance
and other scheme related Total
benefits  contributions bonuses  emoluments
7NV
ik H =285 HE
Name of Directors HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT THT THT
2020: e S 3
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Chairman, A2 ERES
Non-executive Director) (FF  FH7EZ) 60 - - - 60
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry (Vice-chairman, Hrmmt
Non-executive Director) (BIFfE  FHiTEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. TSANG On Vip, Patrick DRELE
(Non-executive Director) (H#77EE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard fLEEss
(Non-executive Director) (H#77EE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Rerny Anthony Ket Heng FEBLE
(Non-executive Director) (H#77EE) 60 - - - 60
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica RIEFRLL
(Non-executive Director) (H#77EE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU BEREE
(Executive Director) (BTEZ) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey B EE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUH#HITEE) 60 - - - 60
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman HEREL
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHITEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EEREA
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHITEE) 80 - - - 80
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BERLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHITEE) 80 - - - 80

700 - - - 700
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10. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 10. EEEANR A= &)

(Continued)

There was no compensation for loss of office and/or inducement
for joining the Group paid/payable to the directors of the
Company in respect of the years ended 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no retirement
benefits, payments or benefits in respect of termination of
directors’ services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the
directors; nor are any payable (2020: HKS$Nil). No consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available directors’ services (2020: HKSNil). There are no loans,
quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, their
controlled bodies corporate and connected entities (2020:
None).

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and at the end of the
year, no Director had or has a material interest, directly or
indirectly, in any significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was or is a party (2020: None).

HE T -+ -_A=+—BR-ZT_FTF
+ - A=+ BUEFEIECN TEANBEEEE
Y/ SR ENMAEBRERE T ARTNES -

HE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HILFE #HEH}
RUIFEERBER KR AE A TIRFRA
B AR AE - REEAENRAE(ZE
THETER) MENEFRERTMAE=
AXNBERREB(ZZ_2F - THT) - 5iE
NESE  IRFEFRFNEAEELEEERRE
RRBANEFR  BUERHEMLRH(ZF =
TE ) -

BE_Z-_—F+-A=+—RHILFERRF
R BEEFERIREREARAEKEHA
ARRBRREAMABEFTINENEARS &L
BRANTHREEA AR (T -_FF 1 &) -
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11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 11. B AT REHETEEMS
AND EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
(@) Five highest paid individuals (a) ANBEHFAL
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the five ERAM(ZZE-_ZTF : Af) ZReaH AL
(2020: five) individuals with the highest emoluments are as B¢ Ezgm T -
follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT T
Salaries and other benefits e M EMERY 9,255 9,221
Retirement scheme contributions RIREETEIH R 335 447
Discretionary bonuses and/or performance BB TEAL N SIR EBEE T
related bonuses ZIEAT - _
Share options TE R - -
9,590 9,668
The emoluments of the five (2020: five) individuals with R (ZEZZF A &ZeHALTZEH
the highest emoluments are within the following bands: SARBIAT ¢
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AEL
1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001-2,000,000 4 4
2,000,001-2,500,000 2,000,001-2,500,000 1 1
2,500,001-3,000,000 2,500,001-3,000,000 - -
3,000,001-3,500,000 3,000,001-3,500,000 - -
3,500,001-4,000,000 3,500,001-4,000,000 - -
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1. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 11. B AT RS REEEM < &)
AND EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR

MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Emoluments of senior management b)) ShEEEMS
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the emoluments HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—RHLFE"
of the senior management of the Group, whose AEBSHEREB(REZBEFBHNA
biographical details are set out in the “Biographical Details FRIESLaMEREZEN] —8H) 2
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this HENAE R

annual report, were within following bands:

2021 2020
:g:-qﬁ — 7 —= E'E
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AB
Nil-1,000,000 0-1,000,000 - -
1,000,001-1,500,000 1,000,001-1,500,000 - -
1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001-2,000,000 1 1
2,000,001-2,500,000 2,000,001-2,500,000 1 1
2,500,001-3,000,000 2,500,001-3,000,000 - -
3,000,001-3,500,000 3,000,001-3,500,000 - -
3,500,001-4,000,000 3,500,001-4,000,000 - -
2 2
12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREER
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREXREIE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss BIREAREBIB BB QG =R R EEE
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of 8493636520008 7T (ZE ZF4F : 275387,000
approximately HK$363,652,000 (2020: HK$275,387,000) BT RERERR TE%%H%@&(FM&N)
and the weighted average number of 7,134,623,520 Z I E 71346235208 (Z T T4 ¢
ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares") (2020: 7,134,623 520 %) 5T & -
7,134,623,520 Shares) in issue during the year.
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) EREEEIE
The diluted loss per Share for the years ended 31 BE-E - —FR-ZF-_TF+-_A=1—
December 2021 and 2020 equals to the basic loss per HItFEMNTREEHBIEETREAKREIER
Share since the exercise of the outstanding share options £ WIERITERBRATNR=ZE—N\F
of the Company (the “Share Options") granted under the F A=+ IR E ([ B AR T
share option scheme of the Company adopted on 24 May )R H 2 AR A RITE R RE (BB R
2018 (the "Share Option Scheme”) and conversion rights #E ) K3k E T RERRIRRRE ST 2 g
attached to the unlisted long-term convertible bonds TeHgREEES#ENE -

would not have a dilutive effect on the loss per Share.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BERZRE

Leasehold land
and building in

Network assets Furniture, Hong Kongand
and television fixtures, other The People’s
production equipmentand Republic Leasehold
systems  motor vehicles of China  improvements

EEER

HEARLA

RREER HE %E. gL
BRRERE HtRBRAE kgF HENERE b
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TR TR THBT

Cost A
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZZE—-F—H 6,172,548 652,750 28353 277357 7,131,008
Additions IR 87,041 12456 - 472 99969
Disposals HE (35948) (7,466) - 9 (43423)
Exchange differences ERER - 857 1442 91 2720
At 31 December 2020 R-B-ZE+-A=1-H 6223641 658,597 29,795 278241 7190274
Cost B

At 1 January 2021 RZE--F—A—H 6,223,641 658,597 29,795 278,241 7,190,274
Additions b 100,490 12,583 - 6,663 119,736
Disposals HE (15,591) (10,960) - - (26,551)
Exchange differences EXES - 547 921 269 1,737
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—F+-A=+—H 6,308,540 660,767 30,716 285,173 7,285,196




apEpEnERAR —F=—55% PLINL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBGERME

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BERKRE @

(Continued)

Leasehold land
and building in
Network assets Furniture, Hong Kongand

and television fixtures, other The People’s
production equipment and Republic Leasehold
systems  motor vehicles of China  improvements
EEER
BE YN
REEER KR KB ZEELTH
ERBEZAR HiRERSE kEF HEWERE L
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt T T Tt

Accumulated depreciation ~ ZiHTE

At 1 January 2020 RZE-Z5-F-H 5446947 632,985 13867 250,137 6,343,936
Charge for the year KEEHR 165,013 8,176 1075 8,742 183,006
Written back on disposals HERED (35577) (7439) - 7 43019)
Exchange differences EHER - 855 778 414 2,047
At 31 December 2020 RZB-ZE+-_A=1+-H 5576383 634,581 15,720 259,286 6,485,970
Accumulated depreciation R E

At 1 January 2021 RZE-—-%—-A—H 5,576,383 634,581 15,720 259,286 6,485,970
Charge for the year KEEIR 156,136 8,904 1,148 7,770 173,958
Written back on disposals HERERD (15,240) (10,959) - - (26,199)
Exchange differences EREE - 547 516 264 1,327
At 31 December 2021 R-B-—-&5+-A=1+—H 5,717,279 633,073 17,384 267,320 6,635,056
Net book value REFE

At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-A=+—H 591,261 27,694 13,332 17,853 650,140
At 31 December 2020 R-B-ZE+-A=1+—H 647,258 24016 14075 18,955 704,304
As at 31 December 2021, the net book value of plant and RZEZ—F+ZA=+—8 ' *5EFEAR
equipment of the Group held for use in operating leases were B TH B B R N iR 1 BR T T (E £ 34,902,000 78

approximately HK$34,902,000 (2020: HK$46,330,000). TL(ZEZFF 1 46,330,000/87T) °
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14. LEASES 14. &
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a A sriR AN EREAEBANBAEELE -
lessee.
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REEHBRARREINESE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows GEMBRARENATEEESHANE
the following amounts relating to leases: LENE
2021 2020
—B-—F —E_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Properties L7 74,231 112,203
Lease liabilities HESRE
Current nE) 38,930 41,535
Non-current JEmED 36,192 68,051
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended (E-_FE-_—F+-_A=+T—HIEFE"
31 December 2021 were approximately HK$5,669,000 IBME A EX5669000/8TL(ZF=F

(2020: HK$25,697,000). F 1 25,697,000%7T) °
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—E--FF® PAY

14. LEASES (Continued) 14. HE @)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) REZEEERERNESEH

statement of profit or loss

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the
following amounts relating to lease:

REBRBRREJINTEHERRNER

2021 2020
—F--F —ZT-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Depreciation charge of FEHAEEERE
right-of-use assets Bx
Properties L ES 8 41,034 37,214
Interest expense FEZH
(included in finance costs) GtAREER) 8 5,578 6,289
Expense relating to short-term leases H24Z EAFAE AR 2 i 2 8 8,617 9,714
Expense relating to leases of low-value it ZR%|| A5 HATH & B &
assets that are not shown above REBEEEHERBZ
as short-term leases X 8 610 812

The total cash outflows for leases in 2021 was
approximately HK$52,181,000 (2020: HK$47,206,000).

The Group leases a number of premises under operating
leases mainly for use as office premises, car parks and
warehouses. The terms of the leases vary and may be
renewable on a monthly basis or run for an initial period of
2 to 15 years (2020: 2 to 15 years), and certain leases have
an option for a 3-year term, to renew the lease after that
date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease
payments are usually adjusted every 2 to 3 years to reflect
market rentals. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.

R_EZ-—F HENRSRAEAEY
52,181,000/ 7( =B = Z4F : 47206000/7T) ©

AEBUKERERFRABEETYE £
TAHERREDE FESRKEE - Y
GRS AR - Al AR VIA AR A2
EISF(ZEEF2F15F)  MET
MHBE—EHABIFREERE  AJfE% A%
ER ERNEEREENER - AEH
R—BE2E3FHB—X - URBTIHHE
o WERHTBIERATS -
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14. LEASES (Continued)

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how
they are accounted for

(i)

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in
terms of managing contracts. Approximately 76%
(2020: 71%) of the total lease payments made in
2021 were optional.

In determining the lease term, management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option,
or not exercise a termination option. Extension
options (or periods after termination options) are
only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated). Potential future cash outflows of
approximately HK$62,070,000 (2020: HK$65,187,000)
have not been included in the lease liability because
it is not reasonably certain that the leases will be
extended (or not terminated).

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or
a significant change in circumstances occurs which
affects this assessment and that is within the control
of the lessee. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the financial effect of revising lease terms to
reflect the effect of exercising termination option
was a decrease in recognised lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$2,696,000
and HK$2,548,000 (2020: HKS HK$553,000 and
HK$565,000) respectively.

The Group leases out decoders to subscribers under
operating leases which are renewable on a monthly basis.
None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

14. HE (&)

(0 AEENHAEFHRAEIEKRLN

(i) ERRZLILZEERE
REBRZMHMERNBREERREL
1FEREE - 25BN EERARER
REEEANETINEEETE - »
ZE I —FEEMEENTREFRLD
76%( — T T F : 71%) AR IRIEE
E °

RETHEHRE TRESZEE
ETFERBER ST THERIEIRIE
BREESEE RN EETE RSB
Mo EREERTLERBEO (LT
IERH) T FegtrEERE (R
IFEERENHEBFATRESR - B
REZEEBBEERNBE FER(SE
A1) - B #962,070,0008 T (ZF
T 1 65,187,000/ 7T ) O EFE R K
REMEREFAHEAE -

MEEAEZEZTHNEREMFHEKXR
BRes) - BB HELAEALE
HlEE A - Alg Y2 A ERR -
HE_T-—F+A=+—HILHF
& BRI HE R ARATHELL EE
ERNZENTHTE  BEWRA
EBBELFARBREESAIRALY
2,696,000 78 7T M 2,548,000 70 (ZF =
T 1 553,000 70 K 56500078 7T) °

REENGEHELRBIETEP - 1t
ERZHEBAEH  YTEEAHEE -
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15. PROGRAMMING LIBRARY

15. {EFEIB

2021 2020
=B —F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET
Cost A
At 1 January n—H—H 620,854 683,407
Additions R 47,787 42,698
Written off sy (141,660) (105,251)
At 31 December R+—A=+—8 526,981 620,854
Accumulated amortisation Rty
At 1 January ®n—H—H 549,966 602,414
Charge for the year REFEEHR 50,684 52,803
Written off bz (141,660) (105,251)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 458,990 549,966
Net book value BRMEFE
At 31 December ARt+-A=+—H 67,991 70,388

AREERELNBELFERGNE  UEEEEZ
AR R - AR R - FRLEERAEER
ZECTFE THET) e

The management of the Group undertook a review of its
programming library to assess the respective recoverability. As a
result of the assessment, no impairment loss was recognised
during the year (2020: HKSNIl).
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HtEILEE

Computer
software Website
Club development development
debentures costs costs Total
BB B3k
a8 BEER HEER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET FHET
Cost 5N
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZTF—H—H 1218 19,732 - 20,950
Additions 2R - 606 - 606
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HKBAR - (186) - (186)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZF+-_A=1+—H 1218 20,152 - 21370
Cost AR
At 1 January 2021 WZZE—_—%—H—H 1,218 20,152 - 21,370
Additions R - - 166 166
At 31 December 2021 R_Z_—F+_A=+—H 1,218 20,152 166 21,536
Accumulated amortisation E:Ge £
At 1 January 2020 KRZZ-ZZEF—-H—H - 1610 - 1610
Charge for the year REEFR - 4,054 - 4,054
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHHB AR - 31) - (31)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZZE_ZF+-_A=+—H - 5,633 - 5633
Accumulated amortisation i*"l‘ﬁﬁ
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—%—HA—H - 5,633 - 5,633
Charge for the year REEHR - 4,030 10 4,040
At 31 December 2021 NZ_E-_—F+-A=+—H - 9,663 10 9,673
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2021 RZZE-_—F+-A=+—H 1,218 10,489 156 11,863
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-ZTF+-A=+—H 1218 14,519 - 15,737
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

U]

(i)

The useful lives of the club debentures are indefinite.
Accordingly, no amortisation was charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group
during the current and prior years. The Group completed
its annual impairment test for the club debentures by
comparing the fair values less costs of disposal of the club
debentures to their carrying amounts as at the end of the
reporting period. No impairment loss was recognised
during the year (2020: HKSNIil).

The Group's computer software development costs and
website development costs are amortised using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 5
years. No impairment loss was recognised during the year
(2020: HKSNIl).

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group's interest in an associate are as follows:

Name of associate

BENTER

Place of
incorporation/
operation

MR R

Form of
business
structure

(GB35

FRM Film InvestCo LLC Incorporated State of Delaware USA
FRM Film InvestCoLLC 3£ AL EEFHEM

FRM Film InvestCo LLC was dissolved on 30 March 2021.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has
not taken into account the effect of transactions or events of the
associate as the associate was inactive during the year. Since the
Group's share of losses has already exceeded its interest in
associate, the Group's interest was recorded at HKSNil as at 31
December 2020 and no recognition of future losses is expected
as the Group has no legal or constructive obligation in respect of
such losses.

17.

Principal
activities

FREK

Inactive

BB

. R ELEE @

) SRYERH AWK RAFERBESF
EARBGEBRERALETIZEE - B
BEBRERRZAAREBEREEEEZK
AEREZ FRMEMRYL  AEETAHE
SRFERENA - FRAYERRDREES

BT T8 °

AEBZEREHAEERRBHRARE
REAEARER S FEFHER MRS - F

(i)

NI EERBREBR(ZZ_TF: TF
TT) e

REHE QT 2 Em

AEERBE QR 2 EEFITMOT

Particulars of
issued and paid
up capital
ERTREHRE

Proportion of
ownership interest
BEERLH
2020

Capital contribution -
US$25,000,000
B

25,000,000 7T

FRM Film InvestCo LICR—ZE=—F= A=+ A%
H,
B o

HE-_ZT-TFE+-_A=+—HILFE  E¥S
PNEVEERHZIEERY  ALEREHBEERN
AIRFRZRBEESETHAE - RZE_ZF
+ZA=+—8 BARAEEFRENEEQRE
BEBBEMEEZ  AEENIEEESRHEE
EFAETAEIINGE B AEBALERZE
BALETE TN BEREREERE -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the

18. RMBARZRE

Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated

structured entities.

Name of company

DRER

Fantastic Television
Limited ("FTL")**

TYERFRAAE
([FYER])

HK Open TV Company Limited**

BEEMERARDA

Hong Kong Cable News Express
Limited
BRRSNEREBRAA

Hong Kong Cable Television
Limited ("HKC")

BERRRERARAR
(IBHRER])

Hong Kong International
Business Channel Limited
("HKIBCL")**

Hong Kong International
Business Channel Limited
(THKIBCL)) **

Place of
incorporation/
operation

AL,
gemn

Hong Kong

B0

Hong Kong

B0

Hong Kong

B0

Hong Kong

BB

Hong Kong

BB

Principal activities

TEEH

Free television broadcasting

REELREE

Advertising services and
programme production
and acquisition

B AR A B B B BHE R
R

Advertising services

R & R

Television and broadband
internet access

BERRFEALRRS

Advertising services and
programme production
and acquisition

JE 25 R A B B B BHE R
R

BIEEREHE -

Particular of issued
capital all fully paid

ERTREHARRE

HK$10,000 divided into
9,999 ordinary shares and

1 non-voting preference share

10,0008 L9 A&
9,999 A & A% Ko
1IRERERELR

HKS1 divided into
1 ordinary share

1BTD BT RR

HK$20 divided into
2 ordinary shares
208N B2REER

HK$750,000,000
divided into 750,000,000
ordinary shares
750,000000 8705 &
750,000,000 & 3@ A%

HKS1 divided into
1 ordinary share

BTSRRI RE R

(@) TREHEALAIBMBARKEAHLE

Proportion of
ownership

BERERLA

Directly
B

14.9%

Indirectly
CiE:3

14.9%

100%

100%

14.9%
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

18. RMB AT Z2&RE ()
(@) THEEHRAALATATIESHBATIREL L
BHEEE - ()

Place of
incorporation/ Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
AL
NCIECE Ry TEEH ERTR2EBERE BRERLH
Directly Indirectly
E#E &
Hong Kong OTT Company Hong Kong Content provision and HKS1 divided into - 100%
Limited programme production 1 ordinary share
Hong Kong OTT Company N5 WA K& B B 1BLD B REER
Limited
i-CABLE Entertainment Limited ~ Hong Kong Programme production HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
and channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
BERRREBRAF BB HERERAEEE 10,000,000 875 &
10,000,000 & & 8 A%
i-CABLE Finance Media Limited ~ Hong Kong Content provision, HKS1 divided into - 100%
programme production 1 ordinary share
and channel operation
AR EREARAR BE AR - B A RERSRE 1BTH R IRE RR
i-CABLE Network Limited Hong Kong Network operation HKS$102 divided into - 100%
100 ordinary shares and
2 non-voting deferred shares
ERRBREERAR BB BmeE 102787T5 A 100K EBAR R
R ERRERTR
i-CABLE Network Operations Hong Kong Network operation HK$500,000 divided into - 100%
Limited 500,000 ordinary shares
-CABLE Network Operations BE HiEEE 500,000 87TD A

Limited

500,000 A% 178 %
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated

18. RMB AT 2&RE ()
(@) TEEHREALATATIESHBATIREL L
BHEEE - ()

structured entities. (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
AL
DRER RE T TEXK ERTR2EBERE BRERLH
Directly Indirectly
E#E CiF:3
i-CABLE News Limited Hong Kong Programme production HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
and channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
BRARMEARAF BB R SHEREBRE 10,000,000 875 &
10,000,000 A& & 8 %
i-CABLE Sports Limited Hong Kong Programme production HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
and channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
BEERERARAA BB HERERAEEE 10,000,000 875 &
10,000,000 & & 8 A%
i-CABLE Telecom Limited Hong Kong Mobile service, mobile HKS1 divided into - 100%
agency service and 1 ordinary share
telephony
BRRATHARAR BE RBBARS  RBHER 1BTH R IRE RR
RERBREEFEH
i-CAN Digital Solutions Limited ~ Hong Kong Technology services HKS1 divided into - 100%
1 ordinary share
-CAN Digital Solutions Limited &7 AT AR VBT R REBR
i-DATA Company Limited Hong Kong Technology services HKS1 divided into - 100%
1 ordinary share
-DATA Company Limited o T AR VBT A R BR
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 18. AMBARZRE (#)
(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the (a) TREHAXRQRFATEMB AR LGS L
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated BMEEE - (&)

structured entities. (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
AL
NCIECE Ry TEEH ERTR2EBERE BRERLH
Directly Indirectly
E#E &
International Distribution Hong Kong Programme licensing and HKS2 divided into - 14.9%
Limited (‘IDL")** distribution 2 ordinary shares
ERBERBRTAERAR 05 RS PNV 2B B2 RE B
([EBEBET])
Sundream Motion Pictures Hong Kong Film production, distribution  HK$300,000,000 divided into - 14.9%
Limited (“SMPL")** and licensing 300,000,000 ordinary shares
BHEFARAA BB BYLE - DHERISE 300,000,000 &5 &
(BB )= 300,000,000 A% & i AR
The Force Production Company ~ Hong Kong Content provision and HKS1 divided into - 100%
Limited programme production 1 ordinary share
ROEERR AR &R N RE B VBT RS BR
BN T E S AR 75 The People’s Technical services HK$34,600,000 - 100%
BRAR* Republic
of China
BN R i AR5 REAR RATAR 34,600,000 7T

ARAE* HAE
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

*

*%

This entity is registered as a wholly foreign owned enterprise under
the People’s Republic of China law and is not audited by PwC.

The Company holds 1 non-voting preference share and 1,489 class
“A" ordinary shares of FTL, which wholly owns the equity interests
in IDL, SMPL, HK Open TV Company Limited and HKIBCL, while the
remaining 4,255 class “B" ordinary shares of FTL and 4,255 class
“C" ordinary shares of FTL are held by two independent trustees
respectively. The entities are consolidated by the Group in
accordance with HKFRSs and the principal accounting policies
adopted by the Group as disclosed in Note 3, as the Group is
exposed to and has the rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the entities and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity, including, but not limited
to: (i) the Company’s nominated directors to the board of FTL
pursuant to the right attached to the class “A " ordinary shares of
FTL held by the Company provided in the articles of association of
FTL, (i) the requirement of the presence of the Company as a
quorum in any general meeting of FTL, and (iii) veto rights over
certain matters attached to class “A" ordinary shares requiring the
prior approval of all holders thereof of FTL such as, the modification
of any of the rights attached to any of the shares of FTL, alteration
to the articles of association of FTL and the nature of the business
of FTL, commencement of new business or activity by FTL, or
making of any capital commitment by FTL. The Company, being
the only preference shareholder, is entitled to receive the first HKS 1
billion profits generated in any financial year and the ordinary
shareholders of FTL shall be entitled to receive any surplus
dividends exceeding such amount of the same financial year on a
pro rata basis. For the year ended 31 December 2021, no non-
controlling interests is recognised as distributable profits of FTL did
not surpass the threshold for the other shareholders.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries or consolidated
structured entities had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year or during the year.

The above table lists the Company’s subsidiaries and
consolidated structured entities which, in the opinion of
the Directors, principally affected the results of the year or
formed a material portion of assets or liabilities of the
Group.

18. RHIB AR Z&E (@)

(@) TREHEARRNEIEMBLRIRGAHL
BIEEREHE - (8)

* F R BRI EA RATIBEZE LM BB
B WHFHELRAEFK

* KRAVFE 1 IRERZEEFLRR 1489RFYE
R(AZEHBEEERET BEERY &5
FERBR 25K HKIBCL) B[ AR - HEr4a255
AT B BB J 42558 Zr ) BRI CJ
R A 7 B A5 7EA 73 BB o zalt i 3 BT
W ZEEREANEBIRIE( BB EREE
A ) R 2K 5 B AT IR AN F B & TR TIARS « U
T3 R B A 152 5% B RS T R IE AT 1 3R
BB =B A E EIRE T - WiBBRZE R
BN MBRENFEZZER - 615 (BTER)
() FY EREZRMAIANGTE - ARAIIRIER IS
WY ER [A] BB L BRI ZEFIEEEFE
FYEREFD ; () AR Al E Y ERFAR
FAEWERBLEEABBEE  Rii)FEZHE
HEANFELMAENTY ER [A] FE BRI LE
EFEENDRE - WHERAT ] 51 BRI
RET AT - (XY ERERMAIRGTYE
REBHE  FYERFEFTEFX ZEHZ
YWERIEL T E L FIE o KL A (ERME—EE
R+ 1WA (0] B B FE A E AR B
1,000,000,000% 7T FI| B + i1 75 ¥ B2 69 AR AR
G EREIZ L Bl R [ — BB F B 1 3% % FE R
(FAIZEIRE - AR FY BRI S IFIEREE
CE AT+ HIEFEATEBEE
AR R ATER 9P - BIUE N5 ER A iR IR

o>

RERKEFER - ARBHMME QTR
ERUETEMERTTMERRES

FERA - FRIROARAMBRAAR
GARBMERNEREFATEYES
BRASBAERRENEEHS -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 18. RMIB AT Z2KRE (@)

(b) Disposal of a subsidiary (b) HEMHBA ST
HE-_E-FTF+_A=+—BIFE -
AEBHEER — MR EBHFR R
BEREZHE AR Z 2 5B -

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
disposed of its entire equity interests in a subsidiary which
was engaged in publication and provision of advertising
services on magazine.

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHEIT
Other intangible assets (Note 16) Hibmp & E (f:F16) 155
Deposits b 51
Bank balances RITEE R 51
Accruals FERTRERX (124)
Net assets disposed of FTHENEERE 133
Consideration received BURE 150
Carrying amount of net assets disposed of FTHEmMEEFEZEAE (133)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 8)  HEMB AT Z2WHE (Hit8) 17
Analysis of the net inflow of cash and REEHNBATRZRER
cash equivalents in respect of REEBEYRAFEZIH:
the disposal of a subsidiary:
Consideration received BURE 150
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHERe MRTTES (51)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HEKBATNRER
on disposal of a subsidiary REEBYZRAFE 99
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19. INVENTORIES 19. 7&
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHBxT T
Spare parts and consumables for repair and HEEBEREENTHER
maintenance SHRES 6,863 9,980
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 20. EWEXRRRENEE
ASSETS
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET THTT
Trade receivables JEUR & HE AR TR 98,806 98,535
Less: loss allowance (Note 20(b)) B BB EAE (AR 20)) (17,328) (21,236)
81,478 77,299
Contract assets BREE 26,553 35,000
108,031 112,299
(@  An ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of loss @ BREEEREROIREBERER) CRKiL
allowance), based on the invoice date is set out as follows: BEASWMHEHNT
2021 2020
—E-—F T TF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHBxT T
0to 30 days 0% 30H 42,313 48,201
31 to 60 days 312 60H 12,963 12,085
61 to 90 days 61290 H 9,639 7,773
Over 90 days R0 H 16,563 9,240
81,478 77,299

The Group's credit policy is set out in Note 5(a). REBZIEEBRENIHESQ) ©
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 20. BREXERRRENEE@®

ASSETS (Continued)

(b)  Loss allowance in respect of trade receivables are recorded b) BREEBWREEERERZEEBBEIENEE
using an allowance account unless the Group s satisfied R BRTAEERABUEZAZEER
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the K- BleitZzBEREE R R RERSE
loss allowance is written off against trade receivables BEFK (RFFE3()0)) °

directly (see Note 3(p)(i)).

The movement in the loss allowance during the year, is as FNEBEE 2 B NT
follows:

2021 2020

—E-—F —ECERF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

Balance at beginning of the year F)eRER 21,236 20,588
(Reversal of loss allowance)/net loss JRUNE Z RN v (B 1E R

allowance on the trade receivables BE) S EEREFE (3,930) 1,859

Written off paskic! - (1.211)

Reversal of written off paskiEc = 22 -

Balance at end of the year FRERRE 17,328 21,236
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 20. BREXBERRENEE®

ASSETS (Continued)

(©)  The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to © AEBERAEEVHHREER)B IR
measure ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss I ETEHEREXL AR EER
allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the ECL, REREZHERBELEE - ArTE2EHE
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared ik EWLERFTEEAREARR
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The He ko AEDE BRI ERIA
expected loss rates are based on the historical loss rates as FEELLERABEE ZHRP AU KR
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking FREEZFEERKRFIBENINEEEEL
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the FERZEM E R AT E R o

ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

Weighted
average
lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime Net
credit carrying expected carrying
loss rate amount credit loss amount
HREF35
2HES AL
ERBKRLXE IREAE ERBX RREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FAET
At 31 December 2021 R-ZBE-—#&
+t=ZA=+-H
Not yet due KiEHER 0% 33,029 (62) 32,967
1to 30 days past due BmE1E30R 0% 18,606 (87) 18,519
31 to 60 days past due #MHEI3 I =60 H 1% 10,949 (96) 10,853
61 to 90 days past due w61 =90 H 2% 6,967 (148) 6,819
Over 90 days past due BMEIZ 90 A 58% 29,255 (16,935) 12,320
98,806 (17,328) 81,478
At 31 December 2020 RZZT=TF
+-A=+—H
Not yet due REH 0% 38,832 (115) 38,717
110 30 days past due #H1E30A 2% 16,767 (368) 16,399
31 to 60 days past due B E60A 3% 11,062 (386) 10,676
61 to 90 days past due #Hl61 £90H 7% 4,390 (315) 4,075
Over 90 days past due i Egieil= 73% 27,484 (20,052) 7,432
98,535 (21,236) 77,299
(d)  The lifetime expected loss allowance for contract assets is d) AYEENZHFEHEARBLRITAAEK -

not material.
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIRVALUETHROUGH  21.

BARBESARSZENEMEE

PROFIT OR LOSS
(@) Classification of financial assets at FVTPL (a) BAAEBEFAEENERMEE
s
Financial assets measured at FVTPL include the following: BARBAEFAEBESNEREEBENT
S
2021 2020
—EB—F T -TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBT FETT
Current asset REEE
— Listed debt securities — FhEBES 8,731 -
— Redemption option of — REATBRRKRES 2
long-term convertible bonds fE o 12 87,005 -
95,736 -

(b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, the following items were recognised in
profit or loss:

(b) REBHBR 2L
FRT IR SR BRPHER -

2021 2020
—F--F —E-FTHF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTERT FAT
Net fair value gains on financial assets BARBEFABRD
at FVTPL TREEZ AABERGEFE 1,602 -
Loss on redemption of financial assets BRZAREETABEN
at FVTPL TREEZEE (70) -
Gain on disposal of financial assets HEZRAREBETAEEN
at FVTPL TRVEE W - 293

(c) Risk exposure and fair value
measurements

Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk is
provided in Note 5(e). For information about the methods
and assumptions used in determining fair value refer to
Note 5(q).

() FrEHERKAAEETE

75 18 7 S 5 T D S0 4 L ) 2 U B
@ AMET AR BEZTERAAR

BRI S
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22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 22. RERBITHEER
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: RERBSEEWEIE
2021 2020
—= _—ﬂi — = 7?@5
HK$'000 HKS1000
FET FHETT
Bank deposits and cash in the consolidated HREVBRRARZBITER R
statement of financial position Be 80,712 167,973
Less: restricted bank balances* W ZREIRITAE R (10,550) (10,550)
Cash and cash equivalents in the SEBESRERZIRE MRS
consolidated statement of cash flows EEY 70,162 157,423
* The restricted bank balances represent deposits made by the Group to secure * DRFRITHESIEREB W2 EUBAEENETF
certain banking facilities granted to the Group. RITHEHEHIEIR -
23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. ENEXEREFREMENT
2021 2020
—E-—F T FTF
HK$’000 HKS1000
FET FHATT
Trade payables FE & ERN 57,613 69,126
Accrued expenses TEIRE A 213,988 214,932
Other payables HAh R 39,184 31,387
Contract liabilities (receipts in advance) AHAaEFERER) 72,531 82,443
Customers’ deposits BPES 42,682 49,622
425,998 447,510
As at 31 December 2021, contract liabilities of approximately RZBEZ—F+ZA=+T—H 6HBEYD
HK$72,531,000 (2020: HK$82,443,000) will be recognised as 72,531,000% (=TT : 824430005 7T ) I
revenue in the next reporting period. Revenue recognised RT—HREHEERRRA BHE_ZT-_—F
during the year ended 31 December 2021 that was included in TZA=T—HILFE - a‘l’)\ﬁﬂ%ﬂA%’]Eﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the period B RERU A #)824430008 T (Z T =FTF ¢
amounted to approximately HK$82,443,000 (2020: 84,568,000/ 7T) °

HK$84,568,000).



ERERENERAT —F=—55% PR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBGERME

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date
is set out as follows:

24,

. BNERERRREBEARK @

A& RN Z BRER IR B R AN ELT -

2021 2020

=F--F —F-FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT THT

0to 30 days 0&30H 8,694 7,209
31 to 60 days 312 60H 10,266 16,605
61 to 90 days 61290H 8,633 6,697
Over 90 days #HiEoo H 30,020 38,6015
57,613 69,126

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

(@)  The analysis of the carrying amount of interest-bearing

borrowings is as follows:

24,

(@ HEEFNEREHEZATMAT

2021
—E_—F

HK$’000
FTExT

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
T

T FERHIREIER

Within 1 year or on demand

Bank loan RITER 295,000 295,000
(b)  The carrying amount of interest-bearing borrowings b)) RZFEZ—F+ZA=+—8" BT
denominated in Hong Kong dollar as at 31 December B/ BB 5 H BRE 18 4 295,000,000 7 7T
2021 was HK$295,000,000 (2020: HK$295,000,000), which (ZZ =T : 2950000007 7T) * ALK

is unsecured, carries interest at variable rates and RIRZEBF KR8 - WERERKEE -

repayable on demand.
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 25. ATRARES
(a) The2019LCS (a) —E-—NFRETRRES
On 25 January 2019, the Company entered into the RZE—NF—AZ+THH  KNAFHEK

unlisted long-term convertible securities subscription
agreement with Forever Top, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever
Top has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the unlisted
long-term convertible bonds (the “2019 LCS"). On 4 June
2019, the issuance of the 2019 LCS with the principal
amount of HK$568,000,000 to Forever Top was completed.
The 2019 LCS would be convertible into 4,544,000,000
new Shares upon full conversion of the 2019 LCS based on
the initial conversion price of HK$0.125 per conversion
share. The initial conversion price represents a premium of
approximately 8.7% over the closing price of HK$S0.115 per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 25 January
2019, being the date on which the terms of the 2019 LCS
were fixed. The coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per
annum and payable quarterly. The 2019 LCS is convertible
into ordinary Shares at any time during the period from
the date of the issue of the 2019 LCS up to the close of
business on the maturity date, subject to the conversion
restrictions. The maturity date of the 2019 LCS is the end
of the tenth year from date of the issue of the 2019 LCS
and all of the remaining outstanding 2019 LCS will be
redeemed by the Company at 100% of the outstanding
principal amount of the 2019 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon.

On the date of issuance of the 2019 LCS, the fair value of
liability component of approximately HK$343,719,000 was
recognised and the fair value of approximately
HK$224,281,000, representing equity element, was
recognised and presented in equity heading “equity
component of convertible bonds” at initial recognition.
The effective interest rate of the liability component was
7.69% per annum. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying
amount of liability component of the 2019 LCS is
approximately HK$386,387,000 (2020: HK$368,881,000).

The relevant fair value measurement was carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

FEIMIFEEMEHIBBRESRE R
Bt ARREBRHERERTMKALD
BRHREREIE TR BRES( =
T-NFRHABRBRES] RZZE—N
FXRXAWH  BKAKAETACEE
568,000,000 8 7L B = F — N F K Bf AT % 35
% o IR E VIR KRB KRR 7H 0125
BLEEA B T NFRHATHRRES
% —E-NERPUBRREBELHEANLBRA
4,544,000,000 f% ¥ i (7 © ¥R HIRE &N =
T-hAF-A-+tHBE(EE-Z—NFE
HART IR B S G E B ) B R ATAT SR IR T (B
FRONSETHELNS TN —T—NEFER
AR EAZEERATF 2% AT
EXMA e ERBBRHBRRT  —E—NF
EHBRELFTE T NERHTHR
RELFHTHHEERH AL LML
M BERLRATEKR - —_T—NFE
BB EAZIEA AT —LFRH
BB ESFETAHBEAE T FARE
%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ*ﬁﬁ_E*AEE%T%k
BEBHRARRIEZ T hLERFATERK
%%*Eﬁ$ﬁﬁm% A H A 2 &5t
BRIMNZFEEM -

NEIT T NFREARRESBE
%B%7%m%mm&hﬁm%ﬁ@ﬁgﬁ

SRR M #4224281,0008 T A it BE
(ﬂ%*ﬁidaﬁﬁw I 7 1) A FE 50 s
R ESERSENRE D ] 25 5
o BEMAKIOHNERFEFREAE769% o
WZZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H ZF—h
FREAAMMREFNAES S NEDELY

386,387,000/%8 7T ( — & — Z F : 368,881,000
EIT) °

I % 42 R A A
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
(b) The 2021 LCS

25. AR ES (&)
(b) —E=-—FEREPERKRIS

On 27 January 2021, the Company entered into the
unlisted long-term convertible securities subscription
agreement with Forever Top, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever
Top has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the 2021
LCS. On 31 March 2021, the issuance of the 2021 LCS with
the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 with a maturity of
10 years by the Company to Forever Top was completed.
The 2021 LCS would be convertible into 2,941,176,470
new Shares upon full conversion of the 2021 LCS based on
the initial conversion price of HK$0.068 per conversion
share and the coupon rate of the 2021 LCS is 2.0% per
annum and payable quarterly. The Company may at any
time on or after the date of issue of the 2021 LCS by giving
not less than 10 business days' written notice to the
holder(s) of the 2021 LCS to redeem all or part of the 2021
LCS at the outstanding principal amount of the 2021 LCS
together with all accrued but unpaid interest.

On the date of issuance of the 2021 LCS, the fair value of
liability component of approximately HK$131,806,000 was
recognised, the fair value of approximately
HKS$144,610,000, representing equity element, was
recognised and presented in equity heading “equity
component of convertible bonds” and the fair value of the
redemption option of approximately HK$78,061,000 was
recognised as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss at initial recognition. The effective interest rate of the
liability component was 6.88% per annum. As at 31
December 2021, the carrying amount of liability
component and redemption option of the 2021 LCS is
approximately HK$135,542,000 (2020: Nil) and
approximately HK$87,005,000 (2020: Nil) respectively.

The relevant fair value measurement was carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

MW-ZZT-——F—A=-++H AAREX
FAERTZIEEMRBIBRESREGH
Bt ARBBEGRERITMKAFE
HRERE T —FERHTHRKRES -
RZEB-_—F=A=+—H ' AR7E5%
PR [R) 5K FH 8877 7K £ 8 /5 200,000,000 7% 70 B
HAIVF 2T —FRHATMBRRES -
B IE 8 5 E S IR H R A% 1) 0.068 78 7T
BEA BT —FREBRBESE
TE - FREPVBRBRESFATLBRA
29411764708 ¥l fn - B = —F KH
ARRESZEER Kﬁtinm WEE
EX M ARBIARBEITZE_—F R
T%kﬁ%“E&Zéﬁﬂh_;: F
REAIMBRESFEAZE TR 10EE
%Emiﬁkﬂ BT - —FRHnH
BELFNAREERASTERZIE 251
%ﬁﬂ%%@%%ﬁ%ﬁ:v:—iﬁﬁ
AR RS 7 5

RET_E_—FRPATBKESFBS -
#7131,806,000 8 T BB D A AEE
BERR - MH414461000078 7T A 1t BE
(AERZH)CERR  WHVIIAERE
R IAaRESNESANE D | 27 5#
= BRI A R EE X 78,061,000
BLERRBR AR BEMABREIEN
CRHMEE - BEXINERFNEXRA
688%c R—_FE-_—F+_-_A=+—H"
T —FRPTHRBRESFHEERD X k
5] 3% 22 4 &Y BR T 1B 9 Bl 49 135,542,000 7 7T
ZEFF ) K#87,0050008 L (=
TFFHE) o

HEAREEFEREAKEHERED
B ABRBEEMERMETT -
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26. X - RBERKRE
(@) Movements in components of equity (a) REZKDEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing AEBENGEAESKMDNFY M FRES
balances of each component of the Group's consolidated ZHEEP IR EEAEEEEER - AT
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes RESK DR EVIRFENEBFBOT ¢

in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

Capital and Reserves
EARRRE
Equity
component of
Accumulated  Share option convertible Total

Share capital losses reserve bonds equity
TRRES
Company B ZiFE  BRERG il agn
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000
TAL TR TRER TR TAT

Balanceat1January2020 R-Z-FE-F-HzEiH 7,928,975 (6,665,683) 18,881 224,281 1506454

Changesinequityfor2020: —B-BEMNEREH:
Loss and total comprehensive ~ EREE R 2 AN EAE
income for the year - (322,043) - - (322,043)

Transfer of reserve upon lapse BB A M E R B
of share option - 1413 (1413) - -

Balance at 31 December2020 R=ZE-ZF+-A=+-AK
and 1 January 2021 —B--F-A-Ruk 7928975  (6986313) 17,468 24281 1,184,411

Changesin equity for2021: —Z-—-FHEXEE
Loss and total comprehensive  FREER 2 AMREEE

income for the year - (343,076) - - (343,076)
Issue of convertible bonds BITARES - - - 145,809 145,809
Transactions costsincurred in -+ R ERELNRZ FHMA

respect of convertible bonds - - - (1,199 (1,199

Balance at 31 December 2021 R=ZE=—-fF+=-F=+-H
iR 7,928,975 (7,329,389) 17,468 368,891 985,945
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)
(b) Dividends

The board of the Directors (the “Board”) does not
recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HKSNil).

(c) Share capital
(i) Issued share capital

26. EX - FRERKRE @

(b) BB
Exg((Egsg ) rEasaz2—_S——
FrZA=Z+T—RALEFEREEABRE (=

ZoRF T -

() B
(i) BBITERAE

2021 2020
—B-—F —T-TF
Number of Number of
shares HK$’000 shares HKS$'000
RHEE FET P8 TAET
Ordinary shares, issued BERITRABRZ
and fully paid: TR
At 1 January n—A—H 7,134,623,520 7,928,975 7,134,623,520 7,928,975
At 31 December BN+ A=+—8H 7,134,623,520 7,928,975 7,134,623,520 7,928,975

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the
Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares of the Company are
entitled to receive dividends as declared from time
to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
shareholders’ meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares of the Company rank equally with regard to
the Company's residual assets.

REEBCRTHEDI) EF1350& XA
A A R A o

ARREBERBEALGZEREAR
ATRAERREMABRAS L&
B — RN - 2EA R B E B
RARANHBEE L RTFE
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)

(i)

Share option scheme

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the
Company on 24 May 2018 which will be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the date of
adoption.

On 15 June 2018, Share Options carrying the rights
to subscribe for a total of 279,200,000 Shares were
granted to certain eligible persons under the Share
Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.210 per
Share.

The fair value of the Share Options granted at the
date of grant, 15 June 2018, was estimated at
approximately HK$20,771,000. The fair value is
determined by Binomial model using inputs,
including share price of HK$0.15 per Share, exercise
price of HK$0.21 per Share, volatility of 66%, risk-free
rate of 2.25% and dividend yield of 0%.

As a result of the Rights Issue (as defined thereafter),
the number of Shares issuable and the exercise
price per Share payable upon exercise of the
outstanding Share Options granted under the Share
Option Scheme were adjusted from 279,200,000 to
287,240,960 and from HK$0.210 to HKS$0.204
respectively.

No Share Option was exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. No Share
Options carrying the rights to subscribe Shares were
lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: 19,547,200 Shares). As at 31 December 2021,
there were outstanding exercisable Share Options
carrying the rights to subscribe 241,562,240 Shares
(2020: 241,562,240 Shares).

26. B - RERERE @

BR A< (@)

(ii)

BRETE
ARBR-Z—N\FRAA-_+HBEK
MBRRERT R At BB R B S
FEFT10FRRABRL

R=ZZ—N\FRAT+ER  REER
AR WA BEANRE S K
279,200,000 B& B 17 = BE IR E IR 1T{E
EBERKRHD 02108 TR THETAER
At

REHBH -_ZE—N\FAA+HER
ﬁZﬁh%ﬂﬁﬁﬁEﬁ%mﬁmm
UL AN EETEB ZIFANERE
g AU (BIERESRIRGD 01558
TC > TEEERRD 21T« KE
b2 66% - #8 [LFg ) 2 2.25% K v B 2
0%) EEJE °

HAERBK(EER T @ TFERER
PRAEET IR DA MR TE BB AR 1R ]
FETHRMDBEE REMNETRITEE
o Bl H2792000000% # B =
287,240,960 % + A 02108 AR E
02048 7T °

HE-_Z-—FR-_ZFE-_FF+=A
=+—HLFE SEBERECET
F-HE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—8H
IEFE - BENSEFNRERS (=
T T 119,547,200 i A% 17 ) B BE AR
BEAB - RZ_ZE=-—F+=A8
=+—H8  BHERITEZA FITER
HESREF A8 241,562,240 RPN (—F =
T 1 241,562,240 JRAK1D ) EOBEARAE -
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)

(iii)

Rights issue

On 25 January 2019, the Company announced a
fund raising proposal comprising a rights issue on
the basis of three (3) new ordinary Shares of the
Company (the “Rights Shares”) for every four (4)
existing Shares then held at the subscription price
of HKS$0.1 per Rights Share (the "Rights Issue”). On 4
June 2019, the Company completed the Rights
Issue of 928,603,364 Shares for gross proceeds of
approximately HK$92,860,000 (net proceeds of
approximately HK$84,503,000).

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve is non-distributable. In 2004, the
issued share capital of a subsidiary under the Group
was reduced (“Capital Reduction”) and the credit
arising from the Capital Reduction was applied to
eliminate the accumulated losses standing in the
statement of profit or loss of that subsidiary as at 30
September 2004. An undertaking was given to the
Court by the subsidiary in connection with the
Capital Reduction (the “Undertaking”). Pursuant to
the Undertaking, any future recoveries or reversals
of provisions and depreciation made by the
subsidiary in respect of certain assets (“relevant
assets”) held by the subsidiary as at 30 September
2004 to the extent that such recoveries exceed the
written down amounts of the relevant assets, up to
an aggregate amount of HK$1,958,524,266 (the
“Limit"), will be credited to a capital reserve. While
any debt or liability of, or claim against, the
subsidiary at the date of the Capital Reduction
remains outstanding and the person entitled to the
benefit thereof has not agreed, the capital reserve
shall not be treated as realised profits.

26. EXX - RERERE @

(c)
(iii)

BR A< ()

%
R-ZE—hhF—A-+HH XA F
EMEEEE BREEEARERS
BHNGORIBERMDERE =Q)BRA
NEFTE B ([EARRD ) AR -
REBERSTRERR S 0B T ([ #
) e R=ZT—AFENANB » AR
A) 58 A B 17 928,603,364 B I& 10 2
f% + FT 1S 5K TE 48 58 4992,860,000 7 T
(FT{S 3RTEFEA4) 84,503,000/8 7T ) °

d) REEZUEERBEH

(i)

=N
BERBREBEDTAHRDIK - RZZ2ZTWM
FAEBET-WBARRBED
BITRA(ERFF]D - BRI E
HIREREZNB AR ZEZN
FRAZtTHEBZERANNEE
B ZMBERARIERERNFIF—FM
VEBT VR H R ([FE ) o 1R BRARIE -
A BERKKERESERITES R
ZWBARR_EZEWNFNA=1H
BEMNETEEZ2RE(HEEZE
E) - E BB EELHRE 2
BREE + 7B DA% 501,958,524,266 78
TC([REE D) B 2T 8N RERT A B AR E
Ao BZMBRARINKREERERR
BAZER  AEIRE RREA
REREBEMERLRBESSENRE
A - B E AR E TR IED 2R A
e

S5
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(e)

(i)

(ii)

Capital reserve (Continued)

The Limit may be reduced by the amount of any
increase in the issued share capital of the subsidiary
or upon a capitalisation of distributable reserves.
The Limit may also be reduced after the disposal or
other realisation of the relevant assets by the
amount of the charge to provision or depreciation
made in relation to such asset as at 30 September
2004 less reversal as a result of such disposal or
realisation. In the event that the amount standing to
the credit of the capital reserve exceeds the Limit,
the subsidiary shall be at liberty to transfer the
amount of any such excess to the general reserves
of the subsidiary, which shall become available for
distribution. As at 31 December 2021, the Limit of
the capital reserve, as reduced by HK$2,078,387
(2020: HK$3,629,041) related to recoveries and
reversals of provisions of the relevant assets, was
HK$756,073,466 (2020: HK$758,151,853), and the
amount standing to the credit of the capital reserve
was HK$ 13,984,483 (2020: HK$13,984,483).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 3(n).

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of reserves
of the Company available for distribution to equity

shareholders of the Company, as calculated under the
provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, was HKSNil (2020: HKSNil).

26. B - RERERE @

d) REEZEERBN®E

(e)

(i)

(ii)

ENEYEIE )

FREA ] IR M B A B B B TR A (A
AN SRR AT R R B TR B AN
R o BRERJN A gk B ok B IR A
BEmMRLY  BLNSERZEER
—EENFNLA=ZTHEFHRZEBE
FTERERLERBREEZS
Fo B AEARELSHEBLR
BB ARBRGHBE N EHEE
BEH-—MREBASKRE - B =

——F+ZRA=+—8 BEAREHZ
FREN IR E E 2 B & ED
BB R 2078387 BT (ZE T
F 3629041/§7z>:t756o73466/a7n
T T 7581518538 T )

ﬁkﬁ$ﬁ%2$ﬁﬁﬁw%mwﬁ
TL( T4 1398448378 7T) ©

SNEREE
SNEE (R (8 B R P B R BB SN R B
BRRELZINEN BERE - ILIHE

EARBIIE R 3 B E R R E
I2 o
Al it 5k & 8
R-OB-—F+-A=+—8 REHA
ARG 2 B WO MMEFE - ARRA
HEARTFARAESBRE FHBBEELAT
BT(CE-TE BT o
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27. FREMBMRRRAZAEBIE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated (a) ZFEMEBERARAZERHRES
statement of financial position represents: T
2021 2020
=B--F 2 FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
The People’s Republic of China taxation EE AR AFERIE 81 68
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities (b) EEANELEHREEEREE !
recognised:
The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) FRARANEBLRE M BRI RERNEL
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial RIBAG (EE)WMERI» REZEH0
position of the Group and the movements during the year N

are as follows:

Depreciation
allowances in
excess of
therelated
depreciation Tax losses
BHERSTRE
Deferred tax arising from B IE AR ZHERHE BEEE k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THT
At 1 January 2020 R-E-TF—H—H 54,741 (355,266) (300,525)
(Credited)/charged to the WA BERT GHA)/
consolidated statement of % (B2 9@)
profit or loss (Note 9(a)) (4,747) 4,747 _
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZE+_A=1+—H 49,994 (350,519) (300,525)
At 1 January 2021 W-Z-—%-F—H 49,994 (350,519) (300,525)
(Credited)/charged to the PR BERRF GHA)/
consolidated statement of ks (K171 90a))
profit or loss (Note 9(a)) (3,125) 14,149 11,024

At 31 December 2021 R-B--F+-A=+-H 46,869 (336,370) (289,501)
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised: (Continued)

()

27. ZEMBEMRRERAZAEHIE @)

(b) EEINELEHREERER:

(%)

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ZETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RGBT IR R ER 2
consolidated statement of financial position ~ ¥EIEFI T8 & &SR E (289,501) (300,525)
Deferred tax assets not recognised: () HARBAMWELEREEE :

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of unused tax losses amounting to approximately
HK$4,604,097,000 (2020: HK$4,275,651,000) and deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$23,447,000
(2020: HK$21,691,000) due to the uncertainty in utilising
the unused tax losses in the relevant entities. These
unused tax losses have no expiry date.

75 B0 AR B AR5 B B 5 18 494,604,097,000
BIT(ZZT =T 1 4275651,0008 70) K A
F0 050 B 1 = BR 49 23,447,000 L (ZZF =
T4 1 21,691,0008 7T ) RELERIEE E -
REAFAEBEBNRTATBEES
ETHEENE - ZERFERABRKEBELES
HIE o
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28. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 28 RIEEBTEAEEEZHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is RMEEHMEABEZHERNAT
as follows:

Interest-
Convertible bearing
bonds Leases  borrowings Total
AR ES HE wEER fob ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT FHET FHET
At 1 January 2020 RZE-_TF—F—H 352,587 114,879 345,000 812,466
Changes from cash flows W RED
Repayment of interest-bearing EBETEER
borrowings - - (50,000) (50,000)
Principal elements of HENTAS LD
lease payments - (30,391) - (30,391)
Other changes HibEe
Interest expenses FESH 16,294 - - 16,294
Inception of leases SV HE - 25,697 - 25,697
Lease modification HEEBR - (599) - (599)
At 31 December 2020 and R-B-ZF+-A=+—-H
1 January 2021 E=—ZE=-_—-%5—-8—H 368,881 109,586 295,000 773,467
Changes from cash flows Rengd
Proceeds from issue of BITA MR ESFEHIE
convertible bonds 200,000 - - 200,000
Transaction costs upon issue of BITARMRESEHR S
convertible bonds B (1,645) - - (1,645)
Principal elements of HENRASHD
lease payments - (37,376) - (37,376)
Other changes Hh g
Interest expenses e 21,242 - - 21,242
Inception of leases FVME - 5,669 - 5,669
Equity component of AHRRES R D
convertible bonds (144,610) - - (144,610)
Inception of redemption option A RHMT R ESD
of long-term convertible bonds BELEERE 78,061 - - 78,061
Lease modification HEEET - (2,757) - (2,757)
At 31 December 2021 N-E-_—-H+=-A=+-—H 521,929 75,122 295,000 892,051
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29. COMMITMENTS 29. 7EiE
(a) Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December (@) ®» FE+-A=+—H KIEHE
2021 were as follows: H2BERFERNT
2021 2020
=B —F T TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE
— Contracted but not provided for — BETH R ARETR 5,335 1,003
Programming library #HAE
— Contracted but not provided for — BT E M RETR 16,214 10,884
21,549 11,887
(b) At 31 December 2021, the total future minimum lease b) RZTE=——F+_A=+—8 " ToJ#HH
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are KEHEBE T 2 ARRKBEENKAEREE

payable as follows:

BATHR AT

2021 2020

=B —F —ECTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

— Within 1 year — 15K 1,642 1,323
— After 1 year but within 5 years — 1 FEMESFR 182 909
1,824 2,232

The operating lease commitment as at 31 December 2021
represents the total future minimum lease payments

under non-cancellable short-term leases and
leases which are not included in lease liabilities.

low-value

N

— ¥+ A=t-BzEERE
AEESE TR REEEMEER T 2 KKK
EHREMRBBELRFAHERB ZEKE
BEEE -
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29. COMMITMENTS (Continued) 29. AME (@)
(c) Future operating lease income () BEKLEHEWRA

The total future minimum lease payments receivable in

respect of decoders under non-cancellable operating

leases are as follows:

Within 1 year

1FR

RETAHELEHENBBRERZ R
KEEBREMNRARILT

2021
—E-—F

2020
—E-EF

HK$'000
TAT

HK$’000
FTERT

3,973

2,245

(d) Funding commitment under television
broadcasting licences are as follows:

(i)

(i)

Upon acceptance of the renewal of the domestic
pay television programme service licence of HKC on
29 May 2017 for the period of 12 years from 1 June
2017 to 31 May 2029, HKC has become subject to a
commitment of a 6-year investment plan of
HK$3,447 million from 2017 to 2023, comprising
HK$251 million of capital investment and HK$3,196
million of programming investment in content
including in-house channels containing self-
produced and/or acquired programmes as well as
in acquired channels.

In accordance with the terms of the domestic free
television programme service licence issued to FTL
(the "Free TV Licence”), FTL should implement the
investment plan for the period form 31 May 2016 to
30 May 2022 amounting to approximately HK$1,176
million.

(d) EREHBERZESHEFRENT

R-E—+FERA-TNARESE
BHRERN TN BEERE B REHE
B(H-_Z—tFA—BE_-Z
“AFRAZ+—HAHNF)E
BHEERBERER_T—tFE-T
= = F A Hi 6 F R R IE 3,447,000,000 7
THREE BREEARE
251,000000%8 7t & 1 B & &
3,196,000,0007% 7T (B2 45 A & A8 (B
FAERKRSINEEE ) RINBIRE
ZRA)

BEFEHTIEVESHNAMEBER
fERGERE((RBERER]) K
HBYERERZE—ARFRA
=t+—HE-E-_—_FRA=+HEH
il B 17 & 58 491,176,000,000 7% T Hy %
AarEl -
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30. GUARANTEES

31.

As at 31 December 2021, a corporate guarantee had been
provided by the Company to a bank of HK$400,000,000 (2020:
HK$400,000,000) in respect of the facility of borrowing up to
HK$400,000,000 (2020: HK$400,000,000) to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of which HK$295,000,000 (2020:
HK$295,000,000) was utilised by the subsidiary of the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had made an arrangement
with a bank to provide a performance bond to a counterparty
amounting to approximately HK$33,830,000 (2020:
HK$33,830,000), of which approximately HK$3,830,000 (2020:
HK$3,830,000) was secured by bank deposits. The performance
bond is to guarantee in favour of the counterparty the Group's
performance in fulfilling the obligations under a contract.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the Group
entered into the following material related party transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2021:

30. R

31.

R-BE-_—F+-A=+—H A28 —H2
B BB A A FTE IR i A 8& % 400,000,000/8 7T(=
T =T © 400,000,000 78 7T) WS RE B &R —MH
SRITIRML A RIHE1R 400,000,0008 T (— T - T4 :
400,000,000 70) * AR RIWEBARE B A EF
295,000,000/ 7T( = Z ZZ4F : 295,000,000/8TT) ©

RZEBEZ—F+ZA=+—H AEHRHE—HR
TR BERE F 77 IR 4 — TH B 4918 8 £ 33,830,000
BIT(ZZF T £ :3383000087T) £F 4
3830000%%5&(::2;“§§fﬁ' 3,830,000/%8 7T ) LA SR
THERIEER - BARBEEEMYFIRELE
@h@ﬁ WIETEE -

BREALZEANEARRS
BEAEBRAHBRRA LT AREZRS

REEHIN AREBBEZE T _—F+-_A=1+—
HIEFEANG2ETIBEBREALZENEAR
5

2021 2020

—B-—F ZETF

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FHET

Finance costs paid to Forever Top BNFXAZBHEER 14,371 11,360
Hardware maintenance paid to a company ENTHESEZEEFAZRARZ

wholly owned by a director EHHEEE R 1,680 1,680
Rentals and related management fees on BENTEBEERTCYERES R

properties paid to a related company HHEEEE 963 1,467
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31. EBEA T 2HEMNEAR S @)

(Continued)

Key management personnel remuneration FTEEBEABZHE

Remuneration for key management personnel, including FEERBABZHE (BB T 10EE
amounts paid to the Company’s Directors as disclosed in Note AAREENAERTEEBEABZHMKE 2
10 and other members of key management of the Group, is as FIE)FEHNAT -

follows:

2021 2020

=B —F —ECEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Short-term employee benefits PSE =W 4,107 4,056
Post-employment benefits BERREE R 176 300

4,283 4,356
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32. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 32, A BB RE

POSITION
2021 2020
—EB-—F T T
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE R&E 17 -
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZIEE 18(a) 3,000 3,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEULH B A B BR FX 2,104,543 2,160,317
2,107,560 2,163,317
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE A BR 0 B L At JE LR 1,363 1,297
Loan to a subsidiary mHB AR ER 16,375 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit BARBEFABRNCREE
or loss 87,005 -
Restricted bank balances ZIRHIRTTAERR 3,830 3,830
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTES 27,825 84,772
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 136398 | 89899
Total assets HEE 2,243,958 2253216
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves EXRHE
Share capital A% A 26(c) 7,928,975 7,928,975
Reserves HiE 26(a) (6,943,030) (6,744,564)
985,945 1,184,411
LIABILITIES afE
Non current liability e =R
Convertible bonds Al AR (E 521,929 368,881
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32. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL  32. A BB #&AR R & (@)

POSITION (Continued)
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FATT
Current liabilities REEE
Accrued expenses and other payables TEIRE A N EMEN R 3,541 2,607
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASH BT B A RIBR 5K 732,543 697,317
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 736,084 | 699924
Totalliabilies === ®&&% | 1258013 1,068,805
Total equity and liabilities wERREE 2,243,958 2,253,216
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on BEEGN_T__F=-A=+—HRBNER
31 March 2022. N o
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
BWRAF L BRELE
Director Director

EF EF
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33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 21 January 2022, HKC (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), as the borrower, entered into a loan agreement with
the Celestial Pioneer Limited (a company holding 72.0% of the
total number of issued shares of Forever Top) as the lender,
pursuant to which, the borrower obtained an unsecured loan
with a principal amount of HK$70 million for a term of 3 years
from the date of the loan agreement, with an interest rate of
2.5% per annum.

33.

REHRESR

RZB-_—_F—A-+—H BREB(KARA
ZEMB RG] (1EAEFA) B Celestial Pioneer
Limited (358 5k F B BT (0 28 72.0% K A 7))
(EBEBERAN) I ERZE @ Bt - (EERARE
N4 8 470,000,000 B T EKIFER - BERWB
HEBHERAT AEIIF  FRIEB25% -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFMGIER

(Expressed in HKS million)
(ABEEBETHIR)

Results ]
Revenue WA 1,258 1,163 1,161 1,069 989
Operating expenses KEER (1,702) (1,652) (1,525) (1,303) (1,298)
Loss from operations K EE (444) (489) (364) (234) (309)
Interest income F B U A 1 2 5 - 1
Finance costs MEEM ©) (10) (38) 1) (46)
Non-operating income, net  3EZ & UL A SF5E 86 42 - - 2
Loss before taxation MRELRTE 1B (366) (455) (397) (275) (352)
Income tax ABFIE 3 m - m (11)
Loss for the year FABE (363) (456) (397) (276) (363)
Attributable to: FEAE -

Equity shareholders of KRR FERIRE

the Company (363) (456) (397) (276) (363)

Loss from operations KL EIE (444) (489) (364) (234) (309)
Depreciation "o Y E (1) 205 196 226 220 215
Amortisation of other Hib A &gy

intangible assets - - 2 4 4
Loss from operations before  ARFBRITE K& H Ath

depreciation and B EEEERNZ

amortisation of other 45 2 s g ()

intangible assets "« (239) (293) (136) (10) (90)
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AFMGIER

(Expressed in HKS million)
(ABEEBETHIR)

Assets and Liabilities EEREE

Non-current assets IERBEE 1,384 1,335 1,350 1,237 1,135
Current assets mENEE 681 343 529 371 351
Total assets BEE 2,065 1,678 1,879 1,608 1,486
Share capital RE 2 7,844 7,844 7,929 7,929 7,929
Reserves FEfE 6,714) (7,120) (7,289) (7,564) (7,783)

Total equity attributable to 282 BIAE S AR E

equity shareholders of FE(E R

the Company 1,130 724 640 365 146
Total liabilities HEE 935 954 1,239 1,243 1,340
Total liabilities and equity wmeERER 2,065 1,678 1,879 1,608 1,486
Notes: ez

1. The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 “Leases” from 1 January 2019 retrospectively but has 1. KEEH=F—NF—H— AREEYEREEYFHREEL)

not restated comparatives for the previous reporting period, as permitted under the Fi69 [HE ] - BIREZERIRI ST BERKEAG  WHEE
specific transitional provisions in the standard. Depreciation of right-of-use assets I F—RESHRBEHT R T ——F1+=-A=+—H
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 were R-FE_FFL A=+ —HIEFEERNEFEEENTES
approximately HK$41.0 million and HK$37.2 million, respectively. FlI#741,000,000 7T % 37,200,000 & 7T °

2 The Group presents the loss from operations before depreciation and amortisation of 2. KEBZ2I AR EREM B EEREFBCESERS A
other intangible assets, a non-HKFRS financial measure, which is a supplemental BB B HHREERY B E - RS SR ENH
information in relation to the operating performance of the Group to enable the FEK - AIEFGE TG RELBRE— TR -
stakeholders to evaluate and compare the performance across the same industry.
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